

LUND UNIVERSITY

Navigating Sustainable Shipping

Multi-scalar transition dynamics in the maritime shipping sector

Bach, Hanna

2024

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Bach, H. (2024). Navigating Sustainable Shipping: Multi-scalar transition dynamics in the maritime shipping sector. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Human Geography]. Lund University (Media-Tryck).

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Multi-scalar transition dynamics in the maritime shipping sector

HANNA BACH | DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN GEOGRAPHY | LUND UNIVERSITY



Shifting away from fossil fuels in the maritime shipping sector promises to be even more difficult than turning an oil tanker. Currently, the shipping industry contributes to around 3% of the yearly global greenhouse gas emissions and is considered as one of the most challenging industries to decarbonise in line with the Paris Agreement. Given the lack of fossil free options and limited availability of other more sustainable technologies, large energy demands of ships, and a long history of established fossil fuel actors in the industry, the shipping industry is particularly resistant to change. Anchored in the field of sustainability transitions research, this thesis explores socio-technical challenges and opportunities for replacing fossil fuels with more sustainable propulsion technologies, i.e. the technologies moving a ship forwards or backwards.

The thesis is based on three empirical studies exploring multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up influences on socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector at the global, national and community level. In addition to contributing to further empirical insights regarding socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector, this thesis makes two main conceptual contributions. First, the thesis introduces expanded conceptualisations of top-down and bottom-up transition dynamics that goes beyond the typical regime-niche distinction and assumptions regarding policy as a main driver of socio-technical change. Second, this thesis suggests a novel conceptualisation of a global regime-induced transition trajectory to enable further understanding of sustainability transitions in sectors with strong global regimes.

HANNA BACH is a PhD candidate at the Department of Human Geography and affiliated with CIRCLE Centre for Innovation Research at Lund University. Before starting her PhD, Hanna studied environmental science, human ecology and sustainability science at the University of Gothenburg and Lund University. She is also a certified Deck Officer Class VII with a degree from Kalmar Maritime Academy. Her research interests include the geography



of sustainability transitions, transition dynamics in sectors with strong global regimes, and socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector.



Faculty of Social Sciences Department of Human Geography



Multi-scalar transition dynamics in the maritime shipping sector

Hanna Bach



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Social Sciences at Lund University to be publicly defended on 17th of January at 13.15 in Världen, Department of Human Geography, Geocentrum I, Sölvegatan 10, 223 62 Lund

Faculty opponent Dr. Johan Rootzén, IVL – Swedish Environmental Research Institute Organization: Lund University

Document name: Doctoral dissertation

Author: Hanna Bach

Date of issue: December 18th 2024

Sponsoring organization: Department of Human Geography

Title and subtitle: Navigating Sustainable Shipping: multi-scalar transition dynamics in the maritime shipping sector

Abstract: Shifting away from fossil fuels in the maritime shipping sector promises to be even more difficult than turning an oil tanker. Anchored in the sustainability transitions literature, the overall aim of this thesis is to advance the current understanding of how multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up processes influence socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the global maritime shipping sector. Under this broad aim, the thesis unpacks part of the complexity associated with replacing fossil fuels with more sustainable propulsion technologies at the global, national and community level. The thesis is based on three empirical studies exploring multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up influences on socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector, a hard-to-abate sector, through document analysis, semi-structured interviews and (participant) observations. Multi-scalar top-down influences are explored in the form of international policy dynamics and the role of international and national policy in driving development and implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies. Top-down influences are further explored in relation to how sectoral conditions associated with the shipping industry's strong global regime influence the development of grassroots innovations in the maritime shipping sector. Furthermore, multi-scalar bottom-up influences are explored through examining rescaling processes related to frontrunner member-states of the International Maritime Organisation driving implementation of stricter global GHG regulation, how niche technology developments enforce a new configuration of the national regime for Norwegian coastal shipping, as well as the emergence and development of sail cargo initiatives as nomadic grassroots innovations.

The aggregated findings highlight how the strong global regime sets the prerequisites for how sociotechnical change can unfold in the maritime shipping sector, both regarding top-down as well as bottomup processes. The high degree of institutionalisation of the global regime is currently a barrier for implementation of sufficient policy to drive socio-technical change, while simultaneously setting the conditions for development and diffusion of niche technologies and grassroots innovations, making the shipping sector resistant to change. In addition to contributing to further empirical insights regarding socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector, this thesis makes two main conceptual contributions. First, the thesis introduces expanded conceptualisations of top-down and bottom-up transition dynamics that goes beyond the typical regime-niche distinction and assumptions regarding policy as a main driver of socio-technical change. Second, this thesis suggests a novel conceptualisation of a global regime-induced transition trajectory to enable further understanding of sustainability transitions in sectors with strong global regimes.

Key words: Geography of sustainability transitions, socio-technical change, multi-scalarity, top-down influences, bottom-up influences, maritime shipping industry

Language: English ISBN: 978-91-8104-285-6 (electronic) ISBN: 978-91-8104-284-9 (printed) Number of pages: 157

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2024-11-26

Multi-scalar transition dynamics in the maritime shipping sector

Hanna Bach



Coverphoto: Sail cargo ship Tres Hombres leaving Copenhagen, June 2022. In the background, a bunker barge transferring fossil ship fuel to cruise ship Azamara Pursuit. Photo by Hanna Bach.

Copyright pp 1-157 Hanna Bach

Paper 1 © Hanna Bach & Teis Hansen. Published by Elsevier B.V.

Paper 2 © Hanna Bach & Teis Hansen. Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Paper 3 © Hanna Bach, Tuukka Mäkitie, Teis Hansen & Markus Steen. Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Paper 4 © Hanna Bach. Published by Elsevier B.V.

Faculty of Social Sciences

Department of Human Geography

ISBN 978-91-8104-285-6 (electronic) ISBN 978-91-8104-284-9 (printed)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

The pessimist complains about the wind, the optimist expects it to change, the realist adjusts the sails. – William Arthur Ward

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	11
Popular science summary	13
List of Papers	15
List of Abbreviations	16
1. Introduction	17
Aims and research questions	19
Thesis outline	20
2. Empirical background	21
Historical transitions in the maritime shipping sector	21
Shipping industry FAQ	23
3. Conceptual foundations	29
Sustainability Transitions Research	29
Technological Innovation Systems	31
Multi-Level Perspective	
The Geography of Sustainability Transitions	
Policy for Sustainability Transitions	41
4. Shipping as a socio-technical system	47
Socio-technical system elements	47
Institutions	47
Networks of actors	51
Material artefacts	
Markets and user practices	
Differences between previous and current transitions	54
5. Methodology	57
Positionality	57
Philosophical underpinnings	58
Research Design	60
Study 1: Biofuel implementation in Norwegian coastal shipping	g62

Study 2: The International Maritime Organisation's global police	cy mix
Study 3: Sail cargo initiatives as nomadic grassroots innovation	
Summary	80
Reflecting on the methodology	80
Overview of studies	81
6. Findings and contributions	83
Overview of articles	83
Contributions of the thesis	89
Socio-technical transitions in the maritime shipping sector	
Theoretical contributions	
Limitations and future research	104
7. Concluding remarks	107
Policy implications	109
Sustainable shipping on the horizon?	110
References	113
References	113 133
Appendices	113 133 133
References	113 133 133 133
References	113 133 133133135
References	113 133 133133135139 144
References	113 133 133135139144 145
References Appendices Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1 Overview of interview respondents Exemplary interview guide Code book Survey data used in Paper III Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2 List of attendance at conferences and webinars	113 133 133135139144145145
References Appendices Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1 Overview of interview respondents Exemplary interview guide. Code book. Survey data used in Paper III. Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2. List of attendance at conferences and webinars List of data sources for document analysis of the policy strategy	113 133 133135139144145145 y148
References Appendices Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1 Overview of interview respondents Exemplary interview guide. Code book. Survey data used in Paper III. Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2. List of attendance at conferences and webinars List of data sources for document analysis of the policy strategy Materials provided to respondents before interviews	113 133 133135139144145145148148
References Appendices Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1 Overview of interview respondents Exemplary interview guide. Code book. Survey data used in Paper III. Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2. List of attendance at conferences and webinars List of data sources for document analysis of the policy strategy Materials provided to respondents before interviews Interview guide.	113 133 133135139144145145 y148148148
References Appendices Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1 Overview of interview respondents Exemplary interview guide. Code book. Survey data used in Paper III. Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2. List of attendance at conferences and webinars List of data sources for document analysis of the policy strategy Materials provided to respondents before interviews Interview guide. Code book.	113 133 133135139144145145145148148148149152
References Appendices Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1 Overview of interview respondents Exemplary interview guide Code book Survey data used in Paper III Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2 List of attendance at conferences and webinars List of data sources for document analysis of the policy strategy Materials provided to respondents before interviews Interview guide Code book	113 133 133 135 139 144 145 145 145 145 148 148 149 152 154
References Appendices Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1 Overview of interview respondents Exemplary interview guide. Code book. Survey data used in Paper III. Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2. List of attendance at conferences and webinars List of data sources for document analysis of the policy strategy Materials provided to respondents before interviews Interview guide. Code book. Appendix C: Supplementary materials for Study 3. Exemplary interview questions	113 133 133135139144145145145145148148149152154154154

Acknowledgements

Before a ship leaves port, a navigation plan is typically prepared to ensure that the ship is safely steered from one port to the next. There is no navigation plan for a PhD project, which at times have been frustrating since a PhD project is never just smooth sailing. Luckily, I have been surrounded by lots of excellent people who have guided and supported me through this journey in unchartered waters.

First of all, a massive thank you to my two pilots (more commonly known as supervisors), Josephine Rekers and Teis Hansen, for your advice, excitement, and endless encouragement during the last four and some years, which has kept me and my research on the right keel. Josee, I so appreciate your enthusiasm and attention to detail for my work, while also gently nudging me towards connecting my thinking to the broader literature. Teis, thank you so much for your openness, generous feedback and quick thinking when discussing details of data analysis as well as broader conceptual arguments, and everything in between. I look forward to continuing working with you on new exciting projects across the bridge.

During different progress seminars throughout this PhD journey, I have been fortunate to receive thoughtful feedback from Johan Miörner, Karl Sperling and Toon Meelen, which has also helped steer the project in the right direction. Thanks should also go to Vasna Ramasar for insightful comments during the greenlight reading process.

Thank you to the GREENFLEET project crew, and especially Markus Steen and Tuukka Mäkitie, for making my first academic paper writing processes such an enjoyable and valuable experience, as well as for your continued support throughout this project. Thank you also to potentially the first ever shadow supervisors, Fredric Bauer and Henner Busch, for sharing your wisdom and giving suggestions when discussing my research as well as various aspects of life in academia.

Although large parts of my PhD journey have been characterised by the home office obligations of the recent pandemic, colleagues at the Department of Human Geography have been a constant source of joy throughout the whole period. I will fondly remember wicked lunch discussions (on Fridays in particular), zoom quizzes, badminton sessions and random chats in the corridor. A big thank you to the PhD community, and especially to Corinna Burkhart, Kristin Smette Gulbrandsen, Linda Stihl and Stine Madsen, for making difficult times a lot easier through the online Monday check-ins during the pandemic, fika breaks, and syjunta evenings.

The advantage of a PhD project, in contrast to a ship, not having a strict navigation plan is that your research can take you on an unexpected but very exiting journey. I am very grateful for all interview participants that agreed to be part of the studies included in this thesis, especially the sail cargo community for sharing your insights with me. I never expected to get the opportunity to include my interest in traditional sailing ships in my research, but I am very glad I did.

Thank you to my friends in Malmö and elsewhere for much needed support and distraction through long (phone) fikas, dinners, book club discussions, knitting sessions, swimming breaks and sailing excursions. Lastly, thank you to my parents for showing me the world of sailing and for your never-ending support throughout all my studies and sailing adventures (especially allowing me to sail across the Atlantic Ocean at age 16), which laid the foundation for this thesis in so many ways.

Hanna Bach November 26, 2024 Malmö, Sweden

Popular science summary

Most ships run on heavy fuel oil, one of the dirtiest fossil fuels available, causing the global maritime shipping sector to emit very large amounts of air polluting substances as well as greenhouse gases. Currently, the shipping industry is responsible for around 3% of the yearly global greenhouse gas emissions, which means that if the shipping industry was a country, it would be the world's sixth largest greenhouse gas emitter. Shifting away from fossil fuels in the maritime shipping sector is therefore of utmost importance to reduce negative impacts on society from climate change. However, the shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies (the combination of technologies making a ship move forwards or backwards) promises to be even more difficult than turning an oil tanker. The reasons for this are many. One main reason is the lack of suitable, more sustainable propulsion technologies to replace fossil fuels with. Another reason is the extensive energy demand of a ship, which can be compared to a power plant that in addition must carry around its own fuel. In addition, the shipping industry is a very old industry with well-established actors, norms, routines and infrastructure which make the industry very resistant to change.

This thesis explores part of the complexity associated with replacing fossil fuels in the maritime shipping sector and describes insights about how a shift to more sustainable shipping could happen. The thesis asks questions about how global, well-established structures such as regulatory frameworks and networks of actors sets conditions for how more sustainable propulsion technologies can be developed and implemented. In relation to this, the thesis investigates how top-down incentives (such as policy) as well as bottom-up initiatives (for example grassroots innovations) at the global, national and community level contribute to phasing out fossil fuels and introducing more sustainable technology options in the shipping sector, and which challenges remain.

The thesis is based on three empirical studies. One study explores how the global regulatory framework (implemented by the International Maritime Organisation) influence development and implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies, as well as challenges for implementation of stricter regulation of global greenhouse emissions. Another study analyses the role of national policy in driving decarbonisation of the shipping industry through identification of drivers of and barriers to implementation of biofuels in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector. The final study explores multi-scalar opportunities and challenges for successful development of nomadic grassroots innovation initiatives promoting a return to traditional sail cargo ships.

Combined, the findings show that existing well-stablished structures especially at the global level currently is a barrier to the shift to more sustainable shipping. For example, given that current main global regulatory framework still supports conventional fossil fuels rather than more sustainable alternatives, existing topdown policy incentives at the global level are not able to drive development and implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies. In contrast, clear climate policy ambitions in combination with sufficiently strict policy incentives (that supports for example emission reduction targets) have been important drivers for the introduction of more sustainable propulsion technologies in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector. In this case, policy incentives have enabled development of new solutions that goes against national and global well-established structures. Finally, the findings reveal that bottom-up grassroots innovations in the form of sail cargo initiatives struggle to gain legitimacy as well as financial and human resources, in part due to the resistance to change within the shipping industry.

Given the urgency to stop the continuous increase of greenhouse gas emissions from the shipping industry and set shipping on the course towards decarbonisation, the findings point to a need for stricter climate policy for the shipping industry at all governance levels. Furthermore, additional policy support is crucial for successful development of bottom-up initiatives with decarbonisation ambitions that goes beyond regulatory requirements. The findings also highlight a need for new explanatory models for investigation of how to achieve shifts to more sustainable solutions in sectors that are very resistant to change.

List of Papers

Paper I

Bach, H. & Hansen, T. (2023) Flickering guiding light from the International Maritime Organisation's policy mix. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 47 (100720)

Paper II

Bach, H. & Hansen, T. (2023) IMO off course for decarbonisation of shipping ? Three challenges for stricter policy. *Marine Policy*, 147 (105379)

Paper III

Bach, H., Mäkitie, T., Hansen, T., & Steen, M. (2021) Blending new and old in sustainability transitions : Technological alignment between fossil fuels and biofuels in Norwegian coastal shipping. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 74 (101957)

Paper IV

Bach, H. (2024) Winds of change – Nomadic grassroots innovations in the maritime shipping sector. *Geoforum*, 156 (104137)

List of Abbreviations

EU	European Union
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
IMO	International Maritime Organisation
LBG	Liquefied Biogas
LNG	Liquefied Natural Gas
MARPOL	International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships
MEPC	Marine Environmental Protection Committee
MLP	Multi-Level Perspective
NGO	Non-governmental Organisation
R&D	Research and Development
TIS	Technological Innovation System
UN	United Nations
UNFCC	United Nations Framework Convention of Climate Change

1. Introduction

Shifting away from fossil fuels in the maritime shipping sector is even more difficult than turning an oil tanker. In light of increasing global warming, reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from all industries is necessary to ensure a liveable planet for future generations, and this needs to happen quickly. The international shipping sector is a large contributor to GHG emissions, being responsible for around 3% of yearly global emissions, implying that if it were a nation, it would be the world's sixth largest GHG emitter. Furthermore, the shipping industry is classified as a hard-to-abate sector, similar to other sectors such as aviation, the steel industry and the petrochemical sector (Davis et al., 2018; Otto & Oberthür, 2024), which implies that it is considered to be particularly difficult to decarbonise for reasons such as a lack of fossil free alternatives, large energy demands, or a long history of established (fossil fuel) actors. The shipping industry meets all three of these criteria. First, there is no silver bullet fuel or other type of propulsion technology (i.e., the combination of the type of fuel or energy carrier, such as batteries, engine, drive train and propeller that makes the ship move forwards, or backwards) available to the shipping sector to replace fossil fuels. Although many options are being discussed, such as ammonia, hydrogen, methanol, battery-electric systems and wind-assisted propulsion technologies, at this point commercially available options are very limited. Secondly, the energy demand of an average ship can be compared to a power plant, with the addition of needing to carry around its own fuel. Thirdly, the shipping industry is also mature and highly institutionalised with well-established actors, norms and routines, as well as fuel infrastructures, which makes the sector extremely path-dependant.

The shift to sustainable shipping promises to be riddled with complexity. Decarbonising the shipping sector requires multiple technological solutions (DNV GL, 2019; Horvath et al., 2018), implying that experimentation and innovation in several areas of technology simultaneously is necessary. This poses a complex regulatory challenge involving multiple actors and institutions. Previous research on sustainable shipping has mainly focused on technical aspects such as life-cycle assessments of alternative fuels (Bengtsson et al., 2011; Gilbert et al., 2018; Kanchiralla et al., 2023; Nanaki & Koroneos, 2012), energy efficiency measures such as slow-steaming and weather optimised routes (E. K. Hansen et al., 2020; Poulsen et al., 2022; Rehmatulla, Calleya, et al., 2017; Rehmatulla & Smith, 2020) or wind-assisted propulsion technology add-ons to existing and new ships (Mander,

2017; Rehmatulla, Parker, et al., 2017; Stalmokaitė et al., 2022; Talluri et al., 2016). However, beyond innovation and technology development there is a need for increased understanding of the societal challenges and opportunities associated with the transition from fossil fuels to more sustainable propulsion technologies within the shipping industry. Despite this pressing need, research on these societal challenges and opportunities from a social science perspective is scarce.

Anchored in the field of sustainability transitions research, this thesis addresses these societal challenges and opportunities. The four articles included in the thesis unpacks parts of this complex industry by exploring and contrasting multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up processes that influence socio-technical change regarding the shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies. To explore top-down processes, this thesis includes investigations of the role of international and national policy regarding technology innovation and implementation. To explore bottom-up processes, this thesis includes studies of grassroots innovation activities as well as the influence of wider niche technology development and implementation on policy processes. The field of sustainability transitions offers a suitable perspective and a suite of analytical tools to explore the decarbonisation of the maritime sector and to investigate the drivers of and barriers to the implementation of alternative, sustainable propulsion technologies. More specifically, this field of study draws attention to challenges and opportunities related to several different elements of socio-technical configurations, such as institutions, markets and user practices as well as material artefacts such as fuel infrastructure. Previous sustainability transitions research has mainly focused on national case studies of transitions in the energy and road transport sectors (Köhler et al., 2019). However, despite its enormous contributions to global GHG emissions, the maritime shipping industry was, until recently, a novel empirical context of study; it has only received increasing attention in recent years. Earlier transition studies of the maritime shipping sector have, for example, focused on socio-technical scenarios for future fuels (Köhler, 2020), differences between coastal shipping segments (Bergek et al., 2021; Mäkitie et al., 2022), and national technological innovation systems for lowand zero carbon fuels for coastal shipping (Bach et al., 2020; Steen et al., 2019). Furthermore, others have studied the role of ports (Bjerkan, Hansen, et al., 2021; Bjerkan, Ryghaug, et al., 2021; Bjerkan & Ryghaug, 2021), as well as individual shipowners (Stalmokaitė et al., 2022; Stalmokaitė & Hassler, 2020; Stalmokaitė & Yliskylä-Peuralahti, 2019) in driving decarbonisation of the shipping sector.

These contributions notwithstanding, further empirical work is needed on the above themes. Moreover, there is a much called-for need to move sustainability transitions research beyond the most common national- and firm-level foci (Köhler et al., 2019). This includes *global* aspects of socio-technical change processes related to propulsion technologies as well as scale-sensitive analyses of sustainability transitions in the maritime shipping sector. Certain sectors, such as the maritime shipping, aviation, and water and sanitation sectors are seen as especially internationally or globally embedded given the internationality of value chains, actor networks, and regulatory frameworks. In the sustainability transitions literature, this is conceptualised as strong global regimes (Fuenfschilling & Binz, 2018), and such strong global regimes are assumed to influence how transitions unfold at different scales and places.

In this thesis, the influence of the shipping sector's strong global regime is explored in multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up processes at the global, national and community level, thereby contributing to a further understanding of the geography of sustainability transitions in the maritime shipping sector. Furthermore, trajectories for how socio-technical change unfolds in sectors with strong global regimes have not been extensively explored in sustainability transitions research. The novel empirical context that the maritime shipping sector represents provides an opportunity for testing whether previous conceptualisations of how sociotechnical change processes typically unfolds (through upscaling of niche (technology) development from the local to national and/or global scale) remain relevant also for this globally highly institutionalised hard-to-abate sector.

Aims and research questions

Responding to the gaps outlined above, the overall aim of this thesis is to advance the current understanding of how multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up processes influence socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the global maritime shipping sector. Under this broad aim, the thesis is more specifically concerned with drivers and barriers involved in the shift from fossil fuels to more sustainable propulsion technologies, and seeks to answer this overarching research question:

How does the strong global regime in the maritime shipping sector interact with top-down and bottom-up transition dynamics at the global, national and community level?

To operationalise the overarching research question, the following sub-questions are asked:

- 1. How do global and national policies provide top-down incentives for implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies?
- 2. In what ways do niche technology development in frontrunner countries manifest bottom-up influence on policymaking at the national and global levels?
- 3. How do bottom-up initiatives such as grassroots innovations form in the maritime shipping sector, and which multi-scalar challenges and opportunities do such initiatives face?

While the overarching research question is answered by the thesis as a whole, the first sub-research question primarily relates to Papers I, II and III, the second subquestion relates to Papers II and III, and the third sub-question relates to Paper IV. Taken together, this collection of articles unpacks some of the complexities of the maritime shipping sector and identifies barriers to as well as opportunities for sociotechnical change that enable a shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies. In turn, the findings from this empirical context advance a more complex appreciation of multi-scalar processes in the field of sustainability transitions, specifically in relation to top-down and bottom-up influences on socio-technical change in sectors with strong global regimes.

Thesis outline

This thesis consists of four scientific papers, as well as this cover essay which introduces the research context and methodological approach and presents the aggregated findings and contributions of the thesis. Following this introduction, the next chapter in the cover essay familiarises the reader with the complexity of the maritime sector. Chapter 3 introduces the conceptual foundations of the thesis, which is anchored in the sustainability transitions literature and specifically relates to two sub-research fields: the geography of sustainability transitions and policy for sustainability transitions. In chapter 4, a conceptual description of the maritime shipping sector as a socio-technical system is presented before chapter 5 goes on to discuss the methodology and research design for the three empirical studies included in the thesis. Chapter 6 provides a summary of the findings and contributions of the respective papers followed by an overarching discussion of the empirical and conceptual contributions of the thesis. Finally, some concluding remarks are presented in chapter 7.

2. Empirical background

The maritime shipping sector is one of the world's oldest industries and is characterised by a great deal of complexity, given its internationality and diversity. Before diving into the conceptual foundations for this thesis, this chapter provides descriptions of the fundamental elements of the shipping sector, in order to familiarise the reader with this 'mosaic' industry. Starting with an overview of previous propulsion technology transitions in the shipping industry, the remainder of the chapter is structured as a FAQ section providing answers about how the shipping sector is organised and regulated, as well as explaining the shipping sectors' climate impact and the possible technology options for the shift to more sustainable shipping. We will return to a conceptual overview of the socio-technical system for the maritime shipping sector in chapter 4.

Historical transitions in the maritime shipping sector

Once upon a time, majestic tall ships with white sails followed the trade winds on their routes between Europe, South America and Asia to buy and sell various goods. Today, the white sails on the horizon have been replaced by toxic smoke coming out of the chimneys of dominantly oil-fuelled ships (Bengtsson et al., 2011). This transition did not happen overnight, and as most transitions, did not follow a straight path. During the nineteenth century the introduction of the steam engine enabled faster transportation of goods and passengers, due to both a higher speed and alternative, shorter shipping routes, as ships were no longer dependant on the wind direction and speed. Furthermore, the shift from sailing ships to steamships increased the regularity and predictability of port arrivals, making more advanced logistical plans possible, to accommodate further handling of the goods (Pascali, 2014).

The steamships dominance of the high seas did not come from nowhere. Geels (2002) shows how government regulation of both business models and ship design, as well as design competition between the Great Britain and the US played important parts in the introduction of steam ships. Several regulatory change processes that started before the technological maturation of the steam engine, such as tax changes, the introduction of commercial law, and the loosening of the British navigation laws stimulated international trade, further creating conditions that

helped facilitate the transition to steamships. However, as most technological transitions, steam ships did not become a success immediately upon being introduced. For example, traditional wooden hulls struggled with the weight of the heavy steam engines, and inexperience in construction methods related to the shift to iron hulls resulted in some new-built ships capsizing and ending up upside down when launched (Garrat et al., 1973; Geels, 2002). Further experimentation and regulation were needed before steamships became the dominant order for construction of new ships at the end of the nineteenth century, indicating the importance of analysing socio-technical interactions in connection to transitions from one technology to another (Geels, 2002).

Jumping forward in time, the next major technological transition in ship propulsion technologies took place with the shift from coal powered steam engines to those powered by oil, in parallel with the widespread introduction of the marine combustion engine after the second world war. Since 1950, heavy fuel oil has been the dominant ship fuel (Endresen et al., 2007). However, heavy fuel oil was not the obvious fuel choice for the shipping sector. The first combustion engines were optimised to run on diesel or petrol, so called distillate fuels from an oil refinery process. Increasing demand for these distillates left oil refineries with growing volumes of heavy fuel oil, the residual product left over from the refinery process, and no market to sell it to. The shipping sector was then offered heavy fuel oil at a very low price, initiating innovation processes to construct marine engines suitable for combustion of this residual oil (Fletcher, 1997). Apart from being cheaper, heavy fuel oil is more energy intensive, and quickly became the dominant fuel for larger ships (Endresen et al., 2007).

The shift to combustion engines and heavy fuel oil made shipping operations significantly cheaper, and the low cost of shipping spurred a drastic increase in trade volumes and thereby the number of ships in the global fleet during the twentieth century. Between 1910 and 2000 the global fleet of ships larger than 100 gross tonnes grew by approximately 66,000 ships to a total of 88,000. In the same time period, the total gross tonnage (cargo transport capacity) increased from around 37 to 558 million GT. Following this, the fuel consumption in the shipping sector increased fourfold (Endresen et al., 2007). With increasing fuel consumption comes increasing emissions, both GHGs and air pollutants. Currently, the shipping sector is responsible for around 3% of yearly global GHG emissions (IMO, 2020), and under pressure to decrease its carbon footprint and eventually decarbonise completely.

Shipping industry FAQ

What does the maritime shipping sector do and why does that matter for everyday life?

The main purpose of shipping is to transport goods or passengers from port A to port B. Every day, hundreds of thousands of containers lands in ports all over the world, having crossed the oceans between continents (when not stuck in the Suez Canal) to enable deliveries of food, clothes, toilet paper and other everyday items. As a result of increasing global trade, 90% of all goods are at some point transported on board a ship, and the distance they are transported by ship is most often the longest part of the transportation journey. The recent Covid-19 pandemic, as well as Ever Given's grounding in the Suez Canal and the ongoing rebel attacks on ships in the Red Sea has highlighted the importance of a well-functioning shipping sector. Furthermore, the six-day closing of the Suez Canal in March 2021 caused major delays for all types of goods, as ships were kept on hold outside the canal for up to eleven days, while some chose to steam around the Cape of Good Hope (prolonging their planned journey by around seven to nine days). To conclude, the shipping sector makes up a crucial part of the global transport and logistics system, and ensuring well-functioning, sustainable transportation by ship even in the future is of utmost importance.

What types of ships are there and how does a ship function?

Ships come in a variety of sizes, types and ages. Ship sizes vary, from the gigantic containerships and oil tankers longer than the Eiffel Tower is high, the 20-something meter long ferries taking commuters across the water in coastal cities, and virtually anything in between. The largest cruise ships can accommodate around 9 000 passengers and an additional 2 000 crew members, representing a village floating on the ocean. In contrast, the largest container ships, carrying more than 20 000 containers, only have a crew of around 20 people (see Figure 1). These types of ships are a familiar sight in the Öresund strait, where container ships, ferries, cruise ships, fishing vessels, as well as oil and chemical tankers pass through on a daily basis. However, the shipping sector also includes a lot of other ship types few people know exist, such as ships placing electricity cables at the bottom of the ocean, ships equipped for building large offshore wind farms, and even ships built to carry (multiple) other ships, for example, those on their way to be demolished.

In many ways, a ship is its own little world, cut off from the rest of the society. In order to sustain themselves on board, the ship needs to be able to carry food, water and fuel to last for the trip between port A and port B. It also needs to handle the accumulated waste produced on board (residual as well as sanitary) and maintain the functioning of all technical systems - all while safely navigating through the sometimes harsh conditions at sea, which can cause the ship to roll back and forth with the waves. Moving the ship in the right direction requires an engine or other

propulsion system, whose power requirements vary with the size and type of ship. Given the enormous size of the largest engines that power ships with high energy demands, the industry term 'cathedral engines' is a very fitting one. Conventional ship engines run on fossil-based heavy fuel oil, and in addition, the typical solution to cover the ship's electricity consumption is to have one or more electricity generators powered by the same type of fuel that is used for the ship's propulsion.



Figure 1 Offloading of containers at the container terminal in Port of Gothenburg, Sweden To the left, container ship Helena Schepers built 2012, 152 meters long with carrying capacity 1 036 standards containers, operating in coastal waters in northern Europe. On its port side, a small service vessel operating in the Port of Gothenburg. To the right, Milan Maersk, Tripple E-class container ship built 2017, 399 meters long with carrying capacity 18 270 standard containers, operating between China and northern Europe. Photo: Hanna Bach

The typical lifespan of a ship varies between 15 and 40 years, depending on the type of ship. In 2018, the average age of scrapped ships was 28 years (Clarksons Research, 2019). When considering developments and changes within the shipping sector, this is important to keep in mind as this has a few important implications. First, changes in technology take a relatively long time to implement due the low turn-over of ships, indicating that for the shipping industry to decarbonise in time to contribute to the Earth stay below 2 degrees global warming (as outlined in the Paris Agreement), more sustainable propulsion technologies need to be implemented as soon as possible. Second, making decisions around technology is currently a tremendous challenge due to the uncertainty regarding future fuel options and their availability. Furthermore, this implies that there will be a need to retrofit ships in the current fleet in addition to construction of new ships with alternative, sustainable propulsion technologies (International Chamber of Shipping, 2020), as the majority of the ships in the current global fleet will still constitute the largest part of the fleet in 2030 (Bullock et al., 2020).

What are the climate and environmental issues stemming from the shipping sector and where are they occurring?

The shipping sector contributes to multiple environmental and climate issues: oil spills, migration of invasive species, underwater noise pollution etc. Given that most ships are fuelled by heavy fuel oil, which is the dirtiest fossil fuel (due to being the remainder after distillation of petroleum), the emissions to air from the shipping sector contributes to air pollution as well as climate change. The combustion of heavy fuel oil causes large emissions of air pollutants such as sulphur oxides, nitrogen oxides, and particulate matter. Apart from these air pollutants contribution to decreased air quality, sulphur emissions are also a major cause of acid rain. Although promoted as the most eco-friendly form of transportation, the shipping sector currently accounts for around 3% of global GHG emissions; however, with increasing global trade, emissions are expected to increase (IMO, 2020). Even if energy efficiency gains have been accomplished (Bouman et al., 2017), the total GHG emissions are continuously increasing. In 2018, the yearly CO₂ emission from ships had increased to 1 076 million tonnes CO₂/year compared to 977 million tonnes/year in 2012 (IMO, 2020).

Considering that ships move all across the high seas, air emissions from the shipping sector constitute a global environmental and climate problem. However, regarding air quality there are some additional local effects. Higher levels of air pollution are noticeable for coastal cities and settlements along the major shipping routes, and areas close to a larger port also experience decreased air quality. Although a ship's main engine is not running when a ship is docked at a port to load and unload cargo, the emissions from its electricity generators remain and contribute to local air pollution.

How is the shipping sector regulated?

As an international sector, the shipping sector is regulated on several governance levels. The International Maritime Organisation (IMO), a specialised United Nations (UN) agency established in 1959, has responsibility for regulating international shipping. In short, IMO is a member-state-led organisation with a complex governance model, which results in the shipping sector being practically self-regulating. The first global regulations regarding air emissions from ships were implemented in 2005, focusing on air pollutants (especially sulphur). In the last 20 years, the European Union (EU) has become an increasingly important regulatory actor for the shipping sector through its environmental legislation – which, in most cases, has been stricter than the regulation implemented by the IMO. Nations, through their maritime authorities, are responsible for monitoring compliance with IMO regulations. In addition, it is possible to implement national rules for shipping in national waters and ports. Furthermore, shipping classification societies are responsible for developing maritime standards and technical specifications based on

the IMO regulation, which a ship needs to comply with in order to maintain mandatory certifications.

Which actors are involved in solving the shipping sector's climate and environmental issues?

Apart from the regulatory institutions, there are several other actors involved in the shift to sustainable shipping. Shipowners and shipowner associations have been important actors which have had major impacts on the shipping industry over a long period of time, being the ones actually making investment decisions around types of ships, propulsion technologies and routes to sail. Furthermore, larger shipowner associations act as consultants for the IMO and hold observer status during IMO negotiations. In order to enable construction of new, sustainable ships, technology suppliers and shipyards also play a major role. Several external actors such as cargo owners, external investors and insurance companies are becoming increasingly important in the decarbonisation of the maritime sector, as they more and more demand sustainable transport options. The crew on board ships are essential for the daily operation and will play a crucial part in the actual handling of new, low- and zero carbon technologies on board, indicating a need to educate crews about the handling of these new technologies. Furthermore, actors involved in organisations promoting alternatives to conventional shipping, such as a return to traditional sail cargo ships that operates in their own parallel socio-technical system, can play an important role for bottom-up solutions for sustainable shipping.

What are the technology options for sustainable shipping?

Similar to other climate issues, a portfolio of solutions and technologies will be needed for the transition to sustainable shipping. Given the large energy demands of the global shipping fleet, it is estimated that a single new, low- or zero carbon fuel will not be sufficient for all ships. The shift to sustainable shipping thereby implies a complex regulatory challenge involving multiple actors and institutions engaged in experimentation and innovation within several technology areas simultaneously. Following the characteristics of the various sizes and types of ships, different ships are suitable for different options. The major factor determining viable options for a certain ship is what route it sails, specifically whether this route is following along the coast, having several options for stopovers to fuel up or recharge batteries, or travels longer distances and crossing oceans, which requires the ship to carry vast amounts of fuel. For ships with relatively short routes, battery-electric and hydrogen solutions, as well as using biodiesel in conventional engines, are all considered suitable options and are already implemented on a small scale. The major challenge for the transition to sustainable shipping, however, lies with larger ships travelling long distances. Currently, there is no consensus within the shipping sector regarding viable options; however, fuels being discussed and tested are for example ammonia, methanol, and biofuels such as biodiesel and liquefied biogas (LBG). Furthermore, additional technologies such as variants of wind-assisted propulsion

are being experimented with. Given the high degree of interconnectedness with respect to the development of renewable energy systems in relation to local geographical and political context, it is likely that emerging solutions for the shipping sector (at least initially) will have spatial differences.

Past and present – what is different now?

The history of transitions in the shipping sector shows how, for the majority of time, it has been dominated by one propulsion technology and fuel at any one time (DNV GL, 2019; Horvath et al., 2018). Transitions in the shipping sector have historically been slow, and shifts have been from one technology to another, 'better' one in terms of, for example, energy density, enabling longer routes or higher speed. The current pressure to decarbonise in order to decrease the impact on climate change differs from previous drivers of transitions, such as increased range or reliable arrival and departure schedules, or lower fuel and shipping costs, as it is mostly generated by external societal pressure rather than industry-internal values or visions. Furthermore, the pending transition differs from previous technology shifts as there is no new silver-bullet fuel or other technology the shipping sector can shift to, since every potential solution has a lower energy intensity than heavy fuel oil.

3. Conceptual foundations

In this thesis, the shift to sustainable shipping is seen as a socio-technical change process that is part of a sustainability transition within the maritime shipping sector. The intention of this chapter is to present the main conceptual foundations of the sustainability transitions field that provide the background and context for the specific conceptual frameworks which the respective papers use as their points of departure. First, this chapter provides an introduction to sustainability transitions research and two main conceptual frameworks within this field. Second, two subfields that the thesis particularly contributes to, the geography of sustainability transitions and policy for sustainability transitions, are introduced.

Sustainability Transitions Research

The field of sustainability transitions is a relatively young but growing multidisciplinary field which emerged in the late 1990s (Köhler et al., 2019; Markard et al., 2012) and originates from innovation studies, science and technology studies, and evolutionary economics (A. Smith et al., 2010). Sustainability transitions research finds its starting point in acknowledging that environmental and climate issues, such as climate change and biodiversity loss, constitutes grand societal challenges. These challenges are seen as a result of human overexploitation of natural resources, representing the dominance of unsustainable configurations in socio-technical systems, systems that provide specific services such as agriculture, power and heat, and transport (Markard et al., 2012). It is furthermore recognised that more innovation in new technological solutions or increased efficiency alone will not be sufficient to solve these grand societal challenges; rather, sustainability transitions research assumes that radical shifts from the current fossil-based sociotechnical configurations to alternative, more sustainable socio-technical configurations, i.e., sustainability transitions, are necessary (Markard et al., 2012; A. Smith et al., 2010). Sustainability transitions are typically seen as non-linear, multi-dimensional and co-evolutionary long-term processes often spanning over decades, which engages various actors, such as policy makers, industry actors, academics and civil society (Geels, 2004, 2005; Markard et al., 2012). The future results of sustainability transitions are uncertain; however, there is an underlying normative notion of sustainability transitions research that assumes that these shifts

are desired from a societal perspective and will contribute to a better future for the world's population. This implies that there is a prescriptive logic in sustainability transitions research to steer socio-technical change towards more sustainable technological solutions and socio-technical systems (Köhler et al., 2019).

In sustainability transitions research, sectors providing societal functions and services, such as electricity and water supply or transportation, are conceptualised as socio-technical systems (Markard et al., 2012). These systems consist of multiple elements interacting with each other, such as institutions (both regulations and standards as well as societal norms and practices), material artefacts (technologies, infrastructure, etc.), markets and user practices, and networks of actors engaging in knowledge sharing, which when combined in a certain way represent a specific socio-technical configuration (Geels, 2004; Markard, 2011; Weber, 2003). An example of a typical current socio-technical configuration is the combination of institutions (traffic rules, emission standards, cultural and symbolic meaning) and material artefacts (easily accessible gas stations, highways, suburban planning), etc., that uphold personal ownership of conventional fossil fuelled cars as the main sociotechnical personal mobility configuration. Enabling sustainability transitions therefore encompasses more than simply replacing one technology with another and requires changes to multiple socio-technical elements simultaneously. The primary units of analysis in sustainability transitions research are the elements of sociotechnical systems, and how these (need to) change in order to develop new sociotechnical configurations enabling sustainability transitions (Geels, 2004).

Socio-technical systems are typically very complex with many linkages between elements, implying that, over time, the systems develop into rigid structures that are difficult to change, i.e., path-dependent and incremental (Geels, 2002; Markard & Truffer, 2008). This implies that achieving socio-technical change towards sustainability transitions requires overcoming different lock-ins, relating to for example established actor networks, institutions, markets and technologies in incumbent socio-technical systems (Arthur, 1994; Geels, 2004). In practice, this implies that multiple socio-technical elements need to change in order to develop new, more sustainable configurations of socio-technical systems. The constellation of the socio-technical system elements may vary between sectors, and there may be spatial differences in socio-technical system configurations within the same sector, indicating a need to identify which key system elements are most important to change in order to enable sustainability transitions (Geels, 2002). Furthermore, within sustainability transitions research, it is acknowledged that in order to enable sustainability transitions, development of and support for new, more sustainable socio-technical configurations (i.e., creation) needs to be complemented by withdrawal of support for and dissolving of current, often fossil-fuel-based configurations (i.e., destruction). This assumption is based on the seminal concept of 'creative destruction' in innovation introduced by Schumpeter (1950), which, in the sustainability transitions literature, has been complemented by later

conceptualisations of 'regime destabilisation', highlighting the importance of decreasing the reproduction of incumbent regime configurations (Turnheim & Geels, 2012). However, most sustainability transitions research still focusses on creation of new socio-technical configurations, indicating that there is a need for further conceptualisation and empirical exploration of destabilisation of incumbent regimes and phase-out of unsustainable socio-technical configurations (Hebinck et al., 2022). In Papers I and II, the current status of and potential for regime destabilisation of the global regime for the international maritime shipping sector is studied through analysis of creative destruction elements in the global policy mix regulating air emissions from international shipping.

A number of different conceptual frameworks have developed within the field of sustainability transitions to help explain different aspects of how socio-technical change comes about, such as Technological Innovation Systems (TIS) in which the analytical focus is on drivers of and barriers to diffusion of emerging technologies (Bergek, Jacobsson, et al., 2008; Hekkert et al., 2007), the Multi-Level Perspective (MLP) framework that conceptualises socio-technical change as a result of interactions between three levels of socio-technical structuration, namely landscapes, regimes and niches (Geels, 2002, 2005), transition management which introduces practice-oriented coordinated governance models for guiding policy makers (Kemp et al., 2007; Rotmans et al., 2001), and strategic niche management which emphasises different support mechanisms for developing emerging niches beyond their protected environment as drivers of sustainability transitions (Kemp et al., 1998). This thesis mainly builds on concepts from the TIS literature, the MLP framework and recent geographical and configurational conceptualisations of sociotechnical regimes and multi-scalar dynamics in sustainability transitions. Furthermore, the thesis builds on previous conceptualisations of policy mixes (Rogge & Reichardt, 2016) and the role of policy for sustainability transitions.

Technological Innovation Systems

The drivers of and barriers to development of new configurations of socio-technical systems have been explored in great detail in the TIS literature, in relation to national, regional as well as sectoral TISs. A TIS consists of actor networks that participate in development, diffusion and utilisation of a new technology within a certain sector, such as the maritime shipping industry, which is influenced by sector-and technology-specific institutional contexts. At the core of the TIS approach is the understanding that successful emergence and diffusion of a new technology is a result of a broader system of interconnected elements that work together to support the innovation process, rather than the capabilities of individual firms (Bergek, Hekkert, et al., 2008; Bergek, Jacobsson, et al., 2008; Hekkert et al., 2007). The TIS framework introduced by Bergek, Jacobsson, et al. (2008) highlights seven key innovation processes, or in TIS terminology, 'functions', such as knowledge

development and diffusion, resource mobilisation, and market formation, which influence innovation in a specific sector or of a specific technological solution. Taking a processual perspective on analysis of the respective TIS functions, the framework allows for identification of drivers of and barriers to technology innovation and implementation which can guide recommendations for policymakers. Previous studies of TISs have explored a wide range of technologies, such as renewable energy (e.g., Dewald & Truffer, 2011; Foxon et al., 2010; Wieczorek et al., 2013) and transport (e.g., Hillman & Sandén, 2008; Markard et al., 2009; Suurs et al., 2010), mainly focusing on the national level (Coenen, 2015), indicating that there is a remaining research gap regarding the development of sectoral TISs. Building on the conceptualisation of TIS functions introduced by Bergek, Jacobsson, et al. (2008), Paper III connects positive and negative externalities associated with the technological alignment between fossil and biobased ship fuels with key processes for implementation of biodiesel and LBG in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector, conceptualised as sectorial TISs.

Multi-Level Perspective

In one of the most commonly applied theoretical frameworks for sustainability transitions research, the MLP framework (Geels, 2002; Rip & Kemp, 1998), changes in socio-technical systems are seen as a result of interactions between three analytical 'levels' of structuration: landscapes, regimes, and niches. Through the MLP lens, the landscape level refers to the external, general societal context in which socio-technical configurations are embedded and which regimes and niches relate to, but have limited short-term impact on (Geels, 2002, 2004). Landscape dynamics are influenced by long-term, stable trends such as geopolitics, demographics or ideology, but also exogenous shocks such as, for example, wars or major natural disasters (Geels, 2018). A socio-technical regime is conceptualised as the 'deep structure' that represents the stability of an existing socio-technical system, i.e., the dominating configuration of a socio-technical system (Geels, 2004). It refers to the semi-coherent set of rules that "orient and coordinate the activities of the social groups that reproduce the various elements of socio-technical systems" (Geels, 2011, p. 27). For this definition, rules include, for example, shared beliefs, norms, values and routines, as well as regulation and capacities (Geels, 2004, 2011). Finally, niches are conceptualised as 'protected spaces' with extenuating circumstances that assist and enable the formation of more radical and disruptive innovations, i.e., rivalling emerging socio-technical configurations (Geels, 2002, 2004). In the original MLP conceptualisation, it was assumed that changes in landscape dynamics put pressure on existing regimes, potentially leading to a destabilisation of the regime. If this was the case, there would be an opportunity for niches to upscale and compete with the regime, and possibly overturn the existing regime (Geels, 2004). Following this, a socio-technical transition is assumed to be completed when a previous regime has been overturned by a new regime, implying a shift from "one highly structured socio-technical configuration to a new one" (Fuenfschilling & Truffer, 2014, p. 773).

The MLP framework has been criticised for a general tendency to categorise the 'levels' within the MLP according to the maturity of the system-specific technology and actors included in the socio-technical system. This has often resulted in an association between niches and emerging technologies, and between regimes and well-established technologies and incumbent actors. By doing so, the level of structuration of niches and regimes is assumed rather than empirically evaluated (Fuenfschilling & Truffer, 2014; A. Smith et al., 2005). Fuenfschilling and Truffer (2014) suggest a neo-institutional perspective on niches, regimes and landscapes, where the degree of institutionalisation is used to distinguish between niches, regimes and landscapes. In this conceptualisation, regimes are seen to have the highest degree of institutionalisation while niches have a very low degree of institutionalisation. Furthermore, building on concepts from the MLP framework, A. Smith et al. (2005) suggest that rather than assuming that changes in sociotechnical regimes are mainly driven by niche development, overturning of regimes can be seen as a result of internal and/or external processes, implying that in addition to development of socio-technical niches in protected spaces, internal pressures as well as broader exogenous landscape pressures can be seen as drivers of reconfiguration of regimes. Differentiating between intended and unintended transitions, the authors propose two internal ('endogenous renewal' and 'reorientation of trajectories') and two external ('emergent transformation' and 'purposive transition') transition contexts that steer the direction of socio-technical change. Internal transition contexts refer to when there are sufficient capabilities and resources (conceptualised as adaptive capacity) within the current sociotechnical regime, while external refers to a need for capabilities and resources from outside the incumbent regime to enable socio-technical change. Endogenous renewal is seen as an internally coordinated response within the regime to perceived threats to the regime, i.e., an intended transition, where the direction of policy and innovation activity is shaped by the incumbent socio-technical regime. This implies that socio-technical change processes are typically guided by past experiences, hence socio-technical transitions embedded in an endogenous renewal context will typically be path-dependent. In contrast, reorientation of trajectories represents a context where uncoordinated internal processes may lead to unintended, foundational changes in regime trajectories, but without resulting in major changes to the actors, networks and institutions involved in the incumbent regime. Although the reorientation is an internal response formed within the regime, the driver(s) for such reorientations may be exogenous or endogenous shocks in relation to the incumbent regime. Radical reorientations of trajectories are typically highly unpredictable. Emergent transformation represents a context which also produces unintended, uncoordinated transition processes, but which are initiated by actors and dependent on capabilities and resources that are not part of the incumbent regime. Transitions embedded in emergent transformation contexts are typically initiated
through research on and development of novel technological solutions performed at universities or small (start-up) firms outside of dominant industries, and the transition processes in this context are difficult to predict. In contrast to the autonomous characteristics of emergent transformation contexts, purposive transitions contexts typically produce intended transitions drawing on external resources initiated by actors from outside the incumbent regime that share interests and societal norms. Such purposive transitions are seen as deliberate attempts to drive socio-technical change based on a 'consensus guiding vision', which may be aligned with government interests but is mainly driven by a diverse set of societal actors from outside the incumbent regime.

The Geography of Sustainability Transitions

The sustainability transitions literature has been criticised for initially overlooking spatial dimensions of changes in sociotechnical systems. As a response to critique regarding insufficient attention to how place-specific contexts, global regime structures and multi-scalar dynamics influence sustainability transitions, as well as the national-level bias in previous studies, a sub-research field focusing on the geography of sustainability transitions has started to form in the last decade (Binz et al., 2020; T. Hansen & Coenen, 2015; Murphy, 2015; Truffer et al., 2015). This sub-field mainly directs attention to the spaces and scales where sustainability transitions emerge and unfold (Binz et al., 2020; Coenen & Truffer, 2012). The main work on the geography of sustainability transitions has thus far focused on the geography of niche development, leaving a research gap on the geographic aspects of regime dynamics (Fuenfschilling & Binz, 2018; T. Hansen & Coenen, 2015). Furthermore, at the time of the emergence of the geography of sustainability transitions as a sub-research field, most sustainability transitions studies had an empirical focus on national-level energy transitions in Northern Europe and particularly the Netherlands. Efforts have since been made to widen the empirical scope and test theories on more diverse cases in other parts of the world, as well as on other scales such as the urban or regional (Binz et al., 2020). This has resulted in emerging bodies of literature on sustainability transitions in the global south (for a review, see U. E. Hansen et al., 2018), urban areas (e.g., Madsen & Hansen, 2019; Monstadt, 2007; Späth & Rohracher, 2011) and regions (e.g., A. Smith, 2007; Späth & Rohracher, 2010, 2012), as well as global regimes (Fuenfschilling and Binz, 2018) and multi-scalar dynamics in sustainability transitions (Bauer & Fuenfschilling, 2019; Miörner & Binz, 2021). The three studies included in this thesis mainly connect to three key themes within the literature on the geography of sustainability transitions: place-specific conditions, multi-scalarity, and the influence of global regimes. In the next section, I introduce previous contributions on place-specificity in sustainability transitions, before elaborating on multiscalarity in sustainability transitions and lastly the role of global regime dynamics.

Place-specificity

Early contributions within the geography of sustainability transitions literature set out to further explain why transitions happen in certain places and not in others, as well as explored how and why transitions unfold more or less differently in various places, i.e., the spatial unevenness and *place-specificity of sustainability transitions* (T. Hansen & Coenen, 2015; Lawhon & Murphy, 2011). This focus on if and how geographical contexts matters resulted in a number of conceptual contributions regarding the influence of socio-spatial embedding and place-specific conditions on niche development and technology emergence, mainly through bridging concepts regarding space and place-specificity from human and economic geography with sustainability transitions theory (for a review, see T. Hansen & Coenen, 2015). Related to this, increasing attention has been directed towards the geography of grassroots innovation. In this literature, it is acknowledged that place-specific conditions in certain places provide favourable conditions for grassroots innovations to develop, ultimately resulting in an uneven spatial distribution of grassroots innovation initiatives (Feola & Butt, 2017; Feola & Him, 2016). Recent contributions to the literature have explored place-specific conditions such as community capacity, (volunteering) traditions and favourable political opportunities (Feola & Butt, 2017; Kratzer et al., 2022; Nicolosi et al., 2018; Nicolosi & Feola, 2016), as well as analysing the spatial distribution of grassroots innovations (Feola & Butt, 2017; Nicolosi et al., 2018). However, previous studies are mainly empirical and fail to sufficiently explain the how place-specific conditions as well as the multiscalarity of favourable factors influence the development of grassroots innovations. As a response to this research gap, Paper IV in this thesis builds on previous bridging of concepts related to place-specific conditions from economic geography with sustainability transitions concepts to explore the geography of grassroots innovations in the maritime shipping sector, which are conceptualised as nomadic grassroots innovations due to their mobility and ability to become anchored in multiple places.

Multi-scalarity in sustainability transitions

In parallel to the development of conceptualisations of specific geographical contexts and sustainability transitions, increasing conceptual and empirical attention has also been given to *multi-scalarity in sustainability transitions*. Geographers have pointed out that there is a problematic association between the three structuration levels within the MLP framework (landscape, regime and niche) with spatial scales, where niches often are seen to emerge and develop at the local scale while regimes are anchored at the national or global scale, indicating that there is a need for further conceptualisation of how transitions unfold in space (Fuenfschilling & Binz, 2018; Hodson et al., 2016). To nuance this, it has been argued that sociotechnical niches as well as regimes are multi-scalar structures that simultaneously relate to and are influenced by dynamics in multiple places and at various governance levels (Fuenfschilling & Binz, 2018; Murphy, 2015; Raven et al., 2012;

Sengers & Raven, 2015; Späth & Rohracher, 2010). This implies that niche actors can take advantage of local resources as well as broader global trends, and that regimes are reinforced or challenged by a combination of local and national pathways as well as global discourses (Coenen et al., 2012). However, given that most studies of socio-technical change have explored transition processes using national boundaries (mainly focusing on the energy and transport sectors in Germany and the Netherlands), there is a limited understanding of such multi-scalar dynamics in sustainability transitions.

A number of previous conceptual and empirical contributions regarding multiscalarity have been made to fill this research gap, including conceptualisation of local-global interactions in niche development (Sengers & Raven, 2015), introducing spatial dimensions to the MLP framework (Hodson et al., 2016; Raven and the role of global regimes in sustainability transitions et al., 2012) (Fuenfschilling & Binz, 2018). Regarding development of niches, Sengers and Raven (2015) suggest a more scalar and spatially nuanced conceptualisation of the 'local-global niche model' originally developed by (Geels & Raven, 2006). In their conceptualisation they bridge geographic concepts from the literatures on buzzpipelines, global production networks and policy mobilities with the original socialcognitive local-global niche model, in order to enable exploration of the spatial embeddedness as well as the (multi-)scalarity of production, transfer of knowledge and actor networks related to niche development. With regard to the MLP framework, Raven et al. (2012) propose a second generation, multi-scalar MLP framework that, in addition to the original conceptualisations of the temporal and structural scales of socio-technical change, also highlight the spatial scale. Building on the argument that all MLP levels should be seen as multi-scalar structures, they propose that the spatial dimension in the MLP framework could be seen as a relational scale that consists of networks of actors located in various places. Such a view implies that niches, regimes and landscapes are continuously produced and reproduced by interactions between actors across space and time. Furthermore, Hodson et al. (2016) propose complementing the MLP framework with dimensions of scale and (re-)scaling processes through exploration of transition activities at three scales (national, urban and hyper-local) and argue that there is a need for further understanding of how dialogue and exchange between scales, i.e., re-scaling (MacKinnon, 2010; Mansfield, 2005), contributes to sustainability transitions (at the urban scale). Re-scaling processes have been of longstanding interest in human geography and encompass the interplay between socio-institutional as well as techno-economic structures at different scales and how this interplay contributes to reconfiguration of activities and scalar boundaries for a specific phenomenon (Mansfield, 2005), such as socio-technical change (Miörner & Binz, 2021).

In order to study governance and organisation of sustainability transitions, Hodson et al. (2016) suggest a distinction between multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up influences for socio-technical change. They view top-down influences as dominant governance initiatives aimed at market formation for new, more sustainable technologies, which are typically implemented on national or urban scales. These dominant governance initiatives, i.e., institutional configurations, are presumed to outline the direction of socio-technical change as well as set the conditions for how this can unfold. Following different combinations of historically generated priorities and more current economic, environmental and social political agendas, particular institutional configurations are expected to either enable, favour or disenable market formation for more sustainable solutions. While urban institutional configurations mainly influence transition activities at the urban and hyper-local scales, national institutional configurations often influence all three scales.

In contrast, bottom-up influences are seen as alternative responses to top-down governance, which typically stems from transition activities in hyper-local spaces, such as neighbourhoods and community groups. Rather than being driven by an interest in national market formation or financial profits, hyper-local bottom-up initiatives such as grassroots innovations and other forms of civil society involvement typically engage with issues directly affecting the hyper-local space, such as energy or food supply, by forming community energy schemes and co-gardening initiatives. Developing alternatives to conventional solutions, such hyper-local bottom-up initiatives, is presumed to potentially exert influence on socio-technical change at the urban and national scales. Furthermore, these initiatives often have connections with the urban and national as well as EU and metropolitan scales, for example in relation to financial support and collaboration with other actors.

Taking this perspective allows for highlighting the various top-down and bottomup influences that are continuously on-going in and between different scales, and how they influence transition processes. This thesis follows Hodson et al.'s (2016) distinction between top-down and bottom-up influences for sustainability transitions; however, given the international dimensions of the maritime shipping sector, I distinguish between the international, national and regional and local scales. Top-down influences are mainly explored through analysis of global and national policy in studies 1 and 2, while bottom-up influences are primarily studied through cases of niche technology development at the national scale in Study 1, and multi-scalar grassroots innovation activities in Study 3 (see Figure 2).



Figure 2 Overview of scale and top-down vs. bottom-up focus in the three respective studies included in the thesis

Global regime dynamics

Beyond theoretical engagement with the MLP framework, another stream of the literature on multi-scalarity in sustainability transitions takes a configurational perspective on socio-technical change, and highlights the role of global regimes in sustainability transitions. In contrast to early studies of how place-specific conditions influence transition processes differently in different places, the literature on global regimes seek to answer how and why socio-technical change processes develop similarly in different parts of the world, and how global regimes condition sustainability transitions through multi-scalar processes (Fuenfschilling & Binz, 2018; Miörner et al., 2022; Miörner & Binz, 2021). Differing from the conceptualisation of regimes in the MLP framework, the configurational perspective views socio-technical regimes as semi-coherent structures that represent the dominant institutional logic within a socio-technical system (Fuenfschilling & Truffer, 2014; Thornton et al., 2012). Calling for more spatially sensitive conceptualisations of socio-technical regimes, Fuenfschilling and Binz (2018) introduce a conceptualisation of global socio-technical regimes that builds on neoinstitutional theory (Greenwood et al., 2008; Powell & DiMaggio, 1991) and concepts related to global production networks and value chains from human geography (Coe et al., 2004; Gereffi et al., 2005). Previous research within sociology and human geography has showed that institutionalisation of culturalcognitive rationalities can have an international element if the degree of institutionalisation leads to diffusion of rationalities from one place or scale to

another (Bunnell & Coe, 2001; Meyer et al., 1997). Certain sectors, such as large infrastructure sectors (e.g., transport, water and sanitation), are seen to be especially internationally or globally embedded following the internationality of value chains and actor networks. Therefore, it is important to understand how this embeddedness leads to development of shared standardisations of actor networks, value chains and organisational arrangements at the international or global scale, i.e., global regimes. Fuenfschilling and Binz (2018, p. 739) define global regimes as "the dominant institutional rationality in a socio-technical system, which depicts a structural pattern between actors, institutions and technologies that has reached validity beyond specific territorial contexts, and which is diffused through internationalized networks". These dominant global regime structures are likely to be institutionalised and anchored in multiple places and at different scales through incorporation of dominant institutional rationalities in national, regional and local practices, routines, and technological standards. Global regimes are believed to be strongest in sociotechnical systems in which dominant rationalities are translated into international norms and technical standards, and where key actors translate these norms and standards into different contexts. This implies that in sectors with strong global regimes, the configuration of the global regime, rather than place-specific conditions, may be the main influence on the trajectories of sustainability transitions (Miörner & Binz, 2021).

Building on Fuenfschilling and Binz's (2018) conceptualisation of global regimes, Miörner and Binz (2021) introduce a framework conceptualising multi-scalar interactions between global and territorially embedded niches and regimes. In this framework, they conceptualise socio-technical change as a result of two interrelated transition mechanisms that goes beyond the conventional 'local-global niche model': (de-)institutionalisation processes in and between niches and regimes, and re-scaling of institutional rationalities between the global and various territorially embedded scales. Change is achieved through constant negotiation and translation processes between international and territorially embedded layers in socio-technical systems, both with regard to niche and regime rationalities, which may result in changes in power dynamics between actors embedded in different spatial layers of a socio-technical system.

Most previous studies have explored 'local transition trajectories', in which it is assumed that successful niche-regime interplay in territorial (mainly national level) spaces fosters upscaling of niches resulting in regime changes, which, if accumulated with other territorially embedded regimes, also influences changes in the global regime ($C \rightarrow D \rightarrow B$) (Geels, 2002; Geels & Raven, 2006). However, this assumption has been increasingly criticised for giving ontological priority to local and national levels when explaining typical trajectories for sustainability transitions. Miörner and Binz's (2021) framework allows for broader identification of how transition processes unfold spatially, for which they suggest two new trajectories: 'multi-locational diffusion' and 'global advocacy' (see Figure 3). Multi-locational diffusion refers to a trajectory where one or several territorially embedded (local) niches are directly re-scaled into becoming a global niche (C \rightarrow A) rather than influencing changes in local or national regimes. It is also possible that the new global niche becomes institutionalised to such a high degree that a new global regime emerges (C \rightarrow A \rightarrow B). Global advocacy, in contrast, refers to when global niche developments simultaneously are re-scaled downwards to territorially embedded niches (A \rightarrow C) as well as become increasingly institutionalised into global regime structures (A \rightarrow B).



Figure 3 Conceptualisation of potential transition trajectories resulting from re-scaling and (de-) institutionalisation processes

I – Institutions, A – Actors, T – Technologies. Bold, solid lines indicate a deeply institutionalised sociotechnical configuration; dotted lines represent a more emergent, less institutionalised alternative sociotechnical configuration. Source: Miörner and Binz (2021)

In their empirical application of the framework, Miörner and Binz (2021) found that re-scaling of rationalities regarding proposed technologies as well as institutional rationalities across different contexts and scales were key to the global standardisation processes in the water and sanitation sector, that resulted in development of a new global regime. Additional previous empirical work on global regimes in relation to multi-scalar transition dynamics has showed how global regimes related to the chemical industry are institutionalised at the global level while also being locally embedded in Swedish companies (Bauer & Fuenfschilling, 2019).

Furthermore, Miörner et al. (2022) explore spatial diffusion of global regime dynamics in regional contexts through a case study of desalination in the San Diego region and show how global regime solutions are prevailing even in a region with high transformative potential. Similarly, Wesseling et al. (2022) show how dominant global regimes create barriers for radical innovation in the Dutch industrial heat pumps TIS despite national policy support. Yap et al. (2023) studied the emergence of a global regime for handling of space debris, highlighting the competition between national and global regimes before the establishment of a global regime.

However, given that the construction, reproduction and diffusion of global sociotechnical regimes across space remains an understudied topic in sustainability transitions research, there is a need for further conceptualisation and empirical exploration of multi-scalar global regime dynamics. There is also a remaining gap regarding how global regimes are challenged by bottom-up influences such as grassroots innovations and other radical innovations. Furthermore, given that previous studies of global regimes have mainly explored socio-technical change processes in the water and sanitation sectors, there is also a need for broader exploration of other sectors with strong global regimes, such as the aviation and maritime shipping sectors. This thesis contributes to the literature on multi-scalarity and global socio-technical regimes through exploration of a novel empirical case, the maritime shipping sector, a sector that due to the intrinsic internationality of its operations has an exceptionally strong global regime. Global regime dynamics are explored specifically in relation to the technology implications of the global policy mix implemented by the IMO as explored in Paper I, the policy making dynamics associated with member-state negotiations within the IMO in Paper II, and regarding sectoral conditions for development of bottom-up initiatives in Paper IV.

Policy for Sustainability Transitions

Policy interventions directing efforts toward more sustainable socio-technical systems are seen as crucial to enable sustainability transitions (Alkemade et al., 2011; Markard, 2018; Weber & Rohracher, 2012), especially for hard-to-abate sectors (Otto & Oberthür, 2024). In contrast to conventional innovation policy, which often is aimed at maintaining and strengthening the current regime, policy for sustainability transitions strives towards a regime shift (Kemp, 1994). Furthermore, innovation policy typically targets stimulation of general innovation contributing to economic growth, while policy for sustainability transitions seek to stimulate changes and socio-technical solutions that will benefit society at large, such as GHG emission reductions that limit global warming (Alkemade et al., 2011). This implies an analytical focus on system-wide transformations rather than optimizing existing technology-centred innovation systems in ways that address market and system failures (Weber & Rohracher, 2012). However, the impact of policy interventions

on the direction and speed of socio-technical change remains under-explored in sustainability transition studies (Kivimaa & Rogge, 2022; Markard et al., 2012), especially beyond exploration of national level policy.

As a response to calls for further investigation of the role of policy for sustainability transitions, the concept of *policy mixes* has been introduced in the sustainability transitions literature during the last decade (Flanagan et al., 2011; Kern et al., 2019; Kern & Howlett, 2009; Rogge et al., 2017). The term policy mix is used in numerous fields, such as innovation studies and policy analysis (Howlett & Rayner, 2007), and the definitions of policy mix terminology that have been further conceptualised in the sustainability transitions literature mainly stems from innovation studies and the policy analysis literature (Rogge & Reichardt, 2016). Put simply, a policy mix consists of a combination of different policy measures regulating a specific societal challenge, and can be explored at the local and regional, national, supra-national or global levels, as well as multi-scalar governance levels. As previously indicated, the majority of policy mixes on other governance levels as well as multi-scalar dimensions of policy mixes.

Furthermore, early studies of policy mixes within the economic and environmental policy literatures had a narrow focus on understanding the nature of interactions between different policy instruments (Sorrell & Sijm, 2003; Stroick & Jenson, 1999). However, Flanagan et al. (2011) argue that the concept of policy mixes includes more than simply the collected policy instruments, and that the policy mix also relates to the policy processes through which policy instruments are negotiated and implemented. Consequently, studies that limits their analytical focus to examination of how different policy instruments interact with each other should refer to this as an 'instrument mix' rather than a policy mix.

Building on this conceptualisation, Rogge and Reichardt (2016) propose an extended analytical framework for exploration of policy mixes (see Figure 4), in which they distinguish between the policy strategy and instrument mix as two separate policy mix elements. They argue that maintaining the narrow focus on policy instrument interactions and keeping explorations of policy processes separate from studies of policy mixes risks neglecting key policy mix elements or policy processes that could help explain their influence on socio-technical change processes. Therefore, Rogge and Reichardt (2016) furthermore propose that analysis of policy mixes should include policy processes (policy making and implementation) as well as the characteristics of the policy mix (consistency, coherence, credibility, and comprehensiveness).



Figure 4 The extended policy mix framework for analysing interplay between the policy mix and socio-technical change

Source: Rogge and Reichardt (2016)

Policy mix elements

Long-term goals and strategies in policy making have been highlighted as important for enabling sustainability transitions (Foxon & Pearson, 2008; Ouitzow, 2015a; Weber & Rohracher, 2012). Building on conceptualisations from the strategic management literature, Rogge and Reichardt (2016, p. 1623) define the first policy mix element, the *policy strategy*, as "a combination of policy objectives and the principal plans for achieving them". Policy objectives (i.e., targets), could be both long-term targets such as quantified GHG emission reduction targets (Schmidt et al., 2012), as well as visions for the future (del Río et al., 2010; Kemp & Rotmans, 2005) or process and learning objectives (Kemp, 2007; Rotmans et al., 2001), for example relating to developing strategic capacity in regulatory bodies (Quitzow, 2015b). Principal plans relate to strategic documents such as action plans, road maps and guidelines that gives direction to policy making and implementation (Rogge and Reichardt, 2016). Given that a policy strategy sets out the ambition and plan for an intended sustainability transition, an effective policy strategy can be a driver of socio-technical change by guiding actors towards investments as well as innovation and technology implementation relating to the desired socio-technical system configuration. In the TIS literature, this is conceptualised as 'direction of search', which is considered to be one of the key functions for development of TISs (Bergek, Jacobsson, et al., 2008; Hekkert et al., 2007). However, isolated policy targets and strategies, no matter how ambitious they are, have not been sufficient to drive

sustainability transitions (Rogge et al., 2011; Schmidt et al., 2012), indicating that there is a need for implementation of policy instruments that enable achievement of the policy objectives (Rogge and Reichardt, 2016).

The second policy mix element in the extended policy mix framework is therefore the policy instruments that together constitutes the instrument mix. In this framework, policy instruments are seen as the concrete measures, such as bans, emission standards, and feed-in tariffs, as well as funding grants and subventions, that are implemented by regulatory bodies to achieve set policy targets. Previous research indicates that the type of policy instrument (for example, whether it is a regulatory, economic or soft instrument) and aiming at technology push or demand pull, have a crucial impact on the rate of innovation and socio-technical change (e.g., Jaffe et al., 2002; Johnstone et al., 2010; Reguate, 2005). Typically, different types of policy instruments are needed at different stages of innovation processes, and different sectors may need different types of policy instruments depending on specific sector characteristics (Kivimaa & Kern, 2016; Pavitt, 1984), indicating that there is a need for a combination of different types of policy instruments. Given the assumption within sustainability transitions research that socio-technical change requires creation of new configurations of socio-technical systems as well as destabilisation of incumbent socio-technical regimes (Turnheim & Geels, 2012), Kivimaa and Kern (2016) argue that policy mixes for sustainability transitions should include elements of 'creative destruction'.

In practice, this implies introducing policy instruments driving implementation of new, more sustainable technologies (creation), as well as simultaneously withdrawing support for and increasingly regulating old, polluting systems (destruction). Consequently, an ideal policy mix should include a combination of different types of policy instruments, which supports both creation of sociotechnical change and destruction of current, fossil-based socio-technical systems (Rogge and Reichardt, 2016; Kivimaa and Kern, 2016). To conceptually analyse the composition of instrument mixes, Kivimaa and Kern (2016) introduce a framework for exploration of 'motors of creative destruction', which builds on previous conceptualisations of 'motors of innovation' within the TIS literature (Suurs & Hekkert, 2009). They argue that given the urgency of achieving sustainability transitions, there is a need for specific attention to measures targeting active destabilisation of incumbent regimes in addition to policy instruments targeting creation of new socio-technical configurations. Building on previous conceptualisations of functions within a TIS, the framework distinguishes between four categories of destructive policy instruments targeting regime stabilisation (control policies, significant changes in regime rules, reduced support for dominant regime technologies, and changes in social networks and replacement of key actors) and seven categories of creative instruments providing support for niches (knowledge creation, development and diffusion, market formation, priceperformance improvements, entrepreneurial experimentation, resource

mobilisation, legitimation, and influence on the direction of search). In Paper I, we bridge Kivimaa and Kern's (2016) framework with earlier findings regarding the need for a balance between regulatory (laws and other binding regulations), economic (provision of pecuniary incentives and disincentives) and soft (voluntary measures and information provision) instrument to increase the effectiveness of policy mixes (Borrás & Edquist, 2013; Rogge & Reichardt, 2016; Schmidt & Sewerin, 2019).

Policy processes

In their extended policy mix framework, Rogge and Reichardt (2016, p. 1625) view policy processes as a combination of policy making processes and policy implementation, where the former refers to "political problem-solving processes among constrained social actors in the search for solutions to societal problems", and the latter the actual enforcement of specific policy instruments (thereby mainly relating to the instrument mix). The characteristics of the policy strategy and instrument mix are shaped by these policy processes, which determines how the policy elements develop over time and thereby influence socio-technical change (Howlett & Rayner, 2007; Kay, 2006; Majone, 1976). Given the complexity and uncertainty of sustainability transitions, policy-making processes should include elements of learning and adaption of policy, which include monitoring and evaluation of the impact of policy strategies and instruments in order to achieve an effective policy mix (Kemp, 2011; Kemp et al., 2007; Rogge & Reichardt, 2016). Policy making is seen as an inherently political process in which various types of actors are involved, which are typically resistant to change, and requires extensive negotiation to achieve radical changes in the policy mix (Unruh, 2002). This indicates that policy implementation may be hindered by lack of political consensus as well as insufficient implementation structures, causing delays in implementation or the introduction of misguided policy instruments. This may also be one of the reasons that new instruments supporting creation of niches and socio-technical change are typically simply added to existing regulatory frameworks rather than replacing instruments supporting the incumbent socio-technical regime (Kern & Howlett, 2009), and thus do not achieve creative destruction in policy mixes. In previous studies of policy processes in relation to sustainability transitions, there has been an empirical emphasis on national governments as the primary policy maker, indicating that there is a gap to be filled regarding policy mixes implemented by regulatory bodies at other governance levels such as the EU or UN agencies. This gap is addressed in Paper I.

Policy mix characteristics

Finally, Rogge and Reichardt (2016) suggest that the *characteristics* of policy mixes may impact their effectiveness and efficiency. They provide conceptualisations for four different characteristics: the *coherence* of policy processes, the *consistency* of policy elements, and the *credibility* and *comprehensiveness* of a policy mix;

proposing that a higher rate of the respective characteristics positively influences the effectiveness of a policy mix. The coherence of policy processes relates to the coherence across different policy fields and governance levels, which depends on the systematic capabilities of policy makers to implement consistent, comprehensive and credible policy mixes. Credibility refers to the legitimacy of the overall policy mix and the specific elements (policy strategy and instruments) as well as policy processes surrounding a policy mix. High credibility is associated with, for example, a strong engagement and commitment from political leadership or a clear connection between policy strategy and policy instruments. The consistency of elements refers to degree of alignment within and between policy elements and is conceptualised at three levels: consistency of the a. policy strategy, b. instrument mix, and c. overall policy mix (referring to the relationship between the policy strategy and the instrument mix). Comprehensiveness, meaning the extensiveness of the policy mix, is also assessed for the policy strategy, instrument mix and overall policy mix (Rogge & Reichardt, 2016). Despite the ascribed importance of policy mix characteristics, to date, very limited empirical work has been devoted to understanding the implications of policy mix characteristics on sustainability transitions. Recent empirical studies have found that a high degree of comprehensiveness contributes to the effectiveness of the policy mix and thereby drives innovation (Costantini et al., 2017), while less comprehensive policy mixes have been found to maintain status quo (Sanz-Hernández et al., 2020). Related to this, Reichardt and Rogge (2016) argue that a lack of comprehensiveness may be compensated by stronger presence of other policy mix characteristics such as credibility. With regard to policy mix consistency, empirical studies have shown that a higher degree of consistency increases the efficiency of policy mixes, for example when it comes to investments in technology development and implementation (Liu et al., 2024; Reichardt & Rogge, 2016; Rogge & Schleich, 2018). Based on their exploration of the consistency, coherence, comprehensiveness and credibility of vertical policy mixes in the Latvian electricity sector, Zepa and Hoffmann (2023) show discrepancies between national and local governance levels and EU policy with regard to coherence of policy processes, as well as a lack of comprehensiveness and credibility as a result of limited political consensus, which hinders a transition towards renewable electricity. However, given identified challenges regarding the operationalisation and evaluation of policy mix characteristics, such as how to assess the interplay between the respective characteristics (Rogge, 2019), there is still a need for a further conceptual and empirical understanding of the historical development of policy mix characteristics and their influence on socio-technical change.

4. Shipping as a socio-technical system

In this chapter, a conceptual overview of the key socio-technical elements of the conventional maritime shipping sector is presented, in order to highlight the complexity of this hard-to-abate sector and outline remaining research gaps. Starting with the institutions, including regulatory frameworks as well as cultural and societal norms, the chapter then moves on to the networks of actors involved in the shipping industry. Following this, an overview of the main material artefacts, technologies and infrastructure, as well as markets and user practices is presented. In addition to describing the current status of these socio-technical elements, the chapter also provides a historical perspective including changes in the socio-technical system since the implementation of the first global regulatory framework regulating emissions to air from international shipping in 2005. The chapter concludes with a comparison of the main differences between the prerequisites for previous propulsion technology shifts and the impending shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies, as well as an elaboration on the research focus for this thesis.

Socio-technical system elements

Institutions

Cultural and societal norms

Being one of the oldest professions, the culture of the shipping sector holds many traditions and well-anchored norms and values. In general, the shipping sector is seen as conservative, hierarchical and male dominated (Shea, 2005). However, shipping is an international and diverse industry, implying that values vary between nations, shipowners and captains. Shea (2005) found that the regulatory environment and the economic conditions for shipping (such as freight rates) are two major influences for the on board organisational culture. The often multi-cultural and -lingual setting for on board crews furthermore provides a challenge for developing and improving ship culture (Progoulaki & Theotokas, 2016).

Environmental and especially climate awareness has previously not been very high on the general agenda within the shipping sector. Taking comfort in the fact that the shipping sector transports around 90% of global cargo while only contributing about 3% of the yearly global GHG emissions, it has been argued that energy efficiency measures are a sufficient contribution for the shipping industry (Burel et al., 2013). However, since the introduction of the initial IMO GHG Strategy in 2018, things are starting to change: several large shipowners are stating ambitious climate ambitions and taking initiatives to implement alternative propulsion technology (Maersk, 2021; Sjöström, 2021; Stena Line, 2021). Furthermore, shipowners are increasingly acknowledging that the coming generation of crew members have higher demands when it comes to emission performance and company values, and as being an attractive employer for future generations is important to most shipowners this is a driver for change (Newman, 2020). Although the connection between organisational culture on board and safety has been researched extensively (Ek et al., 2014; Lu et al., 2016), the implications of environmental and climate awareness within the shipping sector, such as attitudes to new technology, is yet an understudied topic (Giziakis & Christodoulou, 2012; Newman, 2020; Saether et al., 2021).

Regulatory institutions

Being an international sector, the shipping sector is regulated on several governance levels. The IMO, initiated in 1948 and formally established in 1959, is one of the specialised agencies of the UN, whose aim is to regulate international shipping (IMO, 2020). As all UN specialised agencies, it is a member-state-led organisation with a complex governance model. The key feature to investigate in order to understand how the IMO functions, and also differs from other UN bodies, is how power structures mainly are influenced by individual nations' registered tonnage (representing the goods-carrying capacity of a fleet of ships) rather than national population or GDP (Corbett et al., 2020). This results in the shipping sector being practically self-regulating (The International Federation of Shipmasters' Associations, 2014). Furthermore, due mainly to tax reasons, shipowners often register their ship(s) in countries with open registration (such as Panama and the Bahamas) – a phenomenon called 'flag of convenience'.¹ This implies that the mandates do not truly represent the geographical location of shipowners, and that some small states hold disproportional clout in negotiations (Corbett et al., 2020).

In the first years, the IMO's main responsibility was to ensure safety at sea by establishing traffic rules, requirements for safety equipment, a global search and rescue system, etc. While this still remains the main focus, the organisation's responsibilities have been expanded. Article 1(a) of the IMO Convention states that

¹ A term stemming from the tradition, and legal requirement, of displaying the flag of the nation which the ship is registered in at the aft (the rear end) of the ship.

the purposes of the organisation are "to provide machinery for cooperation among Governments in the field of governmental regulation and practices relating to technical matters of all kinds affecting shipping engaged in international trade; to encourage and facilitate the general adoption of the highest practicable standards in matters concerning maritime safety, efficiency of navigation and prevention and control of marine pollution from ships". The IMO began work with environmental regulation during the 1970's with the formation of the Marine Environmental Protection Committee (MEPC), which developed the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) (IMO, 2019).

Although signed in 1973, MARPOL did not come into force until 1983, at the time constituted by one annex on the prevention of oil pollution. In the following years, additional annexes were added, covering prevention of pollution by noxious liquid substances, harmful substances, as well as sewage and garbage from ships. With regard to air emissions from ships, the regulatory process was initiated in parallel with the Kyoto Protocol negotiations in 1997. The Kyoto Protocol established that IMO shall be responsible for regulatory action on GHG emission reduction from international shipping (UNFCCC, 1997), and processes to draft a new annex of MARPOL were initiated later in 1997. This annex, now known as Annex VI -Prevention of Air Pollution from Ships (hereafter MARPOL Annex VI), aimed to regulate emissions of GHG and air polluting substances like sulphur oxides and nitrogen oxides. Several member states (for example, Norway) had already been raising the issue of acid rain due to emissions from shipping to the IMO for a number of years, and with the initiation of a new annex, air pollution became institutionalised through regulation. The negotiations regarding the type and level of regulation at the IMO was a lengthy process. Finally, eight years later, MARPOL Annex VI came into force in 2005. Initially, regulation focused on limiting emission of air pollutants (mainly sulphur and nitrogen oxides). In 2013, a number of instruments aiming to improve the energy efficiency of individual ships was introduced as a first attempt at regulating GHG emissions from ships. These measures came into force in 2015; however, to date, they still only apply to certain types of vessels, reflecting the challenge of regulating the diverse global fleet (Resolution MEPC.203(62)).

The Paris agreement, signed in 2015, replaces the Kyoto Protocol, and sets the ambition for global climate action to keep the global warming well below a 2°C increase from pre-industrial levels, and to attempt limiting the increase to 1.5°C. Although the Paris agreement solely requires nations to take action to decrease their GHG emissions, it calls upon the IMO to voluntarily implement regulation for international GHG emission from ships (UNFCCC, 2015). An IMO working group on GHG emissions from ships was formed in 2008, with the task of proposing emission-reduction measures. Following up on the Paris Agreement, the work of the GHG working group accelerated, and an Initial IMO GHG Strategy was presented in 2018 and further updated in 2023 (Bullock et al., 2020; IMO, 2018, 2023). The

updated strategy states the ambition to reduce the CO_2 emissions/transport work by 40% (compared to 2008), as well a 20% reduction of total annual GHG emissions by 2030. More long-term, the strategy sets reduction targets for at least 70% (aiming for 80%) reduction of total annual GHG emissions by 2040 and net-zero GHG emissions from international shipping by or around 2050 (IMO, 2023). From 1 January 2018, large ships are obligated to report their GHG emissions to the IMO DCS database (Resolution MEPC.278(70)), and a few short-term measures addressing GHG have been decided upon and partially implemented since then (IMO, 2018; Resolution MEPC.336(76)).

The EU has become an increasingly important regulatory actor for the shipping sector in the last 20 years through its environmental legislation. The European shipowners affected by EU regulation control 39.5 % of the global fleet, and shipping makes up 76% of EU's external trade and 32% of its internal trade (European Community Shipowners' Association, 2020). Although not a member of IMO, the European Commission holds observation status during IMO negotiations and has influence through the EU member states, which are all members of IMO (Nengye & Maes, 2010). Furthermore, regulatory processes within the EU seemingly have an impact on IMO regulation, as EU legislation typically is stricter (at least initially), which drives sharpening of international regulation (J. J. Smith & Tanveer Ahmad, 2018). Apart from incorporating IMO regulation in the EU regulatory framework, the EU has also implemented additional regional measures such as regulating sulphur emissions in ports (Directive 2012/33) and the EU Monitoring, Reporting and Verification (MRV) scheme for CO₂ emissions from the shipping sector (Regulation 2015/757). The EU are currently accelerating their policy work around regulating shipping emissions, mainly by including shipping in the EU Emission Trading Scheme (Directive 2003/87). The European Green Deal furthermore includes several measures enabling cargo owners and consumers to put pressure on shipping companies to decrease their emissions (European Community Shipowner's Associations, 2020). Furthermore, national maritime authorities have the mandate to implement regional measures such as environmentally differentiated fairway fees and mandatory use of shore power supply (Vierth & Johansson, 2020). Ports, both publicly as well as privately owned, also have the possibility to introduce measures addressing ships emissions, for example, differentiated harbour fees (Styhre et al., 2019).

Furthermore, in addition to being responsible for implementing IMO regulation in the national regulatory framework, national maritime authorities (or in IMO terms, 'flag states') have the possibility to implement national legislation regulating shipping in national waters and ports. Flag states are also responsible for ensuring regulatory compliance on board nationally registered ships, as well as ships calling at the nation's ports (Hoffmann et al., 2020). Classification societies are nongovernmental organisations (NGOs) that are responsible for developing maritime standards and technical specifications, based on IMO regulation. They are also responsible for issuing mandatory and voluntary certificates as instructed by the IMO. Individual classification societies may be granted observer status at IMO negotiations, and the International Association of Classification Societies has acted as a consultant for the IMO since 1969 (Chircop, 2019).

Networks of actors

Shipowners and shipowner associations have been important actors which have had major impact on the shipping industry for a long time, and are granted observer status during IMO negotiations (Chircop, 2019). In addition, larger shipowner associations, such as the European Community Shipowners' Associations and the International Chamber of Shipping, act as consultants for the IMO, collecting material for IMO Committees (Corbett et al., 2020). Shipowner associations also function as knowledge networks, providing opportunities for diffusion of new technology. Ships' crews are self-evidently essential for operating the ships. With the implementation of alternative propulsion technology, crews play a crucial part in the actual handling of the new systems and will need education to widen their competence. Among technology suppliers there is an ongoing shift: new suppliers specialized in specific low- and zero-carbon solutions are entering the shipping sector, while conventional suppliers either decide to expand their services to include new technology or continue their business as usual (Steen et al., 2019).

Several external actors are becoming increasingly important in the decarbonisation of the maritime sector, such as cargo owners who are progressively placing requests and show willingness to pay for climate neutral shipping (Poulsen et al., 2016). For example, strong customer demand for zero-emission transport of luxury goods such as fairtrade coffee and cacao has created a window of opportunity for traditional sail cargo ships to make a return in the modern world (De Beukelaer, 2023). Furthermore, external investors are starting to include climate initiatives in their investment assessments, and insurance companies are also increasingly investigating how climate change and alternative propulsion technology will affect insurance policies (Scott, 2019).

Material artefacts

Technology

The large two-stroke combustion engine fuelled with heavy fuel oil has been the dominant technology for the shipping sector since the 1950s. Technology development has historically been focused around improving engine efficiency and decreasing fuel consumption, as well as hull optimization aimed at decreasing friction – initially motivated by keeping fuel costs low, and later also required by the regulatory framework (International Chamber of Shipping, 2020). In light of the

implementation of MARPOL Annex VI, Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) has gained traction as a ship fuel in the last decade. However, LNG is a fossil fuel which emits CO_2 (although less than heavy fuel oil) as well as methane (an even more potent GHG), implying that in order to achieve decarbonisation of the shipping sector alternative low- and zero-carbon propulsion technologies are necessary. Within the shipping sector, there is consensus that there will be a need for several types of future fuels to cover the great energy demand of the global fleet (DNV GL, 2019; Osterkamp et al., 2021). Currently, pilot testing, experimentation and small-scale implementation of several new (and old) types of alternative propulsion are ongoing; for example, wind-assisted propulsion and sailing ships, hydrogen, ammonia, methanol, LBG, battery-electric systems, etc. (DNV GL, 2019). In parallel, the work around energy efficiency for conventional propulsion is ongoing, and the overall carbon intensity for global shipping has improved by 29% since 2008. However, since 2015 the pace of carbon intensity reduction has decreased to an average annual decrease of between 1% and 2%, and the total emissions from the shipping sector is continuously increasing (IMO, 2020).

Infrastructure

In the last century, the global shipping fleet has grown not only in number of ships, but also in terms of cargo capacity, further establishing the shipping sector as a large socio-technical system enabling globalisation (Hughes, 1987; Levinson, 2016). The typical lifespan of a ship varies between 15 to 40 years, depending on the type of ship. In 2018, the average age of scrapped ships was 28 years (Clarksons Research, 2019). This has two main implications for the socio-technical system: first, technology changes take a relatively long time to implement due to the low turn-over, decreasing the speed of transitions (Bullock et al., 2020). Second, making decisions about propulsion technologies is currently a tremendous challenge due to uncertainty regarding future fuel options and their availability. Furthermore, this implies that there will be a need to retrofit ships within the current fleet in addition to construction of new ships with alternative, sustainable propulsion technology (International Chamber of Shipping, 2020), as the majority of the ships in the current global fleet will still constitute the largest part of the fleet in 2030 (Bullock et al., 2020).

When MARPOL Annex VI, the first international regulatory framework governing emissions to air from international shipping, came into force in 2005, heavy fuel oil had already been the dominant ship fuel for more than 50 years and bunker infrastructure was well established, implying a great risk of technological lock-in (Unruh, 2000, 2002). The new regulation of air emissions was the first to require changes in the infrastructure system, especially through the increasingly strict regulation of fuel sulphur content, which called for distribution of low-sulphur fuels. The increased interest in LNG requires construction of new types of ship engines as well as bunker infrastructure – which is currently a rapidly growing process (SEA-

LNG, 2021). Since LNG had already been used as fuel for ships carrying LNG as cargo, engine and fuel storage systems were already available for diffusion to other ships, which can be seen as a case of path dependency (Klitkou et al., 2015; Steen et al., 2019). The shift to multiple alternative propulsion technologies beyond LNG constitutes a major challenge when it comes to fuel production as well as distribution infrastructure. Countries and regions with different geographical contexts and access to (mainly natural) resources have varying challenges and opportunities for implementing alternative solutions. Historically, it has been shown that transitions often start out smaller in scale: among the first steam ships were, for example, steam tugs in harbours (Geels, 2002). This is also reflected in current transitions, such as the experiments with alternative propulsion for car- and passenger road ferries in Norway (Bach et al., 2020; Sjøtun, 2019). To summarize: following the need for various fuels, bunker infrastructure and ship propulsions systems, it is likely that several socio-technical configurations will develop around the shipping sector in the future.

Markets and user practices

As the main purpose of shipping is to transport goods, the maritime industry is naturally interdependent on the markets of these various types of cargo; for example, as the need for different types of ships (such as container, tanker, bulk cargo) varies over time, or the development of shipping rates (Levinson, 2016). This is especially the case for the oil market, which is intertwined with the shipping sector in several ways. Apart from using heavy fuel oil as fuel and thereby being dependent on fuel market fluctuations and the availability of bunker infrastructure, the majority of global oil is transported by ship. A large part of the oil is traded on the so-called spot market, which implies that a tanker ship may get the order to steam towards port A, only to be redirected to port B upon arrival at port A, as their cargo has been purchased by a new company (Prochazka et al., 2019). Furthermore, flows of goods have increasingly become an important aspect of route planning since ships are no longer dependent on wind direction and speed nor the access to fuel. In the decades before the implementation of MARPOL Annex VI, access to fuel was rarely an issue (Endresen et al., 2007). With the implementation of alternative fuels, it is likely that there will be some tension between access to fuel infrastructure and cargo flows when planning shipping routes. The implementation of new fuels will also require new practices around handling of fuels and technical systems on board, implying a need for increased knowledge regarding several types of systems as well as education of crews (Steen et al., 2019).

Differences between previous and current transitions

Returning to the historical overview of transitions in the shipping sector presented in the beginning of chapter 2, there are some important reflections to be made regarding differences between previous transitions and the impending transitions in ship propulsion technologies. First, the directionality for impending transitions differs immensely from historical transitions. Historically, important drivers have been increased speed, reliable arrival and departure schedules, increased range and fuel cost reductions (Endresen et al., 2007; Geels, 2002). In contrast, the pressure to decarbonise shipping emanates from a societal pressure for climate change mitigation, indicating a need for a different type of policy incentives to enable sociotechnical change with regard to propulsion technologies. In relation to this, the societal pressure for decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector includes an element of urgency that has not been present during previous technology shifts. Taking the long lifespans of ships into consideration, it is evident that implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies needs to be expedited in order to enable the achievement of decarbonisation in line with the Paris Agreement.



Figure 5 Overview of historical transitions in the shipping sector from early 19th century to 20th century (ships not to exact scale)

Second, the scale and degree of institutionalisation of the shipping sector has increased dramatically since the transition from sail ships to steamships (see Figure 5). In the past, the global fleet included far fewer, and smaller, ships. With the introduction of the steam engine, the growth of the global fleet began to increase (Geels, 2002). By the time the transition to diesel and heavy fuel oil started, the global fleet had grown remarkably and included around 20 000 ships – but was still

small compared to today (Endresen et al., 2007). Following more efficient modes of cargo handling, such as container systems, international trade grew explosively during the 1970s, bringing more and more ships onto the oceans (Levinson, 2016). Presently, 90% of the world's trade is at one point transported by any of the approximately 105 500 ships within the global fleet (DNV, 2024a). This implies that the scale of the global fleet, both in terms of number of ships and their cargo capacity, is much larger now and will require great amounts of alternative fuels.

Third, there is no silver bullet propulsion technology to replace fossil fuels, as none of the more sustainable propulsion technologies will be available in sufficient quantities. This implies that there is a need for portfolio of propulsion technologies, such as hydrogen, methanol, and wind assisted propulsion solutions. Shifting from one main propulsion technology to multiple solutions promises to be very complex with regard to regulatory as well as practical aspects of innovation and implementation processes. Furthermore, it is projected that the price of more sustainable propulsion technologies will be significantly higher than conventional fossil fuels (Solakivi et al., 2022), implying that the shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies is associated with increasing investment as well as operation costs, in contrast to the reduced costs following the shift to combustion engines running on heavy fuel oil.



Figure 6 Overview of empircal focus regarding the respective socio-technical elements in the thesis' three studies

This thesis unpacks parts of the complexity associated with the socio-technical system of the maritime shipping sector, and studies how multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up processes influence socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the global maritime shipping sector. Based on three empirical studies, which will be

presented in more detail in the next chapter, this thesis explores changes within all four key socio-technical system elements: institutions, networks of actors, material artefacts, and markets and user practices. While the first study takes a TIS perspective and thereby explores the socio-technical system as a whole, the study primarily focuses on socio-technical change in relation to institutions and material artefacts (see Figure 6). The second study is concerned with institutional developments, while the third study focuses on networks of actors as well as markets and user practices.

5. Methodology

In this section, I present an overview of the methodological approach for three empirical studies that the papers in this thesis are based on; more detailed descriptions of the respective methodological approaches can be found in the papers. My research takes a predominantly qualitative starting point, and the research design includes document analysis, semi-structured interviews, and participant observations in various combinations. As sketched out in the previous chapter, I investigate socio-technical change processes in relation to the institutions, networks of actors, material artefacts, and market and user practices that are part of socio-technical configurations in the maritime shipping industry.

Positionality

When starting my research on the shift to sustainable shipping, I already had some prior knowledge of the maritime shipping sector, both from maritime navigation studies, as well as working and sailing on various types of ships, including traditional sailing ships and coastal sightseeing boats, in parallel to my studies in environmental and sustainability science. During my time at sea, the environmental and sustainability issues associated with the continued use of conventional fossil fuels, as well as the challenges of shifting to more sustainable propulsion technologies, were right before my eyes. Eventually, these experiences contributed to my motivation for pursuing a PhD project focused on the shift to sustainable shipping. Throughout the project, my previous experiences have proven beneficial in multiple ways. First, having a practical understanding of how maritime law and regulations are organised and enforced has helped tremendously in the parts of my research focused on policy at national (Study 1) and international (Study 2) levels, while practical knowledge from working on board different types of ships has been beneficial regarding understanding socio-technical challenges with implementing new, alternative propulsion systems (Study 1). In addition, being familiar with the peculiarities associated with operating around century-old traditional sailing ships, such as the sail cargo ships studied in the third study, allowed for a unique insight into potential challenges these initiatives face, as well as facilitating trust building with interview respondents.

Furthermore, my normative standpoint is that it is necessary to shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies as well as decrease shipping volumes in order to decrease GHG emissions from the maritime shipping sector and thereby contribute to preserving a liveable planet for future generations. This standpoint has influenced the choices made regarding the focus of the three empirical studies that the papers of this thesis are based on, and the research questions asked, in two main ways. First, given that I perceive that there is, in addition to technology innovation, an urgent need to identify socio-technical barriers to as well as drivers for transitions from conventional fossil fuels to alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies, the first two studies explore how international and national policy influences implementation of specific propulsion technologies. Exploring this from a normative standpoint allows for identification of barriers to and drivers for a shift to more sustainable shipping, while also identifying shortcomings in policy processes that can be improved upon. Second, about half-way through this PhD project, it became clear to me that current policy incentives are insufficient to drive implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies, and I became increasingly frustrated with the slow progress towards more sustainable propulsion technologies in the shipping sector. This led to a desire to explore sustainability initiatives outside of the conventional shipping industry, in order to identify examples of initiatives that go beyond regulatory requirements as well as give hope for the future. Ultimately, this desire contributed to the decision to study grassroots initiatives which are proposing a return to traditional sail cargo ships in the third and final study of this thesis. This allowed for identification of alternative sustainable shipping pathways that can inspire radical innovation in the maritime shipping industry both in relation to propulsion technologies as well as changing shipping patterns and decreasing shipping volumes.

While taking a normative standpoint provides opportunities to identify of previously understudied topics and is typical for sustainability transitions studies, it is also associated with risks, such as confirmation bias and positive or negative bias towards specific opinions, narratives or socio-technical solutions. Throughout this PhD project, I have applied strategies to mitigate the risk of potential biases by including rigorous empirical material from multiple data sources in each study, as well as through validation and triangulation between data sources, such as confirming results from document analysis with interview respondents and crosschecking between multiple organisations or types of actors.

Philosophical underpinnings

The research in this thesis is guided by the philosophy of science perspective critical realism. This perspective was popularised in human geography by Sayer (1985, 1992), and has become an influential philosophical perspective within the field

(Pratt, 1995; Yeung, 1997). Critical realism has also been pointed to as a relevant philosophical perspective for sustainability transitions research (Geels, 2022; Papachristos, 2018; Sorrell, 2018; Svensson & Nikoleris, 2018). Within the critical realism perspective, a core principle is that the world exists independently of our theories and knowledge of it, implying that our experience of certain empirical objects should not be confused with the actual object (Bhaskar, 1975). A simple illustration of this is that the shift in thinking from the Earth being flat to the Earth being a sphere did not in fact change the actual shape of the planet (Sayer, 2000). Following this notion, critical realists distinguish between transitive (theories about objects) and the intransitive (the actual objects) dimensions. The transitive dimension encompasses our subjective experiences of reality, manifested in the scholarly concepts and theories researchers use to explain the world. This would include concepts and theories explaining socio-technical change and the geography of sustainability transitions in this thesis. In contrast, the intransitive dimension represents the 'real world' as independent from these concepts and theories (Bhaskar, 1975). In line with previous critical realists, I recognise that a researcher's understanding of the world is inevitably always subjective, relative and constructed by the individual (Stutchbury, 2022), implying that research results can be fallible and that our knowledge of the world should be subject to constant revision (Pratt, 1995). Likewise, interview participants share their perceptions of this 'real world' based on their experiences, intentions and understandings. Yet, the critical realist position is that the researcher should always strive to get as close to 'objectivity' as possible, by including multiple methods and fallible data sources that can be triangulated (Saver, 2000).

Another core principle within critical realism is that in order to understand why and how an event has occurred, it is insufficient to solely study the event in isolation. Rather, it is assumed that observable events occur as a result of various structural interactions. As these structures are at times not directly observable (Lawani, 2021), critical realists apply a stratified ontological perspective in which reality consists of three levels/domains: the empirical, the actual and the real (Bhaskar, 1978). From a critical realist point of view, knowledge about a certain phenomenon, such as the shift away from fossil fuels to more sustainable propulsion technologies in the maritime shipping sector, is stratified around these three domains. However, the domains should be viewed as separate, yet nested, layers which "are ordered, not just jumbled up together" (Collier, 1994, p. 46). The empirical domain includes people's experiences and observations, i.e., interpretations, of events, and is considered a sub-set of the actual domain, which represents the events that occur as a result of causal powers associated with the deep structures and underlying causal mechanisms that constitute the *real* domain (Lawani, 2021; Sayer, 2000). The actual domain lies below the surface and thereby exists whether it is being observed or not – but can be explored through observations and interviews (Stutchbury, 2022), as in this thesis. In contrast, the physical, social, psychological, or conceptual structures and mechanisms that constitute the *real* domain cannot be directly

observed (Mingers & Standing, 2017; Sayer, 2000). This implies that the real domain, i.e., the structures that influence the *actual* and the *empirical* domains, must be understood through a process of retroduction. In practice, this means that the researcher should go back and forth between the collected empirical material and previous conceptual explanations of the studied phenomena; i.e., apply an iterative research approach, to enable identification of underlying structures and mechanisms that could help explain why an event unfolded in a particular way (Stutchbury, 2022). In doing so, researchers are able to relate events studied in the empirical domain to the actual and real domains, which requires researchers to develop and test conceptual explanations of causality. This ultimately allows for theory development as it is possible for the researcher to revisit and reconfigure existing theories and concepts (Maxwell, 2012). For example, in Study 2, the *empirical* and actual domains have been explored through interviews discussing respondents' views on how certain (combinations of) policy instruments have provided (dis-)incentives for investments in particular propulsion technologies. Through retroduction, these explorations have contributed to identification of underlying structures in the *real* domain that relates to the shipping industry's strong global regime, thereby contributing to advancing our conceptual and empirical understanding of socio-technical change in sectors with strong global regimes.

The critical realist view of causality differs from alternative, more deterministic perspectives in other philosophies of science in that causality is not seen as equal to regularity of events. Rather, causality is associated with the causal powers of the structures and mechanisms in the *real* domain as well as human agency (Sayer, 2000). It is furthermore argued that underlying structures and mechanisms are context dependent, implying that they will be different across time and space, and that the same causal powers will not always lead to the same effect in different contexts (Reed, 2005). In addition, the critical realist approach highlights the subjectivity in the identification and assessment of causal mechanisms, as this is dependent on the researcher's interpretation (Stutchbury, 2022). Although critical realism does not stipulate using certain methods, Sayer (2000) argues strongly that the intensive nature of qualitative work is favourable for abstraction of causal mechanisms and developing a further understanding of how certain objects or events occur in specific places.

Research Design

My research takes a predominantly qualitative starting point, complemented by quantitative elements; the main research design includes document analysis, semistructured interviews, and participant observations in various combinations in the three studies and the papers included in the thesis (see Table 1 for an overview). The predominantly qualitative approach was chosen as it allows for in-depth analysis of (ongoing) change processes (Sayer, 1992), as well as utilising an iterative research approach which can contribute to theory development (Sayer, 1992, 2000).

	Olday	Study Z	Study 5
Researchers	GREENFLEET Research team	H. Bach & T. Hansen	H. Bach
Empirical context	Biofuel implementation in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector	IMO's global policy mix regulating emissions to air from international shipping	Multi-national bottom-up sail cargo initiatives operating internationally
Conceptual frame	Technological Innovation Systems	Policy mix characteristics	Grassroots innovations for sustainability transitions
Methods and material	74 semi-structured interviews with shipowners, shipyards, technology suppliers, public agencies, and local governments; average length 70 minutes (range 25-120 mins)	8 semi-structured interviews with shipowners, shipowner associations, national maritime authority, classification society and the IMO; average length 60 mins (range 49-93 mins)	19 semi-structured interviews with founders and members of grassroots innovation initiatives, cargo costumers, and intermediaries; average length 62 mins (range 19-166 mins)
	Firm survey including 334 Norwegian shipowners surveying their priorities and expectations regarding implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies Bibliometric analysis of Norwegian publications covering novel propulsion technologies	16 legislative text and policy documents Observations from 24 webinars and industry conferences	 10 field visits in combination with interviews and including unstructured field observations 85 texts including blog entries, reports, press releases, newsletters and news articles Digital observations of social media posts
	Patent analysis of patents related to novel propulsion technologies acquired by actors related to the Norwegian coastal shipping sector		
	European funded R&D projects related to alternative propulsion technologies and the Norwegian coastal shipping sector		

Table 1 Overview of methods and mat	erial for the three emp	pirical studies included in the the	sis
Study 1	Study 2	Study 3	

Study 1: Biofuel implementation in Norwegian coastal shipping

The first study for this thesis is a case study of technology implementation in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector, which provides the basis for Paper III. The study is part of a larger study conducted within the research project *Greening the Fleet* – *Sustainability transitions in the maritime shipping* sector *(GREENFLEET)*. The larger study was initiated in 2015 and ran until 2020, I began my involvement in the project in January 2019.

Case selection

This study zooms in on the Norwegian coastal shipping sector to investigate the status of implementation of four alternative propulsion solutions: biodiesel, LBG, battery-electric and hydrogen. The exploration of the first two of these technologies - biodiesel and LBG - forms the basis of Paper III; the others are reported on in other publications by the project team (see Bach et al., 2020; Steen et al., 2019). Applying a TIS perspective, Paper III presents assessments of the status of implementation of biodiesel and LBG, respectively. Following their high GHG emission reduction ambitions in public policy, as well as work to implement alternative propulsion technologies, certain countries such as Norway and Denmark are considered front-runner countries for the shift to sustainable shipping. For example, the Norwegian government has set a national 50% GHG emissions reduction (compared to 2005) target for maritime transport by 2030, whereas the IMO at the time of the study only aimed for a 50% reduction (compared to 2008) by 2050.² To reach their targets, the Norwegian government has also implemented policy instruments to support innovation and implementation of alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies. This national context, therefore, offers the opportunity to study ongoing technology innovation and implementation processes that can contribute to knowledge building and potentially accelerate similar transitions in other regions or globally.

Furthermore, studying the implementation status of biofuels (biodiesel and LBG) offers the opportunity to explore sectoral cross-technology externalities stemming from technological alignment with their fossil fuel equivalents (different forms of marine diesel oils and LNG). Biofuels are believed to play an important role (at least short-term) in reducing GHG emissions from the maritime shipping sector and have been forecasted to amount to around 20% of the future fuel mix for international shipping (DNV GL, 2019; Kirstein et al., 2018); therefore it is important to explore processes around their implementation and how this relates to structures surrounding existing technologies. Through exploration of positive and negative externalities for different aspects of the two respective TISs, the study provides

² As part of the revision of the IMO GHG Strategy presented in July 2023, the emission reduction targets were revised and now aims for net-zero GHG emissions by or around 2050 (IMO, 2023).

further insight into the connection between emerging and existing technologies in innovation processes related to sustainability transitions.

Data collection

The main material for the first study consists of interview data from 74 semistructured interviews performed over four years (2015-2019), of which 17 interviews in particular have informed the findings in Paper III. Most of the larger sample of interviews covered a broad range of topics related to implementation of low- and zero-carbon propulsion technologies in Norwegian coastal shipping in general, while 4 interviews were specifically focused on biofuels, and 13 interviews covered multiple technologies including biofuels. Following a purposive sampling approach, a broad variety of senior level representatives of key actors within the Norwegian coastal shipping sector were approached. The main advantage of purposive sampling is the opportunity to target key informants with specialist knowledge and experience, enabling the collection of relevant empirical material. However, this sampling approach has a subjective element, as it relies on researcher assessment of the relevance of potential interview respondents, as well as snowball referral from other respondents. This may result in biased material, impacting the research quality negatively (Crouse & Lowe, 2018; Oliver, 2006). To reduce the risk of bias and its potential impact on the validity to of the research, it is recommended to perform triangulation between multiple sources of empirical material (Maxwell, 2012). In Paper III, the interview data were therefore supplemented by and triangulated with additional sources of material: (1) a bibliometric analysis of Norwegian publications covering novel propulsion technologies (Heiberg, 2017a); (2) an analysis of EU funded research and development (R&D) projects between 1998 and 2017 (Tsouri, 2018); (3) an analysis of patents applied for biofuel related technology by Norwegian actors (Heiberg, 2017b); as well as (4) a firm survey answered by representatives from 334 Norwegian shipowners that was conducted as part of the larger study (see Appendix A). While all these sources shed light on the structural dimensions and functions within the biofuel TISs, the bibliometric analysis and patent analysis were specifically performed to identify crucial actors and networks that influence activities related to two TIS functions; knowledge development and diffusion, as well as the direction of search.

The final set of interviewees included representatives from firms (e.g., shipowners, shipyards, ship designers, technology suppliers, and fuel producers), public agencies, interest organisations, research institutes, universities, and non-governmental organisations that represent all aspects of the socio-technical systems for the respective biofuels (see Appendix A for a full list of interview respondents). The respondents representing firms were typically CEOs, CTOs or managers responsible for research and innovations and/or business development. Additional interviews with experts on specific technologies and/or standardisation processes

were conducted with representatives from research and development institutions and knowledge-intensive business services (e.g., consultancies). Respondents from public agencies were managers of public support programs or public transport services, while representatives for NGOs and industry associations were mainly directors and/or managers responsible for the maritime sector or a specific propulsion technology. Of the 17 interviews that have especially informed the findings in Paper III, 3 were conducted with public support agencies, 2 with other public organisations, 1 with an industry association, 2 with fuel producers, 1 with a technology supplier, 2 with R&D institutions, 1 with a ship-designer, as well as with 5 shipowners.

The interviews were conducted by my co-authors for Paper III and other colleagues in the GREENFLEET research team from 2015-2019, and during most of the interviews two or three researchers were present. The majority of the interviews were conducted in person while some interviews took place over telephone or online meetings, especially in the later stages of data collection. The length of the interviews varied from 25 to 120 minutes and averaged 70 minutes. All informants were given information about the purpose of the research and notified that their answers would be anonymised in interview requests sent via email. Following acceptance of interview requests, respondents were asked for consent to record and transcribe the interview. Semi-structured interview guides based on the TIS analytic framework, were prepared and tailored to each type of key actor interviewed (see Appendix A for an example). While allowing flexibility for preparation of contextsensitive interview guides, semi-structured interviews still follow a similar structure, which ensures collection of comparable material for the study (Roulston & Choi, 2018). The conversational nature and openness of semi-structured interviews provides benefits such as enabling interview respondents to elaborate on their experiences and insights in great detail, as well as creating space for the respondent to expand on unforeseen interesting topics. Furthermore, semistructured interviews allow the researcher to ask spontaneous follow-up questions during the interview, contributing to more in-depth answers from the respondents (Valentine, 2005).

Furthermore, the interview guides were updated during the project as new insights were gained and additional questions arose. After the main round of interviews were concluded in October 2018, three further interviews were conducted during spring 2019 to gain additional insights on the current status of implementation of biofuels in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector, until saturation was achieved. Most of the interviews were recorded and later transcribed, and for interviews not recorded extensive notes were taken during and directly after the interviews. Depending on the language preference of the international research team, interviews were conducted in either Norwegian or English.

Process of analysis

Once transcribed, the interview material was manually coded according to the categories (TIS functions) in the analytical framework as well as by technology type (biodiesel and LBG) in the coding software NVivo. Several researchers in the GREENFLEET team participated in coding of the interview material, and to ensure consistency in coding within the team, an elaborate descriptive code book (see Appendix A) was developed and used to support coding by individual researchers. Furthermore, a pilot round of at least two researchers coding the same sample of interview material was conducted to compare coding between researchers in order to ensure validity and avoidance of definitional drift (Saldaña, 2009), which revealed a high consistency, and further coding was therefore divided among the researchers to be coded individually. For Paper III, I was specifically responsible for the empirical analysis, which included extraction of relevant empirical material relating to the paper's focus from the coded material for the larger study as well as analysis of this material. Although most of the relevant coded material was in Norwegian, I felt comfortable taking the lead on the empirical analysis given the similarities between Norwegian and my native language (Swedish) and previous experience from working with Norwegian colleagues. In case of uncertainty regarding how to interpret proverbs or other sentiments, I was supported by Norwegian-speaking project members.

The first step in the analysis was to make assessments of the current status of six TIS functions; knowledge development and diffusion, influence on the direction of search, entrepreneurial experimentation, market formation, legitimation and resource mobilisation. Based on a combination of the data sources mentioned above, all of us authors discussed the strengths and weaknesses of each TIS function until we arrived at a consensus, and ultimately appointed each TIS function a score on a three-point ordinal scale (weak – intermediate – strong). Thereafter, the second step of the analysis included exploration of positive and negative externalities for each TIS function. Insights from these analyses were thereafter combined to make an overall assessment of the implementation status for biodiesel and LBG in Norwegian coastal shipping, as well as the influence of positive and negative externalities connected with technological alignment between biofuels and their fossil fuel equivalents on biofuels innovation and implementation in this sector (see Table 2 for an illustrative example).

	Biodiesel TIS	I BG TIS
Strengths	Previous public co-funding for biodiesel operations of car- and passenger road ferry	Public funding support for gas engines, LBG production and infrastructure available from most public support agencies (although focused on road transport sector)
		Long-term contracts between shipowners and fuel producers reduce risk for upscaling LBG production and secures fuel availability
Weaknesses	Currently excluded from public funding support for sustainable fuels due to low sustainability score	Although eligible for public funding support and green public procurement, LBG often disfavoured due to lower sustainability score than battery-electric and hydrogen propulsion solutions
	Uncertain fuel availability	Higher fuel price than LNG
	Higher fuel price than fossil diesel	
Functionality assessment	Weak	Intermediate
Sectoral cross- technology externalities	Potential to use existing distribution infrastructure, however very limited	Uses part of existing distribution infrastructure
	availability of biodiesel in ports currently	Take advantage of existing technological knowledge bases for LNG
		Recent entry of large established firms increases investments in LBG production and implementation
Effect from externalities	Neutral effect	Minor positive effect

Table 2 Illustrative example of functional analysis and identification of externalities regarding the TIS function 'Resource mobilisation'

Study 2: The International Maritime Organisation's global policy mix

Partly in parallel with study 1, in the late autumn of 2020 I initiated a second study on the global policy mix regulating emissions to air from international shipping implemented by the IMO, which provides the basis for Papers I and II in this thesis.

Case selection

Given that maritime shipping is an inherently global industry, it is crucial to understand policy making dynamics within international shipping's main regulatory body; the IMO, as well as the influence of the development of the regulatory framework (i.e., policy mix) that governs emissions to air from international shipping on implementation of alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies. The second study in this thesis, therefore, explores the consistency and comprehensiveness of the IMO's global policy mix, as well as dynamics in the policy making processes which hinder implementation of stricter GHG regulation. Since the majority of the ships in the global fleet³ constantly have to comply with policy instruments implemented by the IMO, this international policy mix provides the main regulatory setting for the maritime shipping sector. Considering that this has contributed to standardisation of infrastructures such as port facilities and fuel supply as well as institutionalisation of norms and practices, this indicates that the shipping sector has a strong global regime.

Similar to sustainability transitions research in general, previous research on policy mix characteristics has been empirically focused on national policy mixes through national or regional case studies. The global scope of the IMO's policy mix offers a novel empirical focus for policy mix research, as well as the opportunity to study regulatory challenges in sectors with strong global regimes. A sole main regulatory body can be assumed to be able to implement a consistent and comprehensive policy mix, and the IMO's global policy mix therefore provides an interesting case for exploring policy mix characteristics. Previously implemented international regulations on air polluting substances has proven to be very effective, considering for example the 77% reduction in sulphur oxide emissions since the implementation of a sulphur cap for ship fuels in 2020 (Ovcina Mandra, 2022). This implies that effective international regulation of GHG emissions implemented by the IMO could be a strong driver for the shift to sustainable shipping.

Data collection

The main material for the second study consists of participant observations, document analysis of policy documents and legislative texts, as well as semistructured interviews with key actors. The document analysis is the main data source for Paper I, while the interview material provides the basis for Paper II. Leading up to the beginning of this study, I started to attend webinars and other industry events in order to gain an overview of recent technology developments in the shipping industry, as well as identify research gaps and find inspiration for paper ideas. In total, I attended 66 webinars and (mainly online) industry conferences between May 2020 and December 2022 (see Appendix B). These events were selected as they represent forums for debate within the sector, which attract a variety of actors involved in the maritime shipping sector. In addition to individual events, I followed multiple webinar series and reoccurring events, including a series covering different aspects of the shipping sector's green transition hosted by the Swedish Shipowners Association, a webinar series on finance, innovation and transitions within the shipping sector hosted by the European Community Shipowners' Association, as well the annual meetings of the Danish and Swedish shipowners' associations. These webinar series provided an overview of current debates, as well as more

³ Exceptions include military ships and ships smaller than 500 gross tonnes. The latter represents 1 % of the global cargo capacity and mainly operate within national waters (Equasis, 2022), implying that they may be subject to national emission reduction regulations.

in-depth details regarding certain aspects of the shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies.

Later in the study these *participant observations* were also used to identify key actors to invite to interviews, as well as triangulation and validation of findings from document analysis (Maxwell, 2012; Oliver, 2006). The attended events were organised by a wide range of industry actors, including, for example, classification societies, shipowner associations and maritime competence centres. Presenters and audiences represented a broad variety of actors relating to different elements of the shipping sector's socio-technical system, including fuel producers, technology suppliers, crew members working on ships and policy makers, in addition to the actors mentioned above. This provided the opportunity to observe the interaction between the presenters and the audience, for example during Q&A sessions, as well as formed a good basis for identification of potential interview respondents given the diversity of actors. Given that the first part of the study was conducted in a time characterised by lockdowns and remote working due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the majority of these events were held online, which had the advantage that some, mainly international, events that would have been difficult to attend in person due to time and financial constraints were now accessible for free or a low cost. Although the online format of the majority of the events prohibited extensive networking with other participants, noting down the presenters and participants allowed for identification of key actors to approach with interview requests for this second study. Once the world started to open up again, I also participated in a few in-person events, including a three-day international combined academic and industry conference in Copenhagen and a one-day event in Gothenburg organised by the Swedish Shipowner's Association. Lunch and coffee breaks during these events allowed for informal conversations with other participants, where I could ask questions, share what I was working on and listen to their reflections on the topic of the presentations we had just heard.

During and closely after the events I took notes regarding both the content of different presentations, and reflections on questions that I found intriguing, potential research gaps and other ideas for my own research (also beyond this second study). I also saved presentation slides if they were made available, and in the later stages of the study, presentation slides and notes from relevant industry webinars and conferences covering insights regarding policy processes at the IMO were used to triangulate and validate the findings from the document analysis of policy documents and legislative texts in Paper I. For example, a series of webinars hosted by a classification society presenting summaries and analysis of the latest IMO negotiations and new regulations was particularly helpful for analysis of the newer policy instruments targeting GHG emissions. The collected observations ensured that the analysis covered all policy instruments as well as policy objectives implemented by the IMO, and that the interpretation of the function and type of policy instruments (economic, regulatory or soft instruments targeting specific

creative and destructive processes) was accurate. Furthermore, in combination with data from interviews, observations of events hosted by shipowner associations and maritime competence centres particularly informed insights into the technology implications of the implemented policy mix throughout different time periods.

The second source of data for study 2 is a *document analysis* that was initiated in November 2020, which provides the core data for Paper I. The main purpose of the document analysis was to identify and map policy mix elements (policy instruments and policy objectives in strategic documents) and outline timelines for the implementation of policy instruments, as well as developments in the policy strategy throughout three time periods (2004-2011, 2012-2017, and 2018-2023). Identification of policy instruments was made through analysis of the full length of legislative texts in MARPOL Annex VI, which regulates prevention of air pollution from ships, as well as resolutions and amendments to the different chapters of MARPOL Annex VI since its implementation in 2005. This was furthermore triangulated with summaries and interpretation of these legislative texts published by IMO member states. The analysis of the development of policy objectives for the IMO's policy strategy was based on various strategic documents published by the IMO, including for example High-Level Action Plans that were published every two years, Strategic Plans for the Organization published every six years, as well as the IMO Initial GHG Strategy published in 2018 (see Appendix B).

Finally, seven *semi-structured interviews* were conducted in order to gain insights regarding the technology implications of the development of the policy mix throughout the three time periods, as well as to triangulate and validate the findings from the document analysis for Paper I. Furthermore, the interviews provide the core data for the analysis of policy making challenges at IMO level presented in Paper II. The interviews took place during a two-week period in June 2021, directly after the 76th MEPC meeting, during which the first short-term measures for GHG reduction were added to MARPOL Annex VI. For two of the interviews, I was accompanied by my co-author, while I conducted the remaining five interviews myself due to time constraints.

Following a purposive sampling approach, eight⁴ interview respondents in total participated in the study, all identified during the previously described participant observations. The respondents included the Secretary General of the International Chamber of Shipping (an international shipowner association), a principal consultant for international regulatory affairs at the Norwegian classification society DNV, the international liaison officer for climate and marine environment at the Swedish Transport Agency, and the senior policy advisor for safety and climate at the Swedish Shipowners' Association. Furthermore, a technical officer from the

⁴ One of the interviews included two respondents from the same organisation that were experts in regulation of air polluting substances and GHGs respectively.
Marine Environment Division at the IMO secretariat as well as three shipowner representatives were also interviewed. The interviews with the three Swedish-speaking respondents were conducted in Swedish, while the remainder of the interviews were conducted in English. Although both my co-author and I speak or understand Danish and Norwegian, interviews with Danish and Norwegian respondents were conducted in English to avoid the risk of misinterpretation during the interviews and when transcribing them (which I performed). This implies that Swedish speaking respondents, and the native English speaker, had the advantage of speaking their native language during the interview, potentially allowing for more in-depth or nuanced answers. However, given the fact that the other respondents work in an international context, the risk for language limitations during interviews conducted in English was perceived as minor. The length of the interviews ranged from 49 to 93 minutes, with an average length of 60 minutes. Based on recordings of the interviews, respondents' replies were transcribed to allow for manual coding, which is further described in the next section.

All informants were initially approached with an email stating that the purpose of the research was to explore the development and effects of IMO regulation of air pollution and GHG, and that the interviews would complement document analysis of policy instruments and processes. To ensure that we reached respondents with the right competences, the interview request also included a description of the key themes that were covered by the interview questions. Upon accepting the interview request, the respondents were also asked for consent to record and transcribe the interview, which all respondents agreed to. Information about the project and confirmation of the respondent's consent to participate in the study and the recording of the interview were repeated during the beginning of each interview. The respondents were given the option of being anonymised in publications based on the study; however, all respondents agreed to be introduced by title and organisation. Furthermore, direct quotes from interviews that are included in the final versions of the papers have been approved by the respective interview respondents. Although interview requests were in some cases forwarded to someone else within the organisation other than our initial contact person, all approached organisations except for one agreed to be part of the study. The key persons targeted for interviews typically held office jobs and were easy to approach by email to set up online interviews (due to the Covid-19 pandemic). Although there was limited small talk and other possibilities for icebreaker activities, given that home offices and digital meetings were well institutionalised at this time, I experienced that the interviews went well. The interviews followed semi-structured interview guides that were partly tailored to the specific type of actor interviewed, and focused, for example, on the policy processes surrounding IMO negotiations, how the current policy mix had influenced decision making for shipowners, and if they saw any specific propulsion technology being (indirectly) favoured by the current policy mix (see Appendix B for the full interview guide). Furthermore, as preparation for the interview, the participants received an email a few days before, containing figures

showing timelines for the implementation of policy objectives and instruments since 2005 (see Appendix B). These figures functioned as prompts as they were also shared on the screen during the interviews, and in relation to this, questions were asked regarding the balance between regulation aimed at air pollution vs. climate change mitigation, whether they could identify particular turning points in the development of regulation, and the extensiveness and consistency of the current policy mix. Furthermore, these figures offered an opportunity for triangulation and validation of the findings from the document analysis since the respondents were asked if they thought any policy instruments or themes for the policy strategy were missing. Given that the focus for the study covers a nearly 20-year period, it was important to acknowledge that interview respondents might struggle to remember events that happened years ago. My perception is that anchoring the discussion in the two figures as prompts contributed to refreshing the respondents' memories, contributing to historical validity (Budach, 2012). Some of the respondents also commented on the function of the prompt: "Looking at this, I come to think of that the sulphur rules for our emission control area in 2015 had a much larger impact on our operational costs than the newest global rules implemented in 2020" as one of the shipowner representatives expressed during the interview. In addition, the prompts also gave structure to the interviews which contributed to a good flow in the conversations.

Process of analysis

Processing of data was conducted in two steps. First, the document analysis was completed through manual coding of all documents based on a prepared code book in Nvivo, and thereafter followed coding of the transcribed interview material based on the conceptual framework for Paper I, as well as inductive coding of key themes identified in the transcribed interview material (which has mainly informed Paper II). The coding was performed by me, with support from discussions with my coauthor. With regard to the document analysis, the purpose of the coding was to identify the type of policy instruments that were included in the instrument mix, and the code book (see Appendix B) was based on the conceptual framework presented in Paper I. Given that previous operationalisations of policy mix characteristics are scarce, it became increasingly clear during the coding process that these previous operationalisations were insufficient to understand the complexity of the consistency and comprehensiveness of the IMO's global policy mix. Paper I therefore provides suggestions for further operationalisation of policy mix consistency and comprehensiveness that are based on insights from the coding process, representing an iterative research process (Merriam, 1998). Taking an iterative approach allows the researcher to go back and forth between theory and the collected empirical material to develop a comprehensive understanding of the study object (Alvesson et al., 2022; Srivastava & Hopwood, 2009). This furthermore enables identification of potential differences between theoretical assumptions and

the studied empirical case which can inform theory development (Alvesson & Kärreman, 2011).

Based on the code book, each statement concerning specific policy instruments was coded with the implementation year, the type of air emission the instrument is regulating (air polluting substances and GHGs) and the type of policy instrument (regulatory, economic or soft instrument, targeting creative or destructive processes). Furthermore, to enable assessment of the instrument mix consistency, statements were coded as to whether they indicated existing synergies or conflicts with other policy instruments at the time of their implementation, as well as if the instrument was a replacement or addition to an existing instrument. A similar process was applied to identification of policy objectives, where statements in strategy documents were coded with the policy topic(s) (air pollution vs. climate change mitigation) covered, as well as the degree of concretisation of the policy objective to assessment of the comprehensiveness of the policy strategy. In addition, similar to the instrument mix, statements indicating existing synergies or conflicts between policy objectives were coded. Through extraction from the coded material, a database with all identified policy instruments and policy objectives was created, in which the coded information for each policy instrument and objective is presented in a collected way. Based on discussions with my co-author, some of the assessments were calibrated. Coding of the interview material also followed the same code book as the coding of policy elements, in order to triangulate the findings from the document analysis as well as to gain further insights into the technology implications of specific instruments. In addition, inductive coding of key themes relating to policy processes and challenges for policy making at IMO level was performed, which provides the core data for Paper II.

Study 3: Sail cargo initiatives as nomadic grassroots innovations

The third and final study of this thesis was initiated during the spring of 2022, and was conducted through participant observations, semi-structured interviews and document analysis. Drawing inspiration from digital ethnography approaches, the study furthermore includes analysis of social media posts and newsletters issued by nine sail cargo initiatives.

Case selection

Throughout the first and second study, it became increasingly clear to me that it will take time before regulation becomes a strong driver in the shift to sustainable shipping. From this realisation, a curiosity about what could be the most radical alternative grew increasingly strong, and given the urgency of decarbonisation of the international shipping industry I decided that I wanted to contrast the top-down pressures from policy identified in the first two studies with bottom-up initiatives that have decarbonisation ambitions beyond regulatory requirements. I first heard of traditional sail cargo initiatives, which is the empirical focus of Study 3 and Paper IV, through a social media post in 2016 where the new owners of the traditional sailing ship Hawila, which used to be owned by the sail training association I was previously involved in, announced their plans to convert the ship from a sail training (passenger) ship back to its original purpose as a sailing cargo ship. Since then, I have followed that sail cargo initiative sporadically and at the time of the initiation of this third study during early spring 2022, I drew inspiration from methodological approaches within digital ethnography (Coleman, 2010; Hampton, 2017; Ulmer & Cohen, 2016) and identified further sail cargo initiatives through a snowball approach, by going through the social media followers of the first identified sail cargo initiative.

Based on this exploration, I identified 15 sail cargo initiatives at different stages, ranging from recently initiated or still renovating or building their sail cargo ships, to already operating. Out of these 15 initiatives, 6 were basing their operations on very small ships with extremely limited cargo capacity only operating in coastal areas or rivers, or mainly operating as passenger vessels while also taking a small amount of cargo on board. A decision was therefore made to focus on the nine remaining initiatives, which have a clearer focus on cargo operations and are, or are planning to, operate internationally. These nine initiatives all have ships with a cargo capacity larger than 35 gross tonnes (see Figure 7), which, compared to conventional cargo ships, is equivalent to a handful of standard 20-foot shipping containers.



Figure 7 Sail cargo ship De Tukker (built 1912) in Den Helder, the Netherlands, June 2023 Photo: Hanna Bach

Although it took time and effort to reach the selected nine sail cargo initiatives due to limited access to internet when they are sailing, all of them finally agreed to be part of the study. In addition to exploring on-going processes, the study takes an historical perspective and analyses development of sail cargo initiatives in three stages: initiation, operations, and upscaling and diversification. The initiatives are currently in various stages, four are in the initiation phase and constructing or renovating sail cargo ships, while five initiatives are already operating.

Study 3 uses the conceptual lens of grassroots innovations to explore drivers of and barriers to the development of sail cargo initiatives. Previous research on grassroots innovations have been focused on place-based initiatives such as transition towns, energy communities or maker spaces, and there are very few examples of studies of grassroots innovations in the transport sector. Furthermore, previous studies lack insight regarding the global aspects of grassroots innovation and non-place-based conditions that influence the development of grassroots initiatives. Exploring sail cargo initiatives therefore offers the opportunity to study a novel empirical context for grassroots innovations relating to international sectors with strong global regimes as well as the factors that influence development of grassroots initiatives beyond place-specific conditions.

Data collection

The main material for study 3 was collected through digital and participant observations, semi-structured interviews, and document analysis. These material sources were combined in the analysis (described in the next section). At the beginning of the study, material was mainly collected through digital observations of the initiatives' social media accounts (primarily Instagram), as mentioned above, initially for identifying sail cargo initiatives, and later on also to get an overview of the initiatives' activities and structures. In addition, listening to interviews with representatives from sail cargo initiatives in various podcasts, as well as watching videos from sail cargo initiative's YouTube channels, TED Talks, etc. also contributed to increasing my understanding of the development of sail cargo initiatives, and allowed for identification of potential interview respondents. Furthermore, continuously collecting documents such as newsletters, blog entries and social media posts as well as news articles, business plans and life cycle analysis reports, etc. allowed for gaining an historical perspective on the development of the initiatives and their progress during the course of the study. This material was later also utilised for triangulation and validation of field observations and interview data.

I have also conducted unstructured *observations in the physical field*, in combination with conducting interviews with key representatives from sail cargo initiatives and other key actors such as cargo costumers. Field visits were conducted in June, July and August 2022 as well as in June and November 2023, and include observations of cargo off-loading, preparations for departure for the upcoming trans-Atlantic cargo run, visits to cargo costumers (restaurant and chocolate factory) and renovation activities at shipyards (see Table 3). Field observations contributed to gaining further understanding of the sail cargo initiatives' everyday operations and the opportunities and challenges related to this.

	Interviews	Field observations
Sail cargo initiatives		
Blue Schooner Company	Captain/founder, online, September 2023	-
Brigantes	Founder + manager of café and coffee roastery, at shipyard and café, November 2023	Renovation of ship at shipyard and tour of the Brigantes café and coffee roastery in Trapani, Sicily November 2023
Fairtransport	Captain/co-founder + 3 crew members, on board ship, June 2022	Cargo off-loading in Copenhagen, June 2022 + observations of market stand for their own products during traditional sail ships festival in their home port Den Helder, the Netherlands, June 2023
EcoClipper	Captain/founder, at shipyard July 2022 + on board ship June 2023	Renovation of the activities at shipyard in Franeker, the Netherlands in July 2022 + promotional activities at traditional sail ships festival in their home port Den Helder, the Netherlands, June 2023
Kaap Kargo	Co-founder, on board June 2023	Preparations of the ship for departure at forthcoming sail cargo hub harbour in central Amsterdam, the Netherlands, June 2023
Les Frères de la Côte	Founder, on board June 2023	Renovation of the ship in forthcoming sail cargo hub harbour in central Amsterdam, the Netherlands, June 2023
Hawila Project	Co-founder/captain, Lund University, November 2023	Two-day learning camp focused on sustainable travel and cargo shipping including tour of the ship (under renovation), shipyard and other key infrastructure in Holbæk, Denmark, September 2023
Sailcargo Inc.	Co-founder + two crew members, July 2022	Renovation of the ship in Harlingen, the Netherlands, July 2022
Timbercoast	Captain/founder, on board ship, August 2022 + follow- up interview online May 2023	Preparations of the ship for departure in Hamburg, Germany
Cargo costumers	;	
Chocolate Makers	Director/co-founder, at factory, June 2023	Chocolate factory tour in Amsterdam, June 2023
New Dawn Traders	Director/founder, online, May 2023	-
Sabotøren	Manager, at restaurant, June 2022	Cargo off-loading and visit to restaurant in Copenhagen, June 2022
Educational institute		
Enkhuizen Nautical College	Director, online, July 2023	-

Table 3 Overview of interviews and field observations for Study 3

In human geography research, observations are considered important to reveal patterns of human-environment interactions (Watson & Till, 2018). Given that one aim of the study was to explore the spatiality of factors that influence the development of sail cargo initiatives, these observations allowed for informal conversations with other crew members during tours of the ships, observations of how crew members interacted with each other, cargo costumers and other actors in

different places (in the paper conceptualised as home and host localities⁵), which contributed to increasing my understanding of what the sail cargo initiatives need from these different places to enable their development. Observing infrastructure in ports and shipyards (see Figure 8) furthermore provided the opportunity to observe how well aligned the infrastructure was to sail cargo operations and how potential challenges were solved. During and directly after the field visits, I wrote extensive notes reflecting on both the content of interviews and informal conversations, as well as impressions from the observations, which were also complemented by photos taken during the visit (Byrne, 2021).



Figure 8 Traditional slipway in Holbæk, Denmark Photo: Hanna Bach

Finally, in total 19 *semi-structured interviews* with key informants were conducted to further explore the development of sail cargo initiatives. In contrast to the two previous studies, key informants from the sail cargo initiatives explored in Paper IV spend most of their time working on the ships rather than in offices and are therefore off-grid for long periods of time. Hence, although initial contact was attempted by email, in many cases this did not yield any results. Instead, my first physical contact

⁵ Home localities represent places where the ships have their physical home ports and the initiatives' offices are located, and host localities are the ports they return to for cargo operations or construction, renovation and maintenance of the ships.

with the sail cargo initiatives took place during an (semi-) unannounced⁶ field visit to a cargo-offloading event in central Copenhagen (see Figure 9), which was advertised on social media. After first observing and thereafter participating in the cargo offloading, once the offloading was completed, I approached one of the crewmembers (identified by a t-shirt with the organisation's logo) who introduced me to the captain, who is also one of the founders of that sail cargo initiative, and he agreed to be interviewed on the spot. Thereafter followed some spontaneous snowball sampling, as it was suggested that I talk to other crew members, who agreed to interviews on the same day or later during their stay in Copenhagen.



Figure 9 Offloading of natural wine in central Copenhagen, Denmark, June 2022 Photo: Hanna Bach

During some of the other field visits, I also participated in maintenance work on board the ships and a climate action camp focused on sustainable transport and sail cargo, providing opportunities for informal conversations with various crew members which in addition to further enhancing my understanding also functioned as a trust building exercise. Having sailed on various traditional sailing ships between the age of 16 and 25, although in relation to sail training and not cargo, I came into this project with some previous knowledge about how these ships are operated. Taking part in everyday activities during field visits, and asking questions about the ship's technical systems and operational aspects during tours of the ship served as a good icebreaker and appears to have been beneficial with regard to building trust with interviewees. In some cases, the established trust based on my

⁶ When talking to the captain it was revealed that he had received my email and thought that he had given me a positive reply to my interview request, however this had not reached me.

previous experience and network led to additional interviews beyond what was originally planned, as for example during the field visit to Sailcargo Inc.'s renovation of their newly acquired ship in Harlingen, the Netherlands, where I was approached by one of the crew members after informal conversations over lunch revealed that we had mutual connections to previous crew members. During the first field visits. I also obtained recommendations for who else to talk to within other sail cargo initiatives as well as access to phone numbers and personal email addresses to the recommended people, which was crucial for establishing contact with the other initiatives I visited during the study and for scheduling online interviews with the remaining initiatives. A similar pattern of combined purposive and snowball sampling occurred during other field visits, where I had one or two interviews planned beforehand, but was recommended other people to talk to once I was there, or even approached by those who were willing to be interviewed. Furthermore, I generally asked interviewees for contact details and recommendations regarding who they thought I should talk to within their own or other sail cargo initiatives, as well as cargo costumers and other actors.

Although establishing contact with the sail cargo initiatives was time consuming and took a lot of effort, the final interview sample include representatives from all nine identified sail cargo initiatives with ships with a larger cargo capacity than 35 gross tonnes. In total, I conducted 19 interviews in two stages, of which ten interviews were with co-founders or directors of sail cargo initiatives, five with crew members, and four with other actors such as representatives of cargo costumers and educational institutions. Two other representatives of cargo costumers were approached with interview requests multiple times but never replied. The nine interviews in the first stage (June to August 2022) were of an exploratory nature and in addition to identification of key challenges and opportunities for the development of sail cargo initiatives these interviews also allowed for identification of a suitable theoretical framing of the study. The exploratory interviews followed semistructured interview guides that covered a variety of themes, such as the main drivers of and barriers to sail cargo operations, motivation for working with sail cargo, cooperation with other sail cargo initiatives, business models, regulation, access to financial and human resources, and the relation between sail cargo operations and conventional shipping (see Appendix C). The second round of interviews was conducted between May and November 2023, for which the interview guides were adopted to be more tailored to the conceptual framing of sail cargo initiatives as grassroots innovations. In addition to the initial themes, the updated version of the interview included questions more specifically focusing on the spatiality of the various factors that influence the development of sail cargo initiatives. In addition, to complement gaps in the initial interview material, I conducted follow-up interviews with two of the four initiatives interviewed during 2022. Most of the interviews (14) were conducted during field visits, while the remaining five were conducted through online meetings. Given the internationality of the interview respondents, all interviews were conducted in English, which is also the main working language for all sail cargo initiatives. The interviews ranged from 19 to 166 minutes long, with an average length of 62 minutes, and were recorded and later transcribed.

For interviews that were planned beforehand, the interview respondents received information about the research project and the purpose of the interview as well as my personal background as a tall ship sailor through emails, text messages, or short introductory phone calls. For the initial contact, I decided to be transparent about my personal background in the hope that this would contribute to gaining trust with individuals from the sail cargo community, which appears to have been a successful strategy. Upon acceptance of the interview request, the respondents were also asked for consent to record the interview to enable transcription, which they all agreed to. For spontaneous interviews, the interview respondents were instead given this information verbally before being asked for consent to be interviewed and recorded. All respondents were also asked for consent to include their title and organisation in the published research. Before starting planned interviews, the purpose and focus of the study was repeated, and all respondents were asked to repeat their consent to the interview once the recording had started. Given that the sail cargo community is a relatively small and tightly knit community, I was careful to point out that rather than identifying personal conflicts, rivalry between initiatives or relaying sensitive information to other initiatives, the main purpose of the study was to get different perspectives on the drivers and challenges for initiating and developing sail cargo initiatives, which would be synthesised in a research paper. I also stated differences between an interview with a journalist (something that most respondents were used to) and a researcher, to set appropriate expectations in terms of what the interview material would be used for as well as the timeline for publication. As a response to the participants' expressions of hope that my research would contribute to further recognition of sail cargo initiatives, I explained that the research would be accessibly for the public once published and that, if time allowed, I planned to do further dissemination of the research such as presentations at conferences. Finally, I also informed the respondents that direct quotes which were included in the final paper would be checked with them and that they would have the opportunity to indicate if I had interpreted them correctly.

Process of analysis

Study 3 followed an iterative and abductive research approach (Dubois & Gadde, 2002; Merriam, 1998) where the empirical material guided the identification of a suitable conceptual framing, as well as played a generative role in further conceptualisation of the geography of grassroots innovations (Alvesson & Kärreman, 2011; Clark, 1998). After transcription of the first round of exploratory interviews, there followed a period of reading a variety of sustainability transitions studies with different conceptual approaches to niche development. During this period, I continuously reflected on the empirical material as cases of different

conceptualisations before arriving at grassroots innovation as the most suitable framework, given that I identified a research gap regarding the geography of grassroots innovations for which my exploration of the sail cargo initiatives could contribute with further understanding of the spatiality of factors influencing the development of grassroots innovations.

Following completion of the data collection, the interview material and the various text sources presented earlier were coded in Nvivo based on a code book developed from the analytical framework presented in Paper IV (see Appendix C). The main purpose of the analysis was to explore which socio-technical elements are needed for emergence and development of sail cargo initiatives as nomadic grassroots innovations, as well as the places and scales where these factors are present, throughout three stages of development (initiation, operations, and upscaling and diversification). Relevant statements were therefore coded to indicate which development stage(s) they referred to, the type of socio-technical element(s) that were mentioned, as well as the places and scales the socio-technical elements were present in. Given that the analysis revealed that the spatiality of factors needed for development of sail cargo initiatives differ from typical place-based grassroots innovations explored in previous research, the empirical material thereafter took a generative role in the development of a novel conceptualisation of sail cargo initiatives as a case of *nomadic* grassroots innovations.

Summary

Reflecting on the methodology

Studying on-going socio-technical change processes is challenging in multiple ways, but especially so given the slow speed of these processes and the uncertainty of how socio-technical change will unfold (Sovacool & Hess, 2017; Stirling, 2011). Furthermore, socio-technical change processes do not exist in a temporal vacuum, rather they are influenced by previous events, existing structures and actor networks, resulting in path-dependency. In order to take longitudinal aspects into account, all three studies in this thesis have a temporal element, exploring developments over several years.

Inevitably, every research project has limitations and shortcomings. Studies that extensively utilise interview data rely on the interview respondents' willingness to share their insights, and are exposed to potential bias given respondents' selective memory and personal interpretations of events. While interviewing additional or other types of actors may have resulted in different findings, especially for the second study, the balance between shared and individual perspectives in the interview material for the respective studies indicate a relevant sample of informants. Furthermore, to ensure a high level of credibility and validity in the findings, the studies are based on and triangulated with extensive empirical material collected through a combination of mainly qualitative methods. Moreover, I have collected empirical material throughout the entirety of the PhD project, which has contributed to a cumulative understanding of socio-technical change processes in the maritime shipping sector.

Overview of studies

Although the three studies have been presented in chronological order in this chapter, in the next chapter the findings and contributions of this thesis will be presented paper by paper in a thematic order. Papers I and II present findings from the second study of this thesis, Paper III is part of the first study, while Paper IV presents the results from Study 3 (see Figure 10). The papers are included in this thematic order to in the first two papers introduce the main, international regulatory context (implemented by the IMO) that provides top-down influence on sociotechnical change in the global shipping sector. The third paper zooms in on the national level through a case study of Norwegian coastal shipping, which highlights technology implications from top-down policy interventions as well as bottom-up influences from niche technology developments. Finally, as a contrast to the highly institutionalised and slow processes within the conventional shipping sector, unconventional bottom-up initiatives in the form of grassroots innovations are explored through the case of traditional sail cargo initiatives.



Figure 10 Overview of the four papers that are the outcomes of the three empircal studies included in the thesis

6. Findings and contributions

In this penultimate chapter of the thesis, I will discuss the findings and contributions from my research, reflect on the limitations of the project and suggest areas for future research. The chapter begins with an overview of the articles included in the thesis, presenting the main conceptual and empirical contributions of the individual papers. In the following section, the aggregated findings and contributions of the thesis are presented. Lastly, the chapter ends with reflections on the boundary conditions of the three studies included in this thesis and potential avenues for future research.

Overview of articles

Through the lens of policy mix characteristics, **Paper I** presents a temporal analysis of the consistency, i.e., how well different parts of the policy mix fits together, and comprehensiveness, i.e., how extensive the policy mix is, of the global policy mix targeting emissions to air from international shipping. The paper analyses the consistency and comprehensiveness of IMO's policy targets and regulatory framework (i.e., policy strategy and instrument mix constituting the global policy mix for international shipping), as well as the technology implications resulting from these characteristics, throughout three time periods (2004-2011, 2012-2017, 2018-2023). Our contribution to the policy mix literature through Paper I is twofold. First, following the limited previous empirical exploration of policy mix characteristics, we provide further conceptualisations of consistency and comprehensiveness of the policy mix. Second, the global policy mix regulating international shipping provides a novel empirical scope given that previous policy mix studies have only explored national level policy mixes.

Building on previous conceptualisations of policy mix characteristics, the paper aims to elaborate on the conceptualisations and operationalisation of consistency and comprehensiveness at the levels of instrument mix, policy strategy and the overall policy mix. Given the limited number of previous studies of policy mix characteristics and their impact on sustainability transitions, there is a need for further refinement of the conceptualisations of policy mix characteristics as well as additional empirical studies. Responding to this gap, we provide improved conceptualisations of consistency and comprehensiveness, highlighting the complexity in the relation between different levels of consistency and the importance of determining factors for the degree of comprehensiveness for all policy elements (instrument mix, policy strategy and overall policy mix). Regarding consistency: based on the empirical analysis we suggest that the fit between the instrument mix and policy strategy determines whether a high degree of consistency in the policy strategy and the instrument mix result in a high degree of consistency also in the overall policy mix. This differs from previous suggestions that strong consistency of the policy strategy and instrument mix contributes to a high degree of consistency for the overall policy mix (Rogge & Reichardt, 2016), and indicates the importance of analysing all parts of the policy mix rather than solely investigating policy instruments. Given the need for a diverse set of policy instruments to drive innovation and sustainability transitions, we bring in Kivimaa and Kern's (2016) typology of policy instruments targeting creative and destructive processes for assessment of the level of comprehensiveness of the instrument mix. In addition, previous research suggests that a balance between regulatory (based on laws and binding regulations), economic (provision of pecuniary incentives and disincentives) and soft (voluntary measures and information provision) policy instruments strengthens the effect of policy mixes. Following this, the comprehensiveness of the instrument mix is assessed based on the distribution of regulatory, economic and soft instruments, as well as the use of instruments targeting creative and destructive processes. We furthermore introduce the level of concretisation of policy objectives and the breadth of policy topics (the extent to which the policy strategy addresses all relevant themes given the analytical focus, for example all GHGs) in the assessment of the comprehensiveness of the policy strategy, suggesting that this contributes to a further understanding of the effectiveness of the policy mix. We argue that including an assessment of the level of concretisation of policy targets over time, such as a shift from generic to specific targets for GHG emissions reduction, contributes to further understanding of the comprehensiveness of the policy strategy as well as the overall policy mix. Finally, in addition to the level of concretisation of policy targets over time, we suggest that overall policy mix comprehensiveness is determined by the extent to which policy targets are addressed by a broad portfolio of policy instruments (regulatory, economic and soft instruments targeting both creative and destructive processes).

The empirical analysis, mainly based on document analysis which was complemented by and triangulated with participant observations and semistructured interviews, shows that although it could be assumed that a sole main regulatory body such as the IMO should be able to implement a consistent and comprehensive policy mix, the IMO has failed to implement sufficient policy instruments to reach their own GHG emissions reduction targets. By applying the conceptual lens of policy mix characteristics to the global policy mix for decarbonisation of international shipping we can therefore highlight the shortcomings of global governance bodies such as the IMO. Following an historical

focus on regulation of air polluting substances and the policy making challenges outlined in Paper II, the IMO's current overall policy mix lacks consistency and comprehensiveness, implying that policy measures that drive development and implementation of alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies are missing. Given that it is possible to comply with current GHG emissions regulation without application of alternative propulsion solutions, the main technology implication of the current policy mix is a continued socio-technical lock-in around fossil fuels. This partly because of the continued use of conventional ship fuels such as heavy fuel oil, but also due to the increasing adoption of low-sulphur oil and LNG as ship fuels. Our findings therefore point to a need for implementation of stricter GHG emissions regulation through introduction of policy instruments providing economic incentives for decarbonisation and disincentives for the use of fossil fuels to balance the large number of regulatory instruments, such as R&D funding, emission trading schemes and feed-in tariffs. In addition, there is a need for a broader portfolio of instruments targeting creative and destructive processes, especially more disruptive instruments aimed at limiting the use of fossil fuels such as more stringent emission performance standards. Furthermore, the policy instruments within the existing regulatory framework, such as instruments targeting energy efficiency measures, needs to be updated to match with the level of ambition regarding GHG emissions reduction stated in the IMO's GHG strategy.

Building on the analysis of policy mix characteristics in Paper I, Paper II in this thesis further explores policy processes surrounding negotiations and implementation of climate mitigation policy at the IMO. The paper targets a broader audience beyond the sustainability transitions community, and the format of a 'short communication' paper allows for contributing to further empirical understanding of policy processes within the IMO as well as societal engagement explaining regulatory challenges for implementing stricter climate policy for the international shipping sector. Given that the GHG emissions from international shipping continuously increase, it is obvious that the IMO's efforts to regulate GHG emissions are insufficient and that they have failed to implement suitable policy instruments to achieve the emission reduction targets in the IMO GHG Strategy, as well as decarbonisation of the shipping industry in line with the Paris Agreement. Based mainly on interview data from the second study of the thesis, our findings pinpoint three main barriers to designing and implementing an effective, consistent, and comprehensive policy mix for the international shipping sector: lack of capacity within the IMO to regulate multiple and emerging technologies, uncertainty around the IMO's regulatory mandate, and lack of political consensus during negotiations. The paper thereby provides insights into how sectors with one main regulatory body are governed, and the findings highlight that, while it could be assumed that such regulatory bodies should have the capacity to implement consistent and comprehensive policy mixes, one should be careful not to overestimate this capability. Furthermore, our findings suggests that the regulatory capacity and mandates of the regulatory body as well as the character of decision-making

processes has an impact on the effectiveness of the policy mix. This implies that if the IMO is to play a more progressive role in mitigating GHG emissions from international shipping, there is a need to consider reforming decision-making processes to implement policy instruments that ensure GHG emission reduction in line with current and future, more ambitious emission reduction targets.

In contrast to the attention to international policy in Paper I and Paper II, **Paper III** zooms in on national-level governance through the case of the coastal shipping sector in Norway. The paper analyses socio-technical challenges and opportunities for the implementation of biofuels, specifically biodiesel and LBG, as part of a sustainability transition within the maritime shipping sector. Through exploration of how the technological alignment between fossil fuels and biofuels, as well as the existing sectoral maritime context, impact the development of TISs for biodiesel and LBG in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector, the paper aims to contribute to the understanding of sectoral cross-technology externalities, meaning self-reinforcing mechanisms increasing or decreasing the attractiveness of a technology (Onufrey & Bergek, 2015), in relation to sustainability transitions. Furthermore, based on this exploration we provide a development of the TIS framework through discussing the effects of sectoral cross-technology externalities on the functionality of a TIS.

Applying the conceptual lens of TIS allows for comparative and extensive assessment of the key functions of the innovation system surrounding a specific technology in a certain geographical area or in general, which enables an overall assessment of the current status of technology implementation. In this paper, we explore two national TISs, for biodiesel and LBG, based on 17 interviews with key stakeholders such as shipowners, technology suppliers, shipyards and policy makers. The paper uses six TIS functions (knowledge development and diffusion, influence on the direction of search, entrepreneurial experimentation, market formation, legitimation, and resource mobilisation) developed by Bergek et al. (2008) and Hekkert et al. (2007) as the conceptual starting point. TIS functions represent different dimensions that influence innovation system development, and through assessment of the performance of the respective functions we can gain an understanding of these development processes and the overall functionality of the TIS. However, rather than analysing the seventh core function introduced by Bergek et al. (2008), development of positive externalities, as a separate function, we analyse the effect of positive and negative externalities stemming from the interchangeability between fossil fuels and biofuels on each of the six core functions. Given that technological capabilities, institutions, and physical infrastructures in a sector have developed along with and thereby been shaped by established conventional technologies, technological alignment between established and novel technologies in a certain sector may influence innovation in different ways. On the one hand, it is believed that alignment with existing technologies within a sector may have a positive impact on innovation (Dolata, 2009; A. Smith

& Raven, 2012), especially if interchangeability between technologies or fuels allows for using the same infrastructure or gradual drop-in of, as for example in this case, biodiesel into conventional fossil diesel. These positive externalities could thereby reduce the length of formative innovation phases and enable rapid implementation of novel technologies (Bento & Wilson, 2016). On the other hand, misalignment with conventional technologies may hinder establishment of radical novel technologies and result in a continued lock-in on fossil fuels, which constitutes negative externalities that hamper sustainability transitions (Dolata, 2009; Loorbach et al., 2010; A. Smith & Raven, 2012; Unruh, 2000).

Sectoral cross-technology externalities have been pointed out to have particular relevance for hard-to-abate sectors with high path-dependency, such as the maritime shipping sector (Dolata, 2009). However, our findings highlight that in the case of Norwegian coastal shipping, despite several positive externalities resulting from technological alignment, neither the biodiesel or LBG TISs have developed successfully. Instead, legitimacy concerns regarding upscaling potential and fuel costs are substantial barriers to implementation of biodiesel and LBG in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector. Furthermore, our analysis also reveals negative cross-technology externalities, such as competition with the road transport sector regarding fuel availability, and ineligibility for public financial support to cover increased fuel costs due to policy demands for zero emission propulsion technologies, which especially impact the biodiesel TIS. The paper thereby showcases how policy interventions at the national scale, such as green public procurement and emission standards, can further the development of specific technologies while hampering the development of others. In addition, Paper III contributes to further insights regarding the positive and negative externalities connected with technological alignment with conventional technologies, by showing that although there are positive externalities associated with a high degree of alignment and interchangeability with established technologies, these positive externalities do not always accelerate innovation and technology implementation. Rather, our findings indicate that "low-hanging" solutions which contribute to sustainability transitions may still not be adopted due to a general low performance of the TIS. This further indicates that other, more radical and transformative technologies or solutions may be favoured by policy makers and industry actors to be implemented instead.

In light of the insufficient policy incitements for driving decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector, **Paper IV** explores decarbonisation initiatives at the community level through nine cases of sail cargo initiatives promoting a return to traditional sail cargo ships. Conceptualising these initiatives as grassroots innovations, the paper aims to contribute to a more nuanced understanding of the spatiality of grassroots innovation activities and thereby contribute to the literature on the geography of grassroots innovations, a recent yet under-researched theme in the grassroots innovations for sustainability transitions literature (Feola & Butt,

2017; Kratzer et al., 2022). This is done through empirical exploration of the spatiality and multi-scalarity of factors such as financial resources, access to infrastructure, policy and regulation, and networks of actors, that contribute to the development of sail cargo initiatives. Based on this exploration, a conceptualisation of *nomadic grassroots innovations* is developed, suggesting that nomadic grassroots innovations differ from place-based grassroots innovations in that they are anchored in multiple places conceptualised as *host localities*, to which they return to perform their main activities, while also being based in *home localities* where, for example, offices and key infrastructure are located.

Maritime shipping provides a novel empirical context for grassroots innovations research, which allows for a broader perspective on grassroots innovation activities. In previous literature, grassroots innovations are seen as place-based phenomena, locally rooted in specific places, implying that they are difficult to diffuse to other places given their dependence on place-specific conditions (Håkansson, 2017; Kratzer et al., 2022). Following this, Paper IV aims to gain an understanding of how nomadic characteristics impact the development, upscaling and diffusion of grassroots initiatives, and how place-based grassroots innovations can adopt nomadic characteristics to overcome diffusion challenges related to placespecificity. Based on field observations, semi-structured interviews with key stakeholders and document analysis, the paper investigates the spatiality of factors impacting development of sail cargo initiatives throughout three stages (initiation, operations, and upscaling and diffusion). The findings suggest that the spatiality of sail cargo initiatives differs from place-based grassroots innovations throughout all stages of development given that they are anchored in multiple places and depend on socio-technical elements from all scales for their development. Furthermore, the nomadic characteristics imply that such grassroots innovations are not solely dependent on place-specific conditions for their development, but rather can take advantage of their mobility and ability to become anchored in multiple places, which is beneficial with regard to gaining access to key infrastructure and human as well as financial resources. However, being nomadic also comes with certain challenges for grassroots innovations; for example in relation to temporariness, multi-scalar complexity and lack of spatial proximity within and between initiatives. Following this, three main lessons for addressing the diffusion challenges associated with place-specificity for place-based grassroots innovations are: applying strategies for developing social cohesion through multi-scalar networks, utilising (costumer) demand for alternative solutions, and taking favourable sector conditions as a starting point when designing grassroots innovations.

Contributions of the thesis

This thesis aims to advance the current understanding of how multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up processes influence socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the global maritime shipping sector. To explore top-down processes, the thesis includes investigations of the role of international and national policy regarding technology innovation and implementation, which specifically addresses the first sub-research question of this thesis. To explore bottom-up processes, the thesis includes explorations of the influence of wider niche technology development and implementation on policy processes, as well as studies of grassroots innovation activities, which specifically addresses the second and third sub-research questions respectively. In doing so, the thesis specifically contributes to a further understanding of socio-technical change processes in relation to institutions, networks of actors, material artefacts, and markets and user practices in sectors with strong global regimes. In the next sections, the aggregated findings and conclusions from the papers included in this thesis are presented, starting with insights regarding socio-technical transitions in the maritime shipping sector, followed by a discussion of the theoretical contributions of this thesis as well as an outlook for future research.

Socio-technical transitions in the maritime shipping sector

International policy dynamics

Maritime shipping is an inherently international industry with a strong global regime. The main regulatory framework governing international shipping is implemented by the IMO, implying that there is at least a theoretical possibility to develop an effective policy mix driving decarbonisation in the shipping sector. However, the exploration of policy processes surrounding the negotiations and implementation of GHG emissions policy at the IMO in Paper II and the analysis of the consistency and comprehensiveness of the IMO's policy mix in Paper I show that the IMO has failed to establish sufficient policy instruments to achieve decarbonisation of international shipping. In Paper II, three main challenges (lack of capacity within the IMO to regulate multiple and emerging technologies, uncertainty around the IMO's regulatory mandate, and lack of political consensus during negotiations) for implementation of more consistent, comprehensive and stricter regulation of GHG emissions from international shipping are highlighted. First, the analysis shows that the IMO administrative organisation, as well as the member-state committees, lack capacity and experience with regulating multiple and emerging technologies. Historically, the IMO has taken a reactive policy approach and mainly regulated fossil-oil-based ship fuels, indicating that there is limited experience with governing innovation and novel technologies among the

member-state delegations participating in negotiations at MEPC meetings. Furthermore, interview data revealed that the current administrative organisation at the IMO headquarters (with around 300 staff members) lacks the financial and human resources to administer policy instruments driving development of more sustainable propulsion technologies, such as financial support for research and development activities.

Second, also related to IMO's history as a technical organisation regulating technical specifications of how ships should be operated, interview data revealed that there is uncertainty around IMO's regulatory mandate. Given that the IMO has not yet implemented forward-looking regulation, certain member-states question whether policy instruments such as market-based incentives for emission reduction could be implemented within the regulatory framework as it is currently organised. Statements from member-states questioning IMO's regulatory mandate are likely to have stalled negotiations, and indicate that these types of attitudes among member-states might also be a hinder for further negotiations and implementation of stricter GHG emission regulations. Although it was decided during the 81st meeting of the IMO Marine Environment Protection Committee in March 2024 that an economic instrument, including a GHG emission pricing mechanism, should be implemented in 2027, negotiations regarding the actual design of the policy instrument was postponed to 2025 (DNV, 2024b), signalling that negotiations remain slow and that there is no consensus regarding the implementation of market-based measures.

Third and finally, according to our interviewees, the main challenge for implementing stricter GHG regulation at the IMO level is the lack of political consensus among member-states. Our findings indicate that consensus on implementation of stricter policy instruments targeting GHG emissions is hindered by: a. a discrepancy in ambition between member-state delegations participating in general climate negotiations associated with the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and IMO negotiations, where member-states typically are less ambitious when discussing shipping specifically; b. the strong leverage of big shipowner nations from the Global South (due to flag of convenience registrations), which often oppose stricter GHG regulation due to concerns about losing sources of income; and c. delays in decision-making processes due to digital, shorter meetings during the Covid-19 pandemic. Although the latter was a minor and temporary factor, any delays in negotiations of stricter regulations are problematic given the urgency of climate change mitigation in the shipping sector.

As a result of these policy making challenges, the current policy mix targeting emissions to air implemented by the IMO is insufficient to drive a decarbonisation of the maritime shipping industry in line with the IMO's own emission reduction targets as well as the Paris Agreement. In Paper I, an analysis the development of the IMO's policy mix since the implementation of the first policy measures targeting emissions to air from ships in 2005 is presented. Specifically, the consistency (how well different parts of the policy mix fit together) and comprehensiveness (how

extensive the policy mix is) of the policy strategy, instrument mix and overall policy mix is assessed for three time periods (2004-2011, 2012-2017, and 2018-2023). While the IMO's policy strategy has developed from being heavily focused on air polluting substances to mainly including policy objectives regarding GHG emission reduction, and the attention to GHG emissions has been further sharpened since publication of Papers I and II following revision of the IMO GHG Strategy in July 2023, the emission reduction ambitions has not yet trickled down to the instrument mix.

The current instrument mix consists of very similar policy instruments, mainly regulatory, with some soft instruments but no economic instruments. Furthermore, there are very few policy instruments targeting GHG emissions compared to the large number of instruments targeting air polluting substances, implying that the instrument mix has a strong consistency but lacks comprehensiveness. Given the discrepancy between the policy strategy and the instrument mix, and the lack of a comprehensive instrument mix, shipping is not yet on course to achieve the emission reductions outlined in the IMO GHG strategy. Furthermore, the current emission reduction targets are insufficient to live up to maritime shipping's contribution to limiting global warming to no more than 2°C as outlined in the Paris Agreement. Following this, there is a need for both more ambitious policy objectives as well as a more effective instrument mix. Furthermore, it also appears that it is difficult to achieve elements of creative destruction in the global policy mix implemented by the IMO. This suggests that hard-to-abate sectors with one main regulator and highly institutionalised global regimes, such as the aviation and shipping sectors, in addition to challenges regarding identifying suitable alternative, more sustainable fuels and technologies, also face policymaking challenges with regard to implementing effective policy mixes that are able to guide socio-technical change.

At this point, it is still unclear which alternative propulsion technologies will be viable options in the future, and findings from Paper I show that the current global policy mix is insufficient to provide incentives for shipowner investments in alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies, implying a continued sociotechnical lock-in on conventional fossil fuels. According to the IMO's organisational norms, policy instruments implemented by the IMO should be technology neutral; however, the analysis in Paper I shows that beyond conventional oil-based fossil fuels, the current policy mix also favours ships using LNG as their fuel. Following the introduction of policy instruments regulating emission of air polluting substances (mainly sulphur and nitrogen oxides) from international shipping in the early 2000s and the continued stringency of these regulations, there has been an increasing uptake of LNG as a ship fuel due to its low level of air pollution emissions. Implementation of technical standards regarding the use of LNG as a ship fuel, while not implementing any policy instruments regulating methane emissions, has further enabled increased uptake of LNG in international shipping. Although using LNG as a ship fuel results in lesser carbon emissions, in addition to less contribution to air pollution, methane emissions increase, and according to the latest available data methane emissions from international shipping have increased with 151-155% between 2012 and 2018, with in total 148 kt emissions/year in 2018 (IMO, 2020). Emissions are expected to continue to increase exponentially as the additional 911 LNG-powered ships that have been ordered since 2018 (when 123 LNG-powered ships were operating) gradually starts operating, which is directly contradictory to the GHG emission reduction targets in the IMO GHG Strategy. Given the long lifespans of ships (15-40 years), this further strengthens the socio-technical lock-in on fossil fuels, and points to a need for policy instruments regulating not only CO₂ emissions but all GHG emissions from ships. Furthermore, lack of recognition of alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies represented by, for example, the lack of technical standards for such fuels provides a substantial hinder for implementation of new technologies.

Although additional instruments targeting GHG emissions have been implemented in the last few years, these instruments lack emission factors for alternative fossil free fuels, implying that shipowners that invest in more sustainable propulsion technologies are not rewarded for these investments. This points to a need for policy mixes that restrict the use of conventional fossil fuels while simultaneously promoting uptake of more sustainable propulsion technologies. Given the remaining uncertainty regarding viable future technology options for different segments within the shipping industry, introducing economic instruments such as CO_2 pricing mechanisms offers the opportunity to increase the operational cost for fossil fuels while redirecting incoming funds to research and development of more sustainable propulsion solutions. However, economic instruments alone will not be sufficient to drive socio-technical change within the maritime shipping sector, and needs to be combined with other types of policy incentives such as regulatory and soft policy instruments.

Looking at the global orders for new ships that will be delivered up to 2028, it is clear that the portfolio of propulsion technologies has started to diversify, given recent orders for ships powered by methanol, hydrogen and ammonia. Out of the total the cargo capacity (tonnage) currently ordered, 49% will be powered by alternative fuels (DNV, 2024a). During 2023, 138 methanol-powered ships were ordered (see Figure 11), compared to 130 LNG-powered ships (a significant decrease from the 222 ordered ships during 2022), potentially indicating that LNG is no longer seen as the main alternative fuel. Methanol as a ship fuel has the advantage that it can be used in slightly modified conventional combustion engines and be stored in the same or similar tanks as conventional oil-based fuels on board ships. However, the majority of the methanol produced currently is also based on fossil fuels and it is unclear if volumes of renewable methanol will match demand as new ships start operating. Although regulatory expectations for potential stricter regulation in the future is likely part of the explanation for this diversification, interview data and observations for Papers I and II suggest that other incentives such

as costumer demand for sustainable shipping, competitive advantage potential and motivations for being part of the solution are the more prominent drivers for shipowners to invest in alternative propulsion technologies.





LNG – Liqufied natural gas, LPG – liquefied petrol gas, other – ammonia & hydrogen. Years beyond 2023 indicate the total number of ships operating on the respective propulsion technologies after expected deliveries of new ships. Source: DNV's Alternative Fuels Insight platform

The role of national policy

Given the slow progress and challenges with implementing stricter GHG emission reduction policy at the international level through IMO negotiations, regulating shipping at the national level could be an important driver for testing and implementing technology on a smaller scale, which can later be upscaled for oceangoing ships. In Paper III, insights into how national policy, and specifically green public procurement, has influenced implementation of biodiesel and LBG in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector are presented, in the context of being interchangeable with their fossil fuel equivalents (marine gas oil/marine diesel oil and LNG, respectively). The analysis shows that even though there are several positive externalities resulting from technological alignment between marine fossil fuels and biofuels, these are overruled by the directionality of public policy promoting implementation of zero-emission technology, such as battery-electric and hydrogen solutions, rather than biofuels. During the last two decades, the Norwegian government and regional administrations have enforced more and more stringent emission regulations for ship operations in domestic harbours and coastal waters. In addition, to support technological development, publicly awarded socalled 'development contracts' have been used to support the development of more sustainable propulsion solutions in combination with public procurement of medium-sized car- and passenger road ferries. Additional policy instruments to achieve emission reduction include financial support available from multiple public funding agencies for R&D activities, as well as implementation of alternative fuel infrastructure.

Over the years, the analysis shows that there has been a shift from general emission reduction requirements to specific demands for low- and zero-carbon emissions in both national and regional policy objectives as well as public procurement regulations, which has excluded biodiesel and LBG given their still high (but fossil free) carbon emissions, as well as uncertainties regarding fuel availability and cost. In combination with the availability of cheap electricity in large parts of Norway, this has resulted in a more rapid technology implementation of battery-electric and hydrogen propulsion solutions in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector (Bach et al., 2020). A similar pattern has been observed also within green public procurement of road transport in Sweden (Aldenius, 2018; Aldenius & Khan, 2017). This implies that although biofuels initially were seen as "low hanging fruits" given positive sectoral cross-technology externalities such as using the same conventional bunker infrastructure and engines that already exist, the decreasing policy support for these technologies has resulted in a lack of legitimacy for biofuels and a low rate of implementation, while other propulsion technologies have been favoured. Paper III therefore contributes to advancing our understanding of sectoral cross-technology externalities by highlighting how even multiple positive externalities resulting from a high degree of alignment and interchangeability with established technologies do not necessarily contribute to faster technological innovation and implementation. This implies that while biofuels may benefit from the positive externalities connected with technology alignment with existing fuels, high expectations of the upscaling potential for biofuel implementation also risks prolonging the use of fossil fuels, especially if implementation of biofuels is unsuccessful.

Although there is an advantage of strong directionality in national policy with regard to accelerating technology implementation, favouring of certain technologies over others risks hindering innovation and development related to other solutions that are needed in the anticipated portfolio of alternative propulsion solutions. Given the characteristics of different types of ships, some are more suitable than others to certain alternative propulsion technologies, due to their differences in size (energy demand and storage capacity) and routes (close to shore or offshore, speed expectations, fuel infrastructure in ports). For example, a car- and passenger road

ferry operating on a short route between two fixed ports is well suited for batteryelectric propulsion as it can charge the batteries when loading and off-loading. A ship operating on longer routes between irregular ports, on the other hand, has a larger energy demand and spends a longer time between ports, and is therefore not suited for battery-electric propulsion, and instead requires the possibility of taking on the same alternative fuel in (most of) the ports it docks in. Given that projected fuel availability forecasts show that no single alternative fuel option will be available in sufficient amounts to replace current ship fuel demand, it is important to not prematurely exclude propulsion technologies that could be crucial in the required fuel mix or function as transition fuels to other, more sustainable fuels that will be available in the future. National policy makers thereby face similar challenges as identified for IMO negotiations, regarding navigating support for and regulation of multiple emerging propulsion technologies simultaneously. Given the different preconditions for supporting alternative propulsion technologies in various countries, due to different abilities in providing public financial support as well as access to natural resources for production of cheap renewable electricity or different types of alternative fuels, it is likely that we will see national variations of the favoured technology solutions for domestic coastal shipping; however, this needs to be further explored in research on sustainable shipping. This implies that national policy has the potential to not only influence technology choices within the domestic coastal shipping sector, but also for international shipping if certain fuels or other propulsion technologies are available only in specific ports, influencing shipowners to make technology choices based on fuel availability along their ships' routes.

Furthermore, given its ambitious national emission reduction targets and strict policy instruments, Norway is considered a frontrunner in sustainable shipping, which is also evident when looking at, for example, the rapid implementation of battery-electric solution in coastal ferries and experimentation with hydrogen propulsion solutions (Bach et al., 2020) as well as the continuously increasing implementation of fuel infrastructure for more sustainable propulsion technologies in Norwegian ports (Steen et al., 2024). Previous research has shown that frontrunner countries often play crucial roles in driving IMO negotiations regarding more ambitious emission reduction targets and stricter policy instruments (Cragila et al., 2020), while also showcasing that shifting to more sustainable propulsion technologies is possible (Bach et al., 2020). In addition, Norway and other frontrunner countries such as Denmark and Sweden are considered influential member-states of the IMO, as they continuously draft and submit policy proposals and engage in other efforts to drive implementation of climate change mitigation policy (Psaraftis & Kontovas, 2020). This further indicates that national policy dynamics play an important role beyond national borders.

Initiatives beyond policy requirements

Given the flickering guiding light from international policy and the limited impact of national policy, there is also a need for bottom-up initiatives striving to develop and implement sustainable propulsion solutions that go beyond regulatory requirements. Although regulation on different governance levels has the potential to be a strong driver for decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector, it is clear that the current global policy mix and limited national policy incentives are insufficient given the urgency of achieving emission reductions. Therefore, community-initiated bottom-up processes such as grassroots innovations could play an important role in exploring unconventional propulsion solutions that go beyond policy requirements. Previous conceptualisations of grassroots innovations describe them as locally rooted place-based phenomena, which are dependent on and utilise place-specific conditions, resulting in challenges for diffusing a particular grassroots innovation solution to other places (Håkansson, 2018; Kratzer et al., 2022). Paper IV challenges the definition of grassroots innovations as solely locally rooted in specific places and introduces a conceptualisation of nomadic grassroots innovations.

Based on empirical analysis of three development stages, *initiation, operations*, and upscaling and diversification. Paper IV explores the spatiality of socio-technical elements contributing to the development of sail cargo initiatives as nomadic grassroots innovations. The analysis shows that while nomadic characteristics of sail cargo initiatives are present for all development stages, the spatiality differs between the respective stages. It appears that sail cargo initiatives are more anchored in their home localities when building or renovating ships during the initiation stage, compared to when they start operating and the nomadic aspects are actualised with the mobility between home and host localities. In the upscaling or diversification stage, sail cargo initiatives become more locally anchored again during further construction or renovation processes, while also continuing their nomadic operations. The analysis furthermore indicates that nomadic grassroots innovations can utilise their mobility in order to gain access to key material artefacts to further their development, either by deciding on a home locality based on access to infrastructure etc., or through temporary relocation. However, relocation is also associated with challenges such as, for example, losing connection to elements and networks in the home locality, as well as establishing new networks in the host locality.

Furthermore, sail cargo initiatives at all stages are also dependent on socio-technical elements from all scales (*local and regional, national*, and *international*) for their development. For example, being anchored in multiple places and part of multi-scalar networks, sail cargo initiatives can benefit from having access to larger populations of potential investors, costumers, crew members, intermediaries, etc. than typical place-based grassroots innovations. However, having to take multiple national and international regulatory contexts into consideration, both with regard

to ship and trade regulations, requires greater efforts compared to operating in one place – especially if regulatory frameworks and institutions do not recognise the grassroots innovation's technology or solution (anymore). This indicates that one of the main challenges for development and diffusion of sail cargo initiatives, similar to grassroots innovations in general, is obtaining legitimacy for their activities, both in relation to regulatory institutions, and also from external investors, cargo owners, producers and individual consumers.

Given that sail cargo initiatives operate outside of the conventional shipping context and its global value chains and path dependency, which has been argued to hinder niche development (Pettit et al., 2018), the analysis of the sail cargo initiatives offers insights into the formation of alternative niches in the maritime shipping sector. First, the analysis showcases the need in the conventional shipping sector for further bottom-up initiatives with higher decarbonisation ambitions than regulatory requirements, which contributes to achieving a shift to sustainable shipping. Second, the findings reveal that consumer demand plays a crucial role in driving development and implementation of additional sail cargo initiatives, indicating that consumer demand for low- and zero-carbon emission shipping could be a strong driver in the conventional shipping sector also. This further implies that there is a need for policy attention to cargo owners and their decarbonisation targets in order to drive decarbonisation of the maritime shipping industry.

The stability of the current global regime is one of the main barriers to sustainability transitions in the maritime shipping sector. By offering an alternative to conventional shipping, the sail cargo initiatives studied in Paper IV challenge the current global regime for the international shipping sector. However, it is not likely that these traditional sail cargo initiatives will be able to upscale to such an extent that they will overturn the current global regime. Rather, these sail cargo initiatives can be seen as inspirational examples for decarbonisation efforts, both with regard to community or firm initiatives to invest in propulsion solutions that go beyond the regulatory demands, as well as drawing attention to more modern designs of wind-assisted propulsion technologies such as Flettner rotors, airplane wing-like solid sails and Dynarigs that can be added to new and existing ships to decrease fuel consumption, or even used to design mainly wind-propelled modern sail cargo ships.

Theoretical contributions

To date, transition studies have been focused on national-level case studies and geographically centred around northern Europe. The intrinsic trans-nationality and mobility that is the core of the maritime shipping sector makes this sector an interesting case for testing whether the typical conceptual assumptions regarding how socio-technical change and sustainability transition processes unfold taken from previous national case studies of transitions in the energy, mobility and water

sectors also apply to an international sector with a strong global regime. Previous conceptualisations and empirical explorations of sustainability transitions suggest that transitions typically occur as a result of successful development and upscaling of niche technologies that eventually outcompete incumbent socio-technical regime configurations. However, sectors with strong global regimes are assumed to be extraordinarily resistant to change, indicating that this transition trajectory is unlikely to be achievable in the maritime shipping sector. Furthermore, the shipping sector's highly institutionalised global regime implies that this sector is an interesting case for further exploration of multi-scalar transition dynamics in topdown as well as bottom-up processes. In addition to contributing to a further understanding of socio-technical change towards sustainability transitions in hardto-abate sectors, the thesis therefore also contributes to the literature on the geography of sustainability transitions. Based on the exploration of how the maritime shipping sector's strong global regime interacts with top-down and bottom-up transition dynamics at the global, national and community level, this thesis specifically contributes to the literature on multi-scalarity and global sociotechnical regimes.

Multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up transition dynamics

Based on exploration of multi-scalar top-down and bottom-up influences for sociotechnical change in the maritime shipping sector, this thesis contributes to the literature on multi-scalarity in sustainability transitions. Exploring top-down as well as bottom-up influences is a rare approach within sustainability transitions research, as previous research typically focuses on either top-down (exploring, for example, the influence of global regimes or policy on socio-technical change) or bottom-up processes (such as social movements, grassroots innovations or niche technology development). By including top-down as well as bottom-up influences, the thesis specifically contributes to further insights regarding how re-scaling processes hinder or enable sustainability transitions.

Previous conceptual contributions regarding the geography of sustainability transitions have suggested complementing the MLP levels (niche, regime, and landscape) with spatial scales, such as the international, national, urban, and hyper-local scales, to enable exploration of rescaling processes between the respective scales (Hodson et al., 2016). Furthermore, Hodson et al. (2016) suggest distinguishing between top-down and bottom-up influences for sustainability transitions. They see top-down influences as dominant governance initiatives aimed at market formation for new, more sustainable technologies. Such governance initiatives mainly influence activities at the urban and hyper-local scales, national governance often influences the national as well as the urban and hyper-local scales. In contrast, bottom-up initiatives are conceptualised as

alternative responses to top-down governance, typically represented by transition activities such as grassroots innovations at the hyper-local scale.

The aggregated findings from the three studies in this thesis highlight both top-down and bottom-up re-scaling processes (see Figure 12). In the maritime shipping sector, top-down as well as bottom-up influences occur between all scales, thereby contributing to re-scaling processes, i.e., the interplay between and reconfiguration of socio-institutional as well as techno-economic structures at different scales (Mansfield, 2005). Top-down influences are mainly observed from the international to the national and regional and local scales, as well as from the national to the regional and regional and local scale. Multi-scalar top-down influences are manifested in the impact of the IMO's global policy mix on: a. the influence of technological alignment between fossil (established global and national regime) and biobased fuels for implementation of the latter as examined in Study 1; b. the technology implications in the international shipping industry presented in Study 2; and c. the sectoral conditions for the development of grassroots innovations in the maritime shipping sector, such as the sail cargo initiatives studied in Study 3.



Figure 12 Overview of top-down and bottom-up influences identified in the thesis' three studies

Furthermore, Study 1 also explores top-down influences from national policy, i.e., the national territorially embedded regime, on development of territorially embedded niches in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector. Multi-scalar bottom-up influences for sustainability transitions in the maritime shipping sector are observed in interactions between the local and regional, national as well international scales, and are showcased through a. how niche technology developments enforce a new territorially embedded regime in Study 1, b. re-scaling processes related to frontrunner member states driving implementation of stricter global GHG regulation during IMO negotiations (Studies 1 and 2), and c. the multi-scalar dynamics of emergence and development of sail cargo initiatives as nomadic grassroots innovations (Study 3).

The combined findings from the three studies point to a need for a broader conceptualisation of top-down and bottom-up influences for sustainability transitions. Given that observations of top-down influences in the maritime shipping sector go beyond dominant governance initiatives at the national level, the findings from this thesis challenge Hodson et al.'s (2016) assumption that national governance initiatives aimed towards market formation are the main top-down influence. I thereby suggest an expansion of Hodson et al. (2016) definitions, which in addition to governance initiatives at the national level acknowledges governance initiatives at other scales as well as further top-down structures associated with additional socio-technical elements such as material artefacts, networks of actors, and norms and practices that constitute sectoral conditions. This would enable a more systematic exploration of how the global or national socio-technical regime configuration exerts top-down pressure on transition activities at the lower scales. Furthermore, the findings from Study 3 highlight how grassroots innovations are not only rooted at the hyper-local scale, but rather are dependent on and take advantage of multi-scalar resources and networks in addition to being anchored in multiple localities. Taken together with the observation of bottom-up influences from the national to the international scale regarding IMO negotiations, the findings from this thesis further challenges Hodson et al.'s (2016) assumption that bottomup influences typically stem from transition activities at the hyper-local scale. Following this, I suggest that bottom-up influences should be seen as multifaceted given their interplay with multiple scales, and thereby should be explored for additional scales beyond the hyper-local. This implies that although top-down influences are associated with regime pressures, bottom-up influences should be seen as more than niche development, and include how the interaction between socio-technical configurations at different scales exert bottom-up influences on socio-technical regimes.

Transition trajectories in sectors with strong global regimes

Previous studies of how transitions unfold in sectors with strong global regimes are scarce, as most previous studies have explored 'local-global niche development'

trajectories. Such a trajectory assumes that successful niche-regime interplay, mainly between the local and national level, fosters upscaling of niches, ultimately resulting in changes to the incumbent regime at the national scale. If multiple national-level regimes undergo the same transition, these might influence changes in the global regime (Geels, 2002; Geels & Raven, 2006). This 'local-global niche development' trajectory assumes that socio-technical change is dependent on place-specific conditions that favours niche development; however, Miörner and Binz (2021) argue that for certain sectors, the strong global regime, rather than place-specific conditions, may be the main influence on the trajectories of sustainability transitions.

The findings of this thesis indicate that this appears to be the case for the maritime shipping sector, given how the current global regime, mainly manifested through the IMO's global policy mix, currently reinforces a continued socio-technical lockin around fossil fuels rather than promotes a shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies. Furthermore, the findings highlight the so far limited influence on changes within the global regime from niche technology development and bottomup influence from frontrunner member-states on policy processes within the IMO. This indicates that niche development alone is insufficient to drive transformative socio-technical change in the shipping industry, implying a need for different transition trajectories for sectors with strong global regimes, which supports Miörner and Binz's (2021) call for conceptualisations of additional transition trajectories. They suggest conceptualisations of two additional multi-scalar transition trajectories, 'multi-locational diffusion' and 'global advocacy', which challenge previous theoretical assumptions that sustainability transitions mainly unfold through upscaling of territorially embedded niche technologies. The 'multilocational diffusion' trajectory highlights how one or multiple territorially embedded (typically at the local scale), can be directly re-scaled into a new global niche, which in itself could be institutionalised to such a high degree that a new global regime emerges. In contrast, the 'global advocacy' trajectory refers to dual processes in which global niche developments are re-scaled downwards, influencing changes in territorially embedded niches while simultaneously also potentially becoming increasingly institutionalised into global regime structures (Miörner & Binz, 2021).

The findings of this thesis do not identify any indications of direct re-scaling of local niche developments to the global regime or emergence of global niches in the maritime shipping sector. Given that such external pressures on the global regimes described in previous conceptualisations of transitions trajectories appear to be insufficient or non-existent in the maritime shipping sector, in which the strong global regime is a obstacle to the shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies, I see a need for increased attention to internal change processes within global regimes. Based on insights from the findings of this thesis, and building on A. Smith et al.'s (2005) conceptualisation of internal adaptive capacity within socio-technical

regimes, I suggest a conceptualisation of a fourth, potential *global regime-induced* multi-scalar transition trajectory for sectors with strong global regimes, which highlights the influence of regimes on socio-technical change and how changing the global regime can drive change processes at other scales as well (see Table 4).

Local-global niche	Territorially embedded niche \rightarrow territorially embedded regime \rightarrow global regime
development	Socio-technical change starts with development of territorially embedded niches, which can be upscaled and influence territorially embedded regimes and eventually overturn the global regime if supported by favourable (place-specific) conditions (Geels, 2002; Geels & Raven, 2006).
Multi- locational diffusion	Territorially embedded niche \rightarrow global niche (\rightarrow global regime)
	Socio-technical change processes start with niche developments typically at the (territorially embedded) local scale, which can be directly re-scaled to a global niche. Potentially, the new global niche could also be institutionalised to such a high degree that it influences a new global regime (Miörner & Binz, 2021).
Global advocacy	Global niche → territorially embedded niche Global niche → global regime
	Establishment of global niches can influence emergence of territorially embedded niches as well as simultaneously prompt changes within the global regime (Miörner & Binz, 2021).
Global regime- induced	Global regime \rightarrow territorially embedded regime (\rightarrow territorially embedded niche) Global regime \rightarrow global niche (\rightarrow territorially embedded niche)
	Conditions for socio-technical change is dictated by the strong global regime, which is resistant to influence from re-scaling of territorially embedded or global niche developments. Socio-technical change therefore requires internal adaptive capacity within the global regime itself to enable changes to the regime. The new global regime hypothetically influences socio-technical change within territorially embedded regimes as well as global niches, which in turn can influence changes in territorially embedded niches.

Table 4 Overview of potential transition trajectories

The aggregated findings from the three studies in this thesis point to the fact that the maritime shipping sector has an exceptionally strong global regime, which historically has been resistant to change. This strong global regime exerts pressure on territorially embedded regimes at the regional, national and local levels as well as development of both territorially embedded and global niches. While implementation of stricter global regulation of air polluting substances from international shipping has been successful, the current global policy mix regulating GHG emissions is insufficient to provide incentives for implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies, implying that the current global regime is a barrier to the shift to sustainable shipping. So far, bottom-up influences, such as territorially embedded as well as global niche development, and member-state influence on IMO negotiations regarding implementation of stricter GHG policy, has not been enough to put pressure on the fossil-fuel-centred global regime is a change. Rather, findings from Study 2 point to the fact that the current regime is a store.

continuously reproduced given that influential IMO member states still see conventional fossil fuels as the main propulsion technology, implying that their shared interests, values and problem-solving routines remain centred around conventional propulsion technologies. This furthermore implies that the previously assumed transition trajectories, where regimes typically are overturned through upscaling and diffusion of niche technologies, does not appear to be sufficient to overturn the global regime in the maritime shipping sector. While this highlights that hard-to-abate sectors with strong global regimes likely are even more pathdependent and resistant to change than other sectors, this also points to a need to find alternative strategies for changing the global regime. Given that the strong global regime sets the conditions for how transitions can happen in the maritime shipping sector, changes to the global regime are necessary to enable a shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies at the global as well as national and local or community scales. Rather than focusing on different types of influence from territorially embedded and global niches to territorially embedded and global regimes, I suggest that a global regime-induced multi-scalar transition trajectory for sectors with strong global regimes should encompass increased attention to the internal adaptive capacity of the global regime. Internal adaptive capacity refers to the incumbent socio-technical regime having sufficient capabilities and resources to achieve changes in the regime within itself (A. Smith et al., 2005). Given the strong influence of the high degree of institutionalisation in strong global regimes on multiscalar transition dynamics, internal adaptive capacity within the regime is important to enable a shift to a more sustainable regime configuration that can drive niche technology development and implementation at the global, national and local or community level (see Figure 13).



Figure 13 A global regime-induced transition trajectory for sectors with strong global regimes Further developed based on Miörner and Binz (2021).

In the maritime shipping sector, the internal adaptive capacity of the global regime can be related to the financial and human resources of the IMO's administrative organisation (the IMO Secretariat), as well as the readiness of IMO member states to reach political consensus during negotiations regarding implementation of stricter GHG regulations. Furthermore, beyond regulatory aspects, the adaptive capacity of major shipowners, fuel producers, cargo costumers and other influential regime actors to adopt more sustainable propulsion technologies also influences the internal adaptive capacity of the global regime, although this has not been extensively explored in this thesis. Findings from the second study in this thesis highlight that there are multiple challenges for increasing the internal adaptive capacity within the IMO to enable implementation of stricter GHG regulation; however, given the successful implementation of regulation of air polluting substances, there is great potential for transformative socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector if sufficient GHG regulation is implemented. Furthermore, findings from Study 1 point to how changes within the national regime configuration towards favouring low- and zero-carbon propulsion technologies have been a driver of niche development in the Norwegian coastal shipping sector, further showcasing the potential of regime pressure to drive socio-technical change towards sustainability transitions. This successful regime change indicates that the incumbent sociotechnical regime at national level in Norway had sufficient internal adaptive capacity to implement stricter GHG regulation for coastal shipping, which furthermore points to the fact that socio-technical regimes at the national scale likely have larger internal adaptive capacity than global regimes. Consequently, it can be assumed that with increasing scale comes increasing complexity, which is challenging for development of internal adaptive capacity within global regimes. These insights contribute to a further understanding of how transitions unfold in sectors with strong global regimes and highlight the importance of considering global regime-induced transition trajectories for such sectors.

Limitations and future research

In the following, final section of this chapter, I reflect on the boundary conditions of the three studies included in this thesis, which on the one hand highlight limitations of the research, but also, on the other hand, emphasize the continued need for further exploration of the ongoing shift towards more sustainable propulsion technologies as well as sustainability transitions in sectors with strong global regimes. Considering that the main conceptual frameworks for explaining how sustainability transitions unfold have been developed based on empirical exploration of national case studies, there is a continued need for deepening our understanding of how sustainability transitions unfold in sectors with strong global regimes such as the steel industry, and the aviation and petrochemical sectors. Future research could further explore strategies for destabilisation of incumbent global regimes and develop complementary conceptualisations of transition trajectories in sectors with strong global regimes, both with regards to the internal adaptive capacity of incumbent regimes as well as external pressures driving regime changes.

Although exploring both top-down and bottom-up influences on socio-technical change towards more sustainable propulsion technologies offers the opportunity to gain more comprehensive insights regarding decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector, limiting the focus of the thesis to either one of these would have enabled more in-depth exploration of the particular influences. Considering that the majority of previous research on sustainability transitions in the shipping industry has explored top-down influences, there is especially a need for further research on bottom-up influences. However, given the scarcity of previous research on the interaction between top-down and bottom-up influence on sustainability transitions, future efforts ought to engage with further exploration and conceptualisation of top-down as well as bottom-up influences on socio-technical change. Such continued explorations could also consider top-down influences beyond governance initiatives; for instance, the institutional impact of established fossil fuel infrastructure, as well as bottom-up initiatives from conventional shipowners.

This thesis includes a case study of a frontrunner nation (Norway) to study the role of national policy in driving implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies. However, not all nations are frontrunners, and many are instead at earlier stages, where we are likely to observe different patterns of interplay between contextual, place-specific conditions and national policy in driving socio-technical change. In contrast to frontrunners, countries considered laggards are more likely to copy already established socio-technical solutions, rather than engage in innovation and early stages of technology development. Differences in capacity between frontrunners and laggards to engage in such activities can be explained by variations in institutional infrastructures, financial resources, knowledge networks, etc., highlighting a need to further explore implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies also in countries in earlier stages of technology adoption. Furthermore, the dynamics between member states during IMO negotiations are complex and the influence on negotiations are likely to vary across member states depending on the type of actors included in delegations, national climate mitigation agendas, the role of the shipping industry for the nation's economy, and status of implementation of alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies. Future research that considers additional national cases is therefore also of the utmost importance to develop a further understanding of the complexity of the dynamics between member states during IMO negotiations, and how this effects the internal adaptive capacity for socio-technical change within the IMO.

Moreover, in recent years, the EU has become an increasingly important regulatory actor for the maritime shipping sector following the gradual inclusion of shipping in the EU emission trading scheme, the FuelEU maritime regulation, and other policy measures within the EU Commission's Fit for 55 legislative package. Given
that these policy measures were still under discussion at the time Study 2 was conducted (and are still not yet fully implemented), EU policy was excluded from this thesis, but is important to consider in future research. This delimitation invites future research on the role of EU policy in driving socio-technical change in the shipping industry, for example in relation to if and how the differences in organisational structure between the EU and the IMO enable implementation of different types of policy measures, such as economic or regulatory policy instruments targeting creative and/or destructive processes. Considering previous examples of how EU regulation of air polluting substances drove implementation of similar regulations at the IMO, future research ought to engage with policy process interactions between these two governance levels to gain a further understanding of bottom-up influence driving socio-technical change within the shipping industry's strong global regime.

Given the increased multi-scalar regulatory complexity for the shipping industry following recent policy developments at EU level, it is also relevant to explore the technology implications of multi-scalar policy mixes, including policy elements from the IMO, the EU and other supra-national organisations, and national-level policy mixes. In addition, this also encourages future research on cross-country comparisons between national policy mixes to explore spatial variations of the interaction between policy measures and technology development and implementation. Such spatial variations could be expected as a result of, for example, differences in institutional infrastructures and access to natural resources for fuel or electricity production, and are likely to result in adoption of different sustainable propulsion technologies. Understanding these spatial variations could provide further insight into governance-related top-down influences on socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector, as well as which factors contribute to implementation of a successful policy mix.

Finally, the third study in this thesis showcases the potential for individual actors to drive socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the shipping industry. Given the inability of the current global policy mix to drive socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector, there is a need to further explore if and how individual actors such as grassroots activists, shipowners, technology suppliers, fuel producers and cargo owners engage in socio-technical change processes that go beyond regulatory requirements. Furthermore, it is also relevant to consider how policy at different scales can support such efforts.

7. Concluding remarks

This thesis set out to advance the current understanding of how multi-scalar topdown and bottom-up processes influence socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the global maritime shipping sector. To this end, I posed the following overarching research question to be answered by the aggregated findings from the thesis: how does the strong global regime in the maritime shipping sector interact with top-down and bottom-up transition dynamics at the global, national and community level? Empirically, this thesis has addressed this overarching research question through exploration of multi-scalar top-down influences in the form of international policy dynamics (Study 2) and the role of international and national policy in driving development and implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies (Study 1 and 2). In addition, top-down influences are explored in relation to the sectoral conditions associated with the shipping industry's strong global regime, which influence the development of grassroots innovations in the maritime shipping sector (Study 3). Furthermore, multi-scalar bottom-up influences are explored through examining re-scaling processes related to frontrunner member-states driving implementation of stricter IMO GHG regulation (Study 2), how niche technology developments enforce a new configuration of the national regime for Norwegian coastal shipping (Study 1), as well as the emergence and development of sail cargo initiatives as nomadic grassroots innovations (Study 3).

In addition to contributing to further empirical insights regarding socio-technical change towards decarbonisation of the global maritime shipping sector, this thesis also contributes to advancing the current understanding of sustainability transitions in sectors with strong global regimes as well as multi-scalar top-down and bottomup transition dynamics. The aggregated findings highlight how the strong global regime sets the prerequisites for how socio-technical change can unfold in the maritime shipping sector, both regarding top-down as well as bottom-up processes. With regard to top-down processes, the analysis reveals that policy incentives, both at the global and national scale, are currently insufficient to drive decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector. Given that the current global policy mix reinforces the socio-technical lock-in on fossil ship fuels rather than incentivises development and implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies, the global shipping industry is off course for reaching the level of decarbonisation needed to achieve the emission reduction targets set in the IMO GHG Strategy as well as the

Paris Agreement. Furthermore, the findings reveal that bottom-up influences from IMO member states play an important role in the policy dynamics during negotiations for implementation of stricter global GHG policy, indicating a multiscalar interplay also for bottom-up influences. In addition, bottom-up initiatives such as nomadic grassroots innovations in the maritime shipping sector are dependent on and utilise multi-scalar socio-technical elements for their development. Although their multi-scalar interactions, for example, grant sail cargo initiatives access to larger populations of grassroots actors, they struggle with gaining legitimacy as well as diffusing and upscaling their niche activities. The findings thereby point to the importance of considering the multi-scalarity of topdown as well as bottom-up influences on socio-technical change rather than assuming that policy incentives will be sufficient to drive technology development and implementation. Furthermore, the findings indicate that socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector is unlikely to unfold solely based on niche development given the resistance to change within the global regime. This highlights a need for further conceptualisations for how sustainability transitions can unfold in sectors with strong global regimes.

In this thesis, two main conceptual contributions are presented. First, I argue that there is a need to expand current conceptualisations of what encompasses top-down and bottom-up influence on sustainability transitions. For this, I suggest complementing previous conceptualisations of top-down influence as predominantly governance initiatives by acknowledging other top-down structures associated with additional socio-technical elements such as material artefacts, networks of actors, and norms and practices that constitute sectoral conditions. Furthermore, I suggest that rather than only being associated with niche development at the hyper-local scale, bottom-up influences should be seen as multifaceted and multi-scalar given the interplay between multiple scales with regards to, for example, policy processes. Second, I suggest introducing a global regime-induced transition trajectory to further develop our understanding of sustainability transitions in sectors with strong global regimes. Rather than expecting sustainability transitions to unfold through re-scaling of niche (technology) developments, the global-regime-induced trajectory highlights the importance of internal adaptive capacity to change the socio-technical configuration within the global regime itself. Given that sectors with strong global regimes are typically resistant to change due to the high degree of institutionalisation of the global regime, I suggest that increased attention should be given to strategies for changing the global regime through internal processes. If a successful reconfiguration of the global regime is achieved, this is expected to drive sociotechnical change through top-down re-scaling processes influencing regimes and niches at all scales.

Policy implications

The aggregated findings from the three studies in this thesis highlight the importance of policy initiatives to steer the shipping sector on the right course towards decarbonisation. Although there are many potential policy implications of the findings in this thesis, as a complement to the more concrete policy implications related to policy processes within the IMO and the Norwegian coastal shipping sector, as well as bottom-up initiatives presented in previous sections, in this section I highlight overarching implications that are important for policymakers to consider.

In a way, the most effective strategy to decrease GHG emissions from the maritime shipping sector would be to ship less. Being a hard-to-abate sector, the shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies promises to be a slow process, especially given the lack of silver bullet solutions, the complexity of shifting to several new technologies and the uncertainty regarding availability, price and life cycle emissions of alternative propulsion technologies. In order to achieve the crucial rapid reduction of GHG emissions needed to enable decarbonisation in line with the Paris Agreement, there is therefore a need for policy incentives to decrease maritime shipping operations. During the last century, following increased energy efficiency, the cost of maritime shipping has been relatively low – contributing to globalisation of value chains. With regard to climate change, this has, however, had negative impacts as the GHG emission from maritime shipping has continuously increased over the same time period. Furthermore, the low cost of maritime transport enables 'unnecessary' shipping, such as the shipping of fish fished in the North Atlantic to Asia for preparation before being shipped back to be sold in, for example, Scandinavian supermarkets (Skjåstad Lysvold, 2019), partly because the cost of labour and transport to Asia is less than the cost of labour in Scandinavia. Therefore, I argue that decreasing maritime shipping operations relates to eliminating 'unnecessary' shipping, as well as the need for a general decrease in (over)consumption and consequently maritime transport.

In the current economic system, the most effective incentive to decrease shipping volumes and streamline shipping operations in a way that reduces GHG emissions is presumably to increase the cost of shipping for the consumer as well as for the shipowner. This could be achieved, for example, through implementation of global or regional fossil fuel levies, emission trading schemes or other economic policy instruments. The impending implementation of more sustainable alternative propulsion technologies is also likely to contribute to increasing costs of shipping given the expected higher fuel price of alternatives such as hydrogen and methanol. In addition, it is also crucial to remove fossil fuel subsidies in all sectors to even out the price difference between conventional fossil fuels and alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies. Incoming funds from economic policy instruments ought to be directed towards supporting development and imple-

mentation of more sustainable propulsion technologies to further contribute to decarbonisation of the maritime shipping sector.

A decrease in maritime shipping operations would alter the world as we know it. Rather than a continuation of current globalisation trends, we can presume that less shipping would imply an increasing regionalisation of value chains and trade patterns. Given that spatial variations are expected regarding implementation of alternative, more sustainable propulsion technologies depending on access to natural resources, existing knowledge networks, etc., regionalisation of value chains and trade patterns could furthermore contribute to establishment of new fuel infrastructures serving ships on specific routes. Paradoxically, around 30% of current shipping operations are related to transport of fossil fuels, including heavy fuel oil, LNG, and marine gas/diesel oil for use as ship fuel. Implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies in combination with reducing shipping operations would thereby contribute to lowering GHG emissions from the shipping industry in dual ways, both in relation to a decreased need for transporting fossil fuels and the direct reduction of operational emissions. In addition, the anticipated phase-out of fossil fuels in other sectors will further contribute to a reduced need for transporting fossil fuels by ship.

Sustainable shipping on the horizon?

This thesis unpacks part of the complexity associated with decarbonising the global maritime shipping sector. Combined, the collected material from the three studies in this thesis tells a story of how enabling socio-technical change in the maritime shipping sector requires top-down as well as bottom-up influences. Although shifting away from fossil fuels in this hard-to-abate sector is a slow-moving process, some small, hopeful steps ahead have been taken since the start of this PhD project. In 2023, the Initial IMO GHG Strategy from 2018 was updated to include more ambitious GHG reduction targets, aiming for net-zero emissions from international shipping by or around 2050 (IMO, 2023). Although still insufficient to drive full decarbonisation, additional policy instruments addressing GHG emissions have been decided upon by the IMO, and further mid-term measures are expected to be settled on during the next MEPC meeting in April 2025. During the last MEPC meeting in October 2024, the Secretary General of the IMO reportedly jokingly stated that delegates will be locked in the room until they have reached an agreement on implementation of mid-term economic measures at the next meeting. Technology suppliers such as engine manufacturers are taking initiative to develop new solutions for implementation of more sustainable propulsion technologies to meet the increasing demand from shipowners. Furthermore, an increasing number of different types of ships are now running on hydrogen, methanol and battery-electric propulsion systems as well as more modern versions of wind-assisted propulsion,

either as the sole propulsion technology or as part of a hybrid solution. However, although positive improvements have been made during the course of this PhD project, current efforts are still insufficient to drive the urgently needed shift to more sustainable propulsion technologies, and the transition trajectories remains uncertain. Ultimately, the maritime industry continues to be a hard-to-abate sector, and the findings of this thesis highlight that the shift to sustainable shipping will indeed be more difficult than turning an oil tanker.

References

- Aldenius, M. (2018). Influence of public bus transport organisation on the introduction of renewable fuel. *Research in Transportation Economics*, 69, 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2018.07.004
- Aldenius, M., & Khan, J. (2017). Strategic use of green public procurement in the bus sector: Challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 164, 250–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.06.196
- Alkemade, F., Hekkert, M. P., & Negro, S. O. (2011). Transition policy and innovation policy: Friends or foes? *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 1(1), 125–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2011.04.009
- Alvesson, M., & Kärreman, D. (2011). Qualitative Research and Theory Development: Mystery as Method. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446287859
- Alvesson, M., Sandberg, J., & Einola, K. (2022). Reflexive Design in Qualitative Research. In U. Flick (Ed.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research Design* (pp. 23–40). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Arthur, W. (1994). *Increasing Returns and Path Dependence in the Economy*. University of Michigan Press. https://doi.org/10.3998/MPUB.10029
- Bach, H., Bergek, A., Bjørgum, Ø., Hansen, T., Kenzhegaliyeva, A., & Steen, M. (2020). Implementing maritime battery-electric and hydrogen solutions: A technological innovation systems analysis. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 87, 102492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102492
- Bauer, F., & Fuenfschilling, L. (2019). Local initiatives and global regimes Multi-scalar transition dynamics in the chemical industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 216, 172–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.01.140
- Bengtsson, S., Andersson, K., & Fridell, E. (2011). A comparative life cycle assessment of marine fuels; liquefied natural gas and three other fossil fuels. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part M: Journal of Engineering for the Maritime Environment, 225*(2), 97–110. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1475090211402136
- Bento, N., & Wilson, C. (2016). Measuring the duration of formative phases for energy technologies. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 21, 95–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2016.04.004
- Bergek, A., Bjørgum, Ø., Hansen, T., Hanson, J., & Steen, M. (2021). Sustainability transitions in coastal shipping: The role of regime segmentation. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 12, 100497. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRIP.2021.100497

- Bergek, A., Hekkert, M., & Jacobsson, S. (2008). Functions in innovation systems: A framework for analyzing energy-system dynamics and identifying goals for systembuilding activities by entrepreneurs and policymaker. In T. J. Foxon, J. Köhler, & C. Oughton (Eds.), *Innovations for a Low Carbon Economy: Economic, Institutional* and Management Approaches (pp. 79–111). Edward Elgar.
- Bergek, A., Jacobsson, S., Carlsson, B., Lindmark, S., & Rickne, A. (2008). Analyzing the functional dynamics of technological innovation systems: A scheme of analysis. *Research Policy*, 37, 407–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.12.003
- Bhaskar, R. (1975). A Realist Philosophy of Science. Leeds Books.
- Bhaskar, R. (1978). A Realist Theory of Science. HarvesterPress.
- Binz, C., Coenen, L., Murphy, J. T., & Truffer, B. (2020). Geographies of transition— From topical concerns to theoretical engagement: A commentary on the transitions research agenda. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 34, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.11.002
- Bjerkan, K. Y., Hansen, L., & Steen, M. (2021). Towards sustainability in the port sector: The role of intermediation in transition work. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 40, 296–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2021.08.004
- Bjerkan, K. Y., & Ryghaug, M. (2021). Diverging pathways to port sustainability: How social processes shape and direct transition work. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *166*, 120595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120595
- Bjerkan, K. Y., Ryghaug, M., & Skjølsvold, T. M. (2021). Actors in energy transitions. Transformative potentials at the intersection between Norwegian port and transport systems. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 72, 101868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101868
- Borrás, S., & Edquist, C. (2013). The choice of innovation policy instruments. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 80(8), 1513–1522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2013.03.002
- Bouman, E. A., Lindstad, E., Rialland, A. I., & Strømman, A. H. (2017). State-of-the-art technologies, measures, and potential for reducing GHG emissions from shipping – A review. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 52, 408– 421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.03.022
- Bento, N., & Wilson, C. (2016). Measuring the duration of formative phases for energy technologies. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *21*, 95–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2016.04.004
- Budach, G. (2012). Part of the Puzzle: The Retrospective Interview as Reflexive Practice in Collaborative Ethnographic Research. In S. Gardner & M. Martin-Jones (Eds.), *Multilingualism, Discourse, and Ethnography* (pp. 319–333). Routledge.
- Bullock, S., Mason, J., Broderick, J., & Larkin, A. (2020). Shipping and the Paris climate agreement: a focus on committed emissions. *BMC Energy*, 2(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42500-020-00015-2
- Bunnell, T. G., & Coe, N. M. (2001). Spaces and scales of innovation. *Progress in Human Geography*, 25(4), 569–589. https://doi.org/10.1191/030913201682688940

- Burel, F., Taccani, R., & Zuliani, N. (2013). Improving sustainability of maritime transport through utilization of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) for propulsion. *Energy*, 57, 412– 420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2013.05.002
- Byrne, J. A. (2021). Observations for Data Collection in Urban Studies and Urban Analysis. In S. Baum (Ed.), *Methods in Urban Analysis* (pp. 127–149). Springer Nature.
- Chircop, A. (2019). The quest for universality and uniformity: theory and practice of international maritime regulation. In J. Chuah (Ed.), *Research Handbook on Maritime Law and Regulation* (pp. 116–147). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781786438799.00012
- Clark, G. L. (1998). Stylized facts and close dialogue: Methodology in economic geography. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 88(1), 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8306.00085
- Clarksons Research. (2019). World Shipyard Monitor. www.clarksons.com.
- Coe, N. M., Hess, M., Yeung, H. W. C., Dicken, P., & Henderson, J. (2004). "Globalizing" Regional Development: A Global Production Networks Perspective. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 29(4), 468–484.
- Coenen, L. (2015). Engaging with changing spatial realities in TIS research. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 16, 70–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2015.07.008
- Coenen, L., Benneworth, P., & Truffer, B. (2012). Toward a spatial perspective on sustainability transitions. *Research Policy*, 41(6), 968–979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2012.02.014
- Coenen, L., & Truffer, B. (2012). Places and Spaces of Sustainability Transitions: Geographical Contributions to an Emerging Research and Policy Field. *European Planning Studies*, 20(3), 367–374. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2012.651802
- Coleman, E. G. (2010). Ethnographic Approaches to Digital Media. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, *39*, 487–505. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.012809.104945
- Collier, A. (1994). Critical Realism: An Introduction to Roy Bhaskar's Philosophy. Verso.
- Corbett, J., Ruwet, M., Xu, Y.-C., & Weller, P. (2020). Climate governance, policy entrepreneurs and small states: explaining policy change at the International Maritime Organisation. *Environmental Politics*, *29*(5), 825–844. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2019.1705057
- Costantini, V., Crespi, F., & Palma, A. (2017). Characterizing the policy mix and its impact on eco-innovation: A patent analysis of energy-efficient technologies. *Research Policy*, 46(4), 799–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.02.004
- Cragila, M., Kirstein, L., Cazzola, P., & Merk, O. (2020). Navigating Towards Cleaner Maritime Shipping - Lessons From the Nordic Region. International Transport Forum. https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/navigating-cleaner-maritimeshipping.pdf
- Crouse, T., & Lowe, P. A. (2018). Snowball sampling. In B. B. Frey (Ed.), *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Educational Research, Measurement, and Evaluation.* (pp. 1532– 1532). SAGE.

- Davis, S. J., Lewis, N. S., Shaner, M., Aggarwal, S., Arent, D., Azevedo, I. L., Benson, S. M., Bradley, T., Brouwer, J., Chiang, Y. M., Clack, C. T. M., Cohen, A., Doig, S., Edmonds, J., Fennell, P., Field, C. B., Hannegan, B., Hodge, B. M., Hoffert, M. I., ... Caldeira, K. (2018). Net-zero emissions energy systems. *Science*, 360(6396). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.AAS9793
- De Beukelaer, C. (2023). *Trade winds: a voyage to a sustainable future for shipping*. Manchester University Press.
- del Río, P., Carrillo-Hermosilla, J., & Könnölä, T. (2010). Policy Strategies to Promote Eco-Innovation. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *14*(4), 541–557. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1530-9290.2010.00259.X
- Dewald, U., & Truffer, B. (2011). Market Formation in Technological Innovation Systems - Diffusion of Photovoltaic Applications in Germany. *Industry and Innovation*, 18(3), 285–300. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2011.561028
- Directive 2003/87. Directive (EU) 2003/87 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 October 2003 establishing a system for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Union and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC. https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A02003L0087-20240301
- Directive 2012/33. Directive (EU) 2012/33 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 November 2012 Amending Council Directive 1999/32/EC as Regards the Sulphur Content of Marine Fuels. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32012L0033
- DNV. (2024a). *Alternative Fuels Insight Platform*. [Dataset]. https://afi.dnv.com/Statistics?repId=1
- DNV. (2024b, 25 March). *IMO MEPC 81: negotiations on new GHG reduction requirements continue*. https://www.dnv.com/news/imo-mepc-81-negotiations-on-new-ghg-reduction-requirements-continue/
- DNV GL. (2019). Maritime Forecast To 2050 Energy Transition Outlook 2019.
- Dolata, U. (2009). Technological innovations and sectoral change: Transformative capacity, adaptability, patterns of change: An analytical framework. *Research Policy*, *38*, 1066–1076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2009.03.006
- Dubois, A., & Gadde, L. E. (2002). Systematic combining: an abductive approach to case research. *Journal of Business Research*, 55(7), 553–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(00)00195-8
- Ek, Å., Runefors, M., & Borell, J. (2014). Relationships between safety culture aspects A work process to enable interpretation. *Marine Policy*, 44, 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.08.024
- Endresen, Ø., Sørgård, E., Behrens, H. L., Brett, P. O., & Isaksen, I. S. A. (2007). A historical reconstruction of ships' fuel consumption and emissions. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres*, 112(12), D12301. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JD007630
- Equasis. (2022). The 2020 World Merchant Fleet Statistics from Equasis.
- European Community Shipowners' Association. (2020). *The economic value of the EU shipping industry*. https://ecsa.eu/wp-content/uploads/publications/07b6f126df37bab4f0208fd6171152d9.pdf

- European Community Shipowner's Associations. (2020). A Green Deal for the European shipping industry.
- Feola, G., & Butt, A. (2017). The diffusion of grassroots innovations for sustainability in Italy and Great Britain: an exploratory spatial data analysis. *The Geographical Journal*, 183(1), 16–33. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/geoj.12153
- Feola, G., & Him, M. R. (2016). The diffusion of the Transition Network in four European countries. *Environment and Planning A*, 48(11), 2112–2115. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308518X16630989
- Flanagan, K., Uyarra, E., & Laranja, M. (2011). Reconceptualising the "policy mix" for innovation. *Research Policy*, 40(5), 702–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.02.005
- Fletcher, M. (1997). From coal to oil in British shipping. In D. M. Williams (Ed.), The World of Shipping (pp. 153–171). Routledge.
- Foxon, T. J., Hammond, G. P., & Pearson, P. J. G. (2010). Developing transition pathways for a low carbon electricity system in the UK. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 77(8), 1203–1213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2010.04.002
- Foxon, T. J., & Pearson, P. (2008). Overcoming barriers to innovation and diffusion of cleaner technologies: some features of a sustainable innovation policy regime. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16(1), 148–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2007.10.011
- Fuenfschilling, L., & Binz, C. (2018). Global socio-technical regimes. *Research Policy*, 47, 735–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.02.003
- Fuenfschilling, L., & Truffer, B. (2014). The structuration of socio-technical regimes -Conceptual foundations from institutional theory. *Research Policy*, 43(4), 772–791. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2013.10.010
- Garrat, G. R. M., Goodman, D. C., & Russel, C. A. (1973). *Science and Engineering, Units 14 and 15.* Open University Press.
- Geels, F. W. (2002). Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: A multi-level perspective and a case-study. *Research Policy*, *31*(8–9), 1257–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(02)00062-8
- Geels, F. W. (2004). From sectoral systems of innovation to socio-technical systems: Insights about dynamics and change from sociology and institutional theory. *Research Policy*, 33(6–7), 897–920. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2004.01.015
- Geels, F. W. (2005). Processes and patterns in transitions and system innovations: Refining the co-evolutionary multi-level perspective. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 72, 681–696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2004.08.014
- Geels, F. W. (2011). The multi-level perspective on sustainability transitions: Responses to seven criticisms. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *1*, 24–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.002
- Geels, F. W. (2018). Disruption and low-carbon system transformation: Progress and new challenges in socio-technical transitions research and the Multi-Level Perspective. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 37, 224–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ERSS.2017.10.010

- Geels, F. W. (2022). Causality and explanation in socio-technical transitions research: Mobilising epistemological insights from the wider social sciences. *Research Policy*, 51(6), 104537. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2022.104537
- Geels, F. W., & Raven, R. (2006). Non-linearity and Expectations in Niche-Development Trajectories: Ups and Downs in Dutch Biogas Development (1973–2003). *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 18(3–4), 375–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537320600777143
- Gereffi, G., Humphrey, J., & Sturgeon, T. (2005). The governance of global value chains. *Review of International Political Economy*, 12(1), 78–104. https://doi.org/10.1080/09692290500049805
- Gilbert, P., Walsh, C., Traut, M., Kesieme, U., Pazouki, K., & Murphy, A. (2018). Assessment of full life-cycle air emissions of alternative shipping fuels. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 172, 855–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.165
- Giziakis, C., & Christodoulou, A. (2012). Environmental awareness and practice concerning maritime air emissions: the case of the Greek shipping industry. *Maritime Policy & Management*, 39(3), 353–368. https://doi.org/10.1080/03088839.2012.671543
- Greenwood, R., Oliver, C., Sahlin, K., & Suddaby, R. (2008). *The Sage Handbook of Organizational Institutionalism*. SAGE Publications.
- Håkansson, I. (2018). The socio-spatial politics of urban sustainability transitions: Grassroots initiatives in gentrifying Peckham. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 29, 34–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.10.003
- Hampton, K. N. (2017). Studying the Digital: Directions and Challenges for Digital Methods. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *43*, 167–188.
- Hansen, E. K., Rasmussen, H. B., & Lützen, M. (2020). Making shipping more carbonfriendly? Exploring ship energy efficiency management plans in legislation and practice. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 65, 101459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101459
- Hansen, T., & Coenen, L. (2015). The geography of sustainability transitions: Review, synthesis and reflections on an emergent research field. *Environmental Innovation* and Societal Transitions, 17, 92–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2014.11.001
- Hansen, U. E., Nygaard, I., Romijn, H., Wieczorek, A., Kamp, L. M., & Klerkx, L. (2018). Sustainability transitions in developing countries: Stocktaking, new contributions and a research agenda. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 84, 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSCI.2017.11.009
- Hebinck, A., Diercks, G., von Wirth, T., Beers, P. J., Barsties, L., Buchel, S., Greer, R., van Steenbergen, F., & Loorbach, D. (2022). An actionable understanding of societal transitions: the X-curve framework. *Sustainability Science*, *17*(3), 1009–1021. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11625-021-01084-W/FIGURES/3
- Heiberg, J. (2017a). *Bibliographic analysis within biofuels, fuel cells, and electricity storage related to the Norwegian maritime shipping sector*. Lund University.
- Heiberg, J. (2017b). Patent analysis within biofuels, fuel cells, and electricity storage related to the Norwegian maritime shipping sector. Lund University.

- Hekkert, M. P., Suurs, R. A. A., Negro, S. O., Kuhlmann, S., & Smits, R. E. H. M. (2007). Functions of innovation systems: A new approach for analysing technological change. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 74, 413–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2006.03.002
- Hillman, K. M., & Sandén, B. A. (2008). Exploring technology paths: The development of alternative transport fuels in Sweden 2007-2020. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 75(8), 1279–1302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2008.01.003
- Hodson, M., Marvin, S., & Späth, P. (2016). Subnational, Inter-scalar Dynamics: The Differentiated Geographies of Governing Low Carbon Transitions - With Examples from the UK. In H. Brauch, Ú. Oswald Spring, J. Grin, & J. Scheffran (Eds.), *Handbook on Sustainability Transition and Sustainable Peace* (pp. 465–477). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-43884-9 20
- Hoffmann, J., Rydbergh, T., & Stevenson, A. (2020, 24 March). Decarbonizing Shipping: What role for flag states? UNCTAD Transport and Trade Facilitation Newsletter N°86 - Second Quarter 2020. https://unctad.org/news/decarbonizing-shipping-what-role-flag-states
- Horvath, S., Fasihi, M., & Breyer, C. (2018). Techno-economic analysis of a decarbonized shipping sector: Technology suggestions for a fleet in 2030 and 2040. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 164, 230–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2018.02.098
- Howlett, M., & Rayner, J. (2007). Design Principles for Policy Mixes: Cohesion and Coherence in 'New Governance Arrangements.' *Policy and Society*, *26*(4), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1449-4035(07)70118-2
- Hughes, T. P. (1987). The evolution of large technological systems. In W. E. Bijker, T. Hughes, & T. Pinch (Eds.), *The Social Construction of Technological Systems. New directions in the history of technology* (pp. 51–82). MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- IMO. (2018). Initial IMO Strategy on Reduction of GHG Emissions from Ships. http://www.imo.org
- IMO. (2019, n.d.). *Brief History of IMO*. Accessed 17 March 2021 from https://www.imo.org/en/About/HistoryOfIMO/Pages/Default.aspx
- IMO. (2020). Fourth IMO GHG Study.
- IMO. (2023). 2023 IMO Strategy on Reduction of GHG Emissions from Ships.
- International Chamber of Shipping. (2020). Catalysing the fourth propulsion revolution the urgent need to accelerate R&D to deliver zero-carbon shipping by 2050.
- Jaffe, A. B., Newell, R. G., & Stavins, R. N. (2002). Environmental policy and technological change. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, *22*(1–2), 41–70. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015519401088/METRICS
- Johnstone, N., Haščič, I., & Popp, D. (2010). Renewable Energy Policies and Technological Innovation: Evidence Based on Patent Counts. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 45, 133–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-009-9309-1

- Kanchiralla, F. M., Brynolf, S., Olsson, T., Ellis, J., Hansson, J., & Grahn, M. (2023). How do variations in ship operation impact the techno-economic feasibility and environmental performance of fossil-free fuels? A life cycle study. *Applied Energy*, 350, 121773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2023.121773
- Kay, A. (2006). The Dynamics of Public Policy: Theory and Evidence. Edward Elgar.
- Kemp, R. (1994). Technology and the transition to environmental sustainability: The problem of technological regime shifts. *Futures*, 26(10), 1023–1046. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-3287(94)90071-X
- Kemp, R. (2007). Integrating environmental and innovation policies. In S. Parto & B. Herbert-Copley (Eds.), *Industrial Innovation and Environmental Regulation: Developing Workable Solutions* (pp. 258–283). United Nations University Press.
- Kemp, R. (2011). Ten themes for eco-innovation policies in Europe. Surveys and Perspectives Integrating Environment and Society, 4(2), 1–20.
- Kemp, R., Loorbach, D., & Rotmans, J. (2007). Transition management as a model for managing processes of co-evolution towards sustainable development. *The International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology*, 14(1), 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504500709469709
- Kemp, R., & Rotmans, J. (2005). The Management of the Co-Evolution of Technical, Environmental and Social Systems. In M. Weber & J. Hemmelskamp (Eds.), *Towards Environmental Innovation Systems* (pp. 33–55). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-27298-4_3
- Kemp, R., Schot, J., & Hoogma, R. (1998). Regime shifts to sustainability through processes of niche formation: The approach of strategic niche management. *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, 10(2), 175–198. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537329808524310
- Kern, F., & Howlett, M. (2009). Implementing transition management as policy reforms: A case study of the Dutch energy sector. *Policy Sciences*, 42(4), 391–408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-009-9099-x
- Kern, F., Rogge, K. S., & Howlett, M. (2019). Policy mixes for sustainability transitions: New approaches and insights through bridging innovation and policy studies. *Research Policy*, 48(10), 103832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103832
- Kirstein, L., Halim, R., & Merk, O. (2018). Decarbonising Maritime Transport Pathways to zero-carbon shipping by 2035. International Transport Forum. https://www.itfoecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/decarbonising-maritime-transport-2035.pdf
- Kivimaa, P., & Kern, F. (2016). Creative destruction or mere niche support? Innovation policy mixes for sustainability transitions. *Research Policy*, 45, 205–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2015.09.008
- Kivimaa, P., & Rogge, K. S. (2022). Interplay of policy experimentation and institutional change in sustainability transitions: The case of mobility as a service in Finland. *Research Policy*, 51(1), 104412. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2021.104412
- Klitkou, A., Bolwig, S., Hansen, T., & Wessberg, N. (2015). The role of lock-in mechanisms in transition processes: The case of energy for road transport. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 16, 22–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2015.07.005

- Köhler, J. (2020). Zero carbon propulsion in shipping scenarios for the development of hydrogen and wind technologies with the MATISSE-SHIP model. *International Shipbuilding Progress*, 67, 79–95. https://doi.org/10.3233/ISP-190269
- Köhler, J., Geels, F. W., Kern, F., Markard, J., Onsongo, E., Wieczorek, A., Alkemade, F., Avelino, F., Bergek, A., Boons, F., Fünfschilling, L., Hess, D., Holtz, G., Hyysalo, S., Jenkins, K., Kivimaa, P., Martiskainen, M., McMeekin, A., Mühlemeier, M. S., ... Wells, P. (2019). An agenda for sustainability transitions research: State of the art and future directions. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *31*, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.01.004
- Kratzer, A., Mainetti, L. M., & Unthan, N. (2022). Geography of grassroots innovations in the Dublin Bay Biosphere Reserve. *Geoforum*, 136, 161–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2022.09.016
- Lawani, A. (2021). Critical realism: what you should know and how to apply it. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *21*(3), 320–333.
- Lawhon, M., & Murphy, J. T. (2011). Socio-technical regimes and sustainability transitions. *Progress in Human Geography*, 36(3), 354–378. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132511427960
- Levinson, M. (2016). *The Box How the shipping container made the world smaller and the world economy bigger* (2nd ed.). Princeton University Press.
- Liu, X., Xue, C., & Xie, F. (2024). The impact of policy mix characteristics of multi-level governance on innovation output of the new energy vehicle industry in China. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2024.2304729
- Loorbach, D., Frantzeskaki, N., & Thissen, W. (2010). Introduction to the special section: Infrastructures and transitions. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 77(8), 1195–1202. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TECHFORE.2010.06.001
- Lu, C.-S., Hsu, C.-N., & Lee, C.-H. (2016). The Impact of Seafarers' Perceptions of National Culture and Leadership on Safety Attitude and Safety Behavior in Dry Bulk Shipping. *International Journal of E-Navigation and Maritime Economy*, 4, 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enavi.2016.06.007
- MacKinnon, D. (2010). Reconstructing scale: Towards a new scalar politics. *Progress in Human Geography*, 35(1), 21–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132510367841
- Madsen, S. H. J., & Hansen, T. (2019). Cities and climate change examining advantages and challenges of urban climate change experiments. *European Planning Studies*, 27(2), 282–299. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2017.1421907
- Maersk. (2021). World's first carbon neutral liner vessel by 2023. https://www.maersk.com/news/articles/2021/02/17/maersk-first-carbon-neutral-linervessel-by-2023#utm_source=organic post&utm_medium=twitter&utm_campaign=Carbon Neutral Vessel&utm_term=M_5D70B49A812E7_602CBE063D084
- Majone, G. (1976). Choice among Policy Instruments for Pollution Control. *Policy Analysis*, 2(4), 589–613.

- Mäkitie, T., Steen, M., Saether, E. A., Bjørgum, Ø., & Poulsen, R. T. (2022). Norwegian ship-owners' adoption of alternative fuels. *Energy Policy*, 163, 112869. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2022.112869
- Mander, S. (2017). Slow steaming and a new dawn for wind propulsion: A multi-level analysis of two low carbon shipping transitions. *Marine Policy*, *75*, 210–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOL.2016.03.018
- Mansfield, B. (2005). Beyond rescaling: reintegrating the `national' as a dimension of scalar relations. *Progress in Human Geography*, 29(4), 458–473. https://doi.org/10.1191/0309132505PH560OA
- Markard, J. (2011). Transformation of Infrastructures: Sector Characteristics and Implications for Fundamental Change. *Journal of Infrastructure Systems*, 17(3), 107– 117. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)IS.1943-555X.0000056
- Markard, J. (2018). The next phase of the energy transition and its implications for research and policy. *Nature Energy*, *3*(8), 628–633. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-018-0171-7
- Markard, J., Raven, R., & Truffer, B. (2012). Sustainability transitions: An emerging field of research and its prospects. *Research Policy*, 41, 955–967. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2012.02.013
- Markard, J., Stadelmann, M., & Truffer, B. (2009). Prospective analysis of technological innovation systems: Identifying technological and organizational development options for biogas in Switzerland. *Research Policy*, 38(4), 655–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2009.01.013
- Markard, J., & Truffer, B. (2008). Technological innovation systems and the multi-level perspective: Towards an integrated framework. *Research Policy*, *37*(4), 596–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2008.01.004
- Maxwell, J. (2012). A Realist Approach for Qualitative Research. SAGE.
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). *Qualitative research and case study applications in education* (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Meyer, J. W., Boli, J., Thomas, G. M., & Ramirez, F. O. (1997). World Society and the Nation-State. *American Journal of Sociology*, 103(1), 144–181. https://doi.org/10.1086/231174
- Mingers, J., & Standing, C. (2017). Why things happen Developing the critical realist view of causal mechanisms. *Information and Organization*, 27(3), 171–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INFOANDORG.2017.07.001
- Miörner, J., & Binz, C. (2021). Towards a multi-scalar perspective on transition trajectories. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 40, 172–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2021.06.004
- Miörner, J., Heiberg, J., & Binz, C. (2022). How global regimes diffuse in space Explaining a missed transition in San Diego's water sector. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 44, 29–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2022.05.005

- Monstadt, J. (2007). Urban Governance and the Transition of Energy Systems: Institutional Change and Shifting Energy and Climate Policies in Berlin. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, *31*(2), 326–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1468-2427.2007.00725.X
- Murphy, J. T. (2015). Human geography and socio-technical transition studies: Promising intersections. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *17*, 73–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2015.03.002
- Nanaki, E. A., & Koroneos, C. J. (2012). Comparative LCA of the use of biodiesel, diesel and gasoline for transportation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 20, 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.07.026
- Nengye, L., & Maes, F. (2010). The European Union and the International Maritime Organization: EU's external influence on the prevention of vessel-source pollution. *Journal of Maritime Law and Commerce*, 41(4), 581–594.
- Newman, D. (2020). Putting a new spin on shipping Mapping the Flettner Rotor Innovation System and Exploring Human Factors in Operation. [Master thesis, Lund University] Lund University Publications Student Papers. https://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/download?func=downloadFile&recordOId=9026014&fileOI d=9026018
- Nicolosi, E., & Feola, G. (2016). Transition in place: Dynamics, possibilities, and constraints. *Geoforum*, *76*, 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2016.09.017
- Nicolosi, E., Medina, R., & Feola, G. (2018). Grassroots innovations for sustainability in the United States: A spatial analysis. *Applied Geography*, *91*, 55–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APGEOG.2017.12.024
- Oliver, P. (2006). Purposive sampling. In V. Jupp (Ed.), *The SAGE Dictionary of Social Research Methods* (pp. 245–245). SAGE.
- Onufrey, K., & Bergek, A. (2015). Self-reinforcing Mechanisms in a Multi-technology Industry: Understanding Sustained Technological Variety in a Context of Path Dependency. *Industry and Innovation*, 22(6), 523–551. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2015.1100532
- Osterkamp, P., Smith, T., & Søgaard, K. (2021). *Five percent zero emission fuels by 2030 needed for Paris-aligned shipping decarbonization*. Getting to Zero Coalition. https://www.globalmaritimeforum.org/content/2021/03/Getting-to-Zero-Coalition_Five-percent-zero-emission-fuels-by-2030.pdf
- Otto, S., & Oberthür, S. (2024). International cooperation for the decarbonization of energy-intensive industries: unlocking the full potential. *Climate Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2024.2397437
- Ovcina Mandra, J. (2022, 8 September). IMO points to 77 pct drop in SOx emissions from ships since 2020. *Offshore Energy*. https://www.offshore-energy.biz/imo-points-to-77-pct-drop-in-sox-emissions-from-ships-since-2020/
- Papachristos, G. (2018). A mechanism based transition research methodology: Bridging analytical approaches. *Futures*, *98*, 57–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2018.02.006
- Pascali, L. (2014). *The Wind of Change: Maritime Technology, Trade and Economic Development* (Warwick Economic Research Papers).

- Pavitt, K. (1984). Sectoral patterns of technical change: Towards a taxonomy and a theory. *Research Policy*, *13*(6), 343–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-7333(84)90018-0
- Pettit, S., Wells, P., Haider, J., & Abouarghoub, W. (2018). Revisiting history: Can shipping achieve a second socio-technical transition for carbon emissions reduction? *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 58, 292–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.05.001
- Poulsen, R. T., Ponte, S., & Lister, J. (2016). Buyer-driven greening? Cargo-owners and environmental upgrading in maritime shipping. *Geoforum*, 68, 57–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2015.11.018
- Poulsen, R. T., Viktorelius, M., Varvne, H., Rasmussen, H. B., & von Knorring, H. (2022). Energy efficiency in ship operations - Exploring voyage decisions and decisionmakers. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 102, 103120. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRD.2021.103120
- Powell, W. W., & DiMaggio, P. J. (1991). *The New Institutionalism in Organizational Analysis.* University of Chicago Press.
- Pratt, A. C. (1995). Putting critical realism to work: The practical implications for geographical research. *Progress in Human Geography*, 19(1), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/030913259501900104/ASSET/030913259501900104.FP.PN G_V03
- Prochazka, V., Adland, R., & Wolff, F. C. (2019). Contracting decisions in the crude oil transportation market: Evidence from fixtures matched with AIS data. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 130, 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2019.09.009
- Progoulaki, M., & Theotokas, I. (2016). Managing culturally diverse maritime human resources as a shipping company's core competency. *Maritime Policy and Management*, 43(7), 860–873. https://doi.org/10.1080/03088839.2016.1173734
- Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council Amending Regulation (EU) 2015/757 in Order to Take Appropriate Account of the Global Data Collection System for Ship Fuel Oil Consumption Data (2019). https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/transport-emissions-ofgreenhouse-
- Psaraftis, H. N., & Kontovas, C. A. (2020). Influence and transparency at the IMO: the name of the game. *Maritime Economics and Logistics*, 22(2), 151–172. https://doi.org/10.1057/S41278-020-00149-4/TABLES/3
- Quitzow, R. (2015a). Assessing policy strategies for the promotion of environmental technologies: A review of India's National Solar Mission. *Research Policy*, 44(1), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2014.09.003
- Quitzow, R. (2015b). Dynamics of a policy-driven market: The co-evolution of technological innovation systems for solar photovoltaics in China and Germany. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 17, 126–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2014.12.002
- Raven, R., Schot, J., & Berkhout, F. (2012). Space and scale in socio-technical transitions. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 4, 63–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2012.08.001

- Reed, M. (2005). Doing the loco-motion: Response to Contu and Willmott's commentary on "the realist turn in organization and management studies." *Journal of Management Studies*, 42(8), 1663–1673.
- Regulation 2015/757. Regulation (EU) No 2015/757 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the monitoring, reporting and verification of carbon dioxide emissions from maritime transport, and amending Directive 2009/16/EC (Text with EEA relevance). https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32015R0757
- Rehmatulla, N., Calleya, J., & Smith, T. (2017). The implementation of technical energy efficiency and CO2 emission reduction measures in shipping. *Ocean Engineering*, *139*, 184–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OCEANENG.2017.04.029
- Rehmatulla, N., Parker, S., Smith, T., & Stulgis, V. (2017). Wind technologies: Opportunities and barriers to a low carbon shipping industry. *Marine Policy*, 75, 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOL.2015.12.021
- Rehmatulla, N., & Smith, T. (2020). The impact of split incentives on energy efficiency technology investments in maritime transport. *Energy Policy*, *147*, 111721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111721
- Reichardt, K., & Rogge, K. (2016). How the policy mix impacts innovation: Findings from company case studies on offshore wind in Germany. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 18, 62–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2015.08.001
- Requate, T. (2005). Dynamic incentives by environmental policy instruments A survey. *Ecological Economics*, 54(2–3), 175–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.12.028
- Resolution MEPC.203(62). Resolution MEPC.203(62) adopted on 15 July 2011 Amendments to the annex of the protocol of 1997 to amend the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as modified by the protocol of 1778 relating thereto (Inclusion of regulations on energy efficiency in MARPOL Annex VI).

https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/KnowledgeCentre/IndexofIMOResolution s/MEPCDocuments/MEPC.203(62).pdf

Resolution MEPC.278(70). Resolution MEPC.278(70) adopted on 28 October 2016 -Amendments to the annex of the protocol of 1997 to amend the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as modified by the protocol of 1778 relating thereto (Data collection system for fuel oil consumption of ships)

https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/OurWork/Environment/Documents/278(7 0).pdf

Resolution MEPC.336(76). *Resolution MEPC.336(76) adopted on 17 June 2021 - 2021 Guidelines on operational carbon intensity indicators and the calculation methods (CII Guidelines, G1).*

https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/KnowledgeCentre/IndexofIMOResolution s/MEPCDocuments/MEPC.336(76).pdf

- Rip, A., & Kemp, R. (1998). Technological change. In S. Rayner & E. L. Malone (Eds.), *Human choice and climate change - Resources and technology* (pp. 327–399). Battelle Press.
- Rogge, K. S. (2019). Policy mixes for sustainable innovation: conceptual considerations and empirical insights. In F. Boons, A. McMeekin, & K. S. Rogge (Eds.), *Handbook* of Sustainable Innovation (pp. 165–185). https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788112574.00016
- Rogge, K. S., Kern, F., & Howlett, M. (2017). Conceptual and empirical advances in analysing policy mixes for energy transitions. *Energy Research and Social Science*, 33, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.09.025
- Rogge, K. S., & Reichardt, K. (2016). Policy mixes for sustainability transitions: An extended concept and framework for analysis. *Research Policy*, 45(8), 1620–1635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2016.04.004
- Rogge, K. S., & Schleich, J. (2018). Do policy mix characteristics matter for low-carbon innovation? A survey-based exploration of renewable power generation technologies in Germany. *Research Policy*, 47(9), 1639–1654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.05.011
- Rogge, K. S., Schneider, M., & Hoffmann, V. H. (2011). The innovation impact of the EU Emission Trading System - Findings of company case studies in the German power sector. *Ecological Economics*, 70(3), 513–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2010.09.032
- Rotmans, J., Kemp, R., & van Asselt, M. (2001). More evolution than revolution: transition management in public policy. *Foresight*, *3*(1), 15–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/14636680110803003
- Roulston, K., & Choi, M. (2018). Qualitative Interviews. In U. Flick (Ed.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Collection* (pp. 233–249). SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526416070
- Saether, E. A., Eide, A. E., & Bjørgum, Ø. (2021). Sustainability among Norwegian maritime firms: Green strategy and innovation as mediators of long-term orientation and emission reduction. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *30*(5), 2382–2395. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2752
- Saldaña, J. (2009). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage Publications Ltd.
- Sanz-Hernández, A., Ferrer, C., López-Rodríguez, M. E., & Marco-Fondevila, M. (2020). Visions, innovations, and justice? Transition contracts in Spain as policy mix instruments. *Energy Research and Social Science*, 70, 101762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101762
- Sayer, A. (1985). The difference that space makes. In D. Gregory & J. Urry (Eds.), *Social Relations and Spatial Structures* (pp. 49–67). Macmillan.
- Sayer, A. (1992). *Method in Social Science* (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203163603
- Sayer, A. (2000). Realism and Social Science. SAGE Publications Ltd.

- Schmidt, T. S., Schneider, M., Rogge, K. S., Schuetz, M. J. A., & Hoffmann, V. H. (2012). The effects of climate policy on the rate and direction of innovation: A survey of the EU ETS and the electricity sector. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 2, 23–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2011.12.002
- Schmidt, T. S., & Sewerin, S. (2019). Measuring the temporal dynamics of policy mixes An empirical analysis of renewable energy policy mixes' balance and design features in nine countries. *Research Policy*, 48, 103557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.03.012
- Schumpeter, J. A. (1950). Capitalism, Socialism, and Democracy (3rd ed.). Harper.
- Scott, M. (2019, 28 June). Shipping Sector Comes Under Increasing Pressure To Cut Its Carbon Footprint. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/mikescott/2019/06/28/shipping-sector-comes-underincreasing-pressure-to-cut-its-carbon-footprint/
- SEA-LNG. (2021). 2021 Outlook for LNG A view from the bridge.
- Sengers, F., & Raven, R. (2015). Toward a spatial perspective on niche development: The case of Bus Rapid Transit. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 17, 166–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2014.12.003
- Shea, I. P. (2005). *The organisational culture of a ship: A description and some possible effects it has on accidents and lessons for seafaring leadership.* [Doctoral thesis, University of Tasmania].
- Sjöström, P.-H. (2021, 17 February). Wallenius Wilhelmsen satsar på Oceanbird. *Sjöfartstidningen*. https://www.sjofartstidningen.se/wallenius-wilhelmsen-satsar-paoceanbird/
- Sjøtun, S. G. (2019). A ferry making waves: A demonstration project 'doing' institutional work in a greening maritime industry. Norsk Geografisk Tidsskrift - Norwegian Journal of Geography, 73(1), 16–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/00291951.2018.1526208
- Skjåstad Lysvold, S. (2019, 23 January). Norsk torsk sendes til Kina og fylles med vann og kjemikalier. NRK Nordland. https://www.nrk.no/nordland/norsk-torsk-sendes-tilkina-og-fylles-med-vann-og-kjemikalier-1.14393315?fbclid=IwAR0SDk4r7uzr1zMTAPwFJzChv_ciqC1vdnoawmR0Ry-TvSdvMRgUaw-pc90
- Smith, A. (2007). Emerging in between: The multi-level governance of renewable energy in the English regions. *Energy Policy*, 35(12), 6266–6280. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2007.07.023
- Smith, A., & Raven, R. (2012). What is protective space? Reconsidering niches in transitions to sustainability. *Research Policy*, 41(6), 1025–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2011.12.012
- Smith, A., Stirling, A., & Berkhout, F. (2005). The governance of sustainable sociotechnical transitions. *Research Policy*, 34(10), 1491–1510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.07.005
- Smith, A., Voß, J. P., & Grin, J. (2010). Innovation studies and sustainability transitions: The allure of the multi-level perspective and its challenges. *Research Policy*, 39(4), 435–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2010.01.023

- Smith, J. J., & Tanveer Ahmad, M. (2018). Globalization's Vehicle: The Evolution and Future of Emission Regulation in the ICAO and IMO in Comparative Assessment. *Climate Law*, 8(1–2), 70–103. https://doi.org/10.1163/18786561-00801003
- Solakivi, T., Paimander, A., & Ojala, L. (2022). Cost competitiveness of alternative maritime fuels in the new regulatory framework. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 113, 103500. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRD.2022.103500
- Sorrell, S. (2018). Explaining sociotechnical transitions: A critical realist perspective. *Research Policy*, 47(7), 1267–1282. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2018.04.008
- Sorrell, S., & Sijm, J. (2003). Carbon trading in the policy mix. Oxford Review of *Economic Policy*, 19(3), 420–437. https://doi.org/10.1093/OXREP/19.3.420
- Sovacool, B. K., & Hess, D. J. (2017). Ordering theories: Typologies and conceptual frameworks for sociotechnical change. *Social Studies of Science*, *47*(5), 703–750. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312717709363
- Späth, P., & Rohracher, H. (2010). 'Energy regions': The transformative power of regional discourses on socio-technical futures. *Research Policy*, 39, 449–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.017
- Späth, P., & Rohracher, H. (2011). The 'eco-cities' Freiburg and Graz the social dynamics of pioneering urban energy & climate governance. In H. Bulkeley, V. Castán Broto, M. Hodson, & S. Marvin (Eds.), *Cities and Low Carbon Transitions* (pp. 88–106). Routledge.
- Späth, P., & Rohracher, H. (2012). Local Demonstrations for Global Transitions -Dynamics across Governance Levels Fostering Socio-Technical Regime Change Towards Sustainability. *European Planning Studies*, 20(3), 461–479. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2012.651800
- Srivastava, P., & Hopwood, N. (2009). A Practical Iterative Framework for Qualitative Data Analysis. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(1), 76–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800107
- Stalmokaitė, I., & Hassler, B. (2020). Dynamic capabilities and strategic reorientation towards decarbonisation in Baltic Sea shipping. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 37, 2210–4224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.09.002
- Stalmokaitė, I., Larsson Segerlind, T., & Yliskylä-Peuralahti, J. (2022). Revival of windpowered shipping: Comparing the early-stage innovation process of an incumbent and a newcomer firm. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 32(2), 958–975. https://doi.org/10.1002/BSE.3084
- Stalmokaitė, I., & Yliskylä-Peuralahti, J. (2019). Sustainability Transitions in Baltic Sea Shipping: Exploring the Responses of Firms to Regulatory Changes. Sustainability, 11(7), 1916. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11071916
- Steen, M., Bach, H., Bjørgum, Ø., Hansen, T., & Kenzhegaliyeva, A. (2019). Greening the fleet: A technological innovation system (TIS) analysis of hydrogen, battery electric, liquefied biogas, and biodiesel in the maritime sector. SINTEF Digital.
- Steen, M., Bjerkan, K. Y., Hansen, L., & Seter, H. (2024). Implementing decarbonisation measures in Norwegian ports. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 23, 100993. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRIP.2023.100993

- Stena Line. (2021, 5 February). Stena Line join forces with transport giants to make Scandinavia's largest port fossil-free. https://www.stenaline.com/media/stories/stena-line-join-forces-with-transport-giantsto-make-scandinavias-largest-port-fossil-free/
- Stirling, A. (2011). Pluralising progress: From integrative transitions to transformative diversity. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 1, 82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2011.03.005
- Stroick, S., & Jenson, J. (1999). What is the Best Policy Mix for Canada's Young Children? CPRN Study no. F-09. Canadian Policy Research Network.
- Stutchbury, K. (2022). Critical realism: an explanatory framework for small-scale qualitative studies or an 'unhelpful edifice'? *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 45(2), 113–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2021.1966623
- Styhre, L., von Bahr, J., Bergqvist, R., Bäckström, S., Gonzalez-Aregall, M., Hult, C., Jivén, K., Karlsson, R., Malmberg, L.-G., Parsmo, R., Rendahl, P., Romson, Å., Sallander, A.-S., Sköld, S., Sterner, T., Vierth, I., & Winnes, H. (2019). *Environmentally differentiated port dues - Final report*. IVL. https://www.ivl.se/download/18.694ca0617a1de98f472f8c/1628415072861/FULLTE XT01.pdf
- Suurs, R. A. A., & Hekkert, M. P. (2009). Cumulative causation in the formation of a technological innovation system: The case of biofuels in the Netherlands. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 76(8), 1003–1020. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TECHFORE.2009.03.002
- Suurs, R. A. A., Hekkert, M. P., Kieboom, S., & Smits, R. E. H. M. (2010). Understanding the formative stage of technological innovation system development: The case of natural gas as an automotive fuel. *Energy Policy*, 38(1), 419–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2009.09.032
- Svensson, O., & Nikoleris, A. (2018). Structure reconsidered: Towards new foundations of explanatory transitions theory. *Research Policy*, 47(2), 462–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.12.007
- Talluri, L., Nalianda, D. K., Kyprianidis, K. G., Nikolaidis, T., & Pilidis, P. (2016). Techno economic and environmental assessment of wind assisted marine propulsion systems. *Ocean Engineering*, 121, 301–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2016.05.047

The International Federation of Shipmasters' Associations. (2014). About the IMO.

- Thornton, P. H., Ocasio, W., & Lounsbury, M. (2012). *The Institutional Logics Perspective: A New Approach to Culture, Structure and Process*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/ACPROF:OSO/9780199601936.001.0001
- Truffer, B., Murphy, J. T., & Raven, R. (2015). The geography of sustainability transitions: Contours of an emerging theme. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 17, 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2015.07.004
- Tsouri, M. (2018). Analysis of the European funded R&D projects within biofuels, fuel cells, hydrogen fuel, and electricity storage related to the Norwegian Marine Shipping Sector. University of Oslo.

- Turnheim, B., & Geels, F. W. (2012). Regime destabilisation as the flipside of energy transitions: Lessons from the history of the British coal industry (1913–1997). *Energy Policy*, 50, 35–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2012.04.060
- Ulmer, G. L., & Cohen, J. H. (2016). Ethnographic Inquiry in the "Digitized" Fields of Madre de Dios, Peru and Oaxaca, Mexico: Methodological and Ethical Issues. *Quarterly*, 89(2), 539–560.
- UNFCCC. (1997). *Kyoto Protocol*. https://fn.se/wpcontent/uploads/2016/08/Kyotoprotokollet.pdf
- UNFCCC. (2015). Paris Agreement. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/parisagreement_publication.pdf
- Unruh, G. C. (2000). Understanding carbon lock-in. *Energy Policy*, 28(12), 817–830. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(00)00070-7
- Unruh, G. C. (2002). Escaping carbon lock-in. *Energy Policy*, *30*(4), 317–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(01)00098-2
- Valentine, G. (2005). Tell me about . . .: using interviews as a research methodology. In R. Flowerdew & D. M. Martin (Eds.), *Methods in Human Geography: A Guide for Students Doing a Research Project* (pp. 110–127). Routledge.
- Vierth, I., & Johansson, M. (2020). The impact of alternative environmentally differentiated fairway dues systems in Sweden. *Journal of Shipping and Trade*, 5(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41072-020-00077-9
- Watson, A., & Till, K. E. (2018). Ethnography and Participant Observation. In D. DeLyser, S. Herbert, S. Aitken, M. Crang, & L. McDowell (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Geography* (pp. 121–137). SAGE Publications Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9780857021090
- Weber, M. (2003). Transforming Large Socio-technical Systems towards Sustainability: On the Role of Users and Future Visions for the Uptake of City Logistics and Combined Heat and Power Generation. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, 16(2), 155–175. https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610304522
- Weber, M., & Rohracher, H. (2012). Legitimizing research, technology and innovation policies for transformative change: Combining insights from innovation systems and multi-level perspective in a comprehensive "failures" framework. *Research Policy*, 41(6), 1037–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.10.015
- Wesseling, J., Kieft, A., Fuenfschilling, L., & Hekkert, M. (2022). How socio-technical regimes affect low-carbon innovation: Global pressures inhibiting industrial heat pumps in the Netherlands. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 89, 102674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2022.102674
- Wieczorek, A. J., Negro, S. O., Harmsen, R., Heimeriks, G. J., Luo, L., & Hekkert, M. P. (2013). A review of the European offshore wind innovation system. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 26, 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.05.045
- Yap, X.-S., Heiberg, J., & Truffer, B. (2023). The emerging global socio-technical regime for tackling space debris: A discourse network analysis. *Acta Astronautica*, 207, 445–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actaastro.2023.01.016

- Yeung, H. W. C. (1997). Critical realism and realist research in human geography: a method or a philosophy in search of a method? *Progress in Human Geography*, 21(1), 51–74. https://doi.org/10.1191/030913297668207944
- Zepa, I., & Hoffmann, V. H. (2023). Policy mixes across vertical levels of governance in the EU: The case of the sustainable energy transition in Latvia. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 47, 100699. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIST.2023.100699

Appendices

Appendix A: Supplementary materials for Study 1

Overview of interview respondents

* Indicates interviews that especially informed Paper III

	Organization type	Market segment	Technology focus	Year	Number and position of informants	Duration in minutes
1	NGO	Generic	Generic	2015	1 – Advisor maritime	60
2	Industry association	Generic	Generic	2015	1 – Director (Head of Environment)	30
3	Industry association	Generic	Generic	2015	1 – Head of Maritime Branch	60
4	Classification company	Generic	Generic	2015	1 – Programme Director	60
5	Public authority	Coastal ferry	Generic	2016	1 – Senior advisor	60
6*	Public authority	Generic	Generic	2016	1 – Senior engineer	60
7	Ship yard	Coastal ferry/fishing	Generic	2017	1 – CEO	75
8*	Public support agency	Generic	Generic	2017	2 – Market Dir. Transport, Senior advisor	85
9*	R&D	Generic	BE	2017	1 – Research scientist	95
10	Technology supplier	Generic	BE	2017	1 – Head of Strategy and Business Develoment	90
11*	Ship owner	Coastal ferry	Generic	2017	2 – CEO, CTO	50
12	R&D	Generic	Generic	2017	1 – Assoc. Professor	80
13	R&D	Generic	Generic	2017	1 – Senior research scientist	70
14	Fuel producer	Generic	Biofuels	2017	1 – COO	70
15	Public authority	Generic	Generic	2017	3 – Senior engineer	80
16	Classification company	Generic	Generic	2017	1 – Principal engineer	65
17	Technology supplier	Generic	BE	2017	1 – VP Business development	80
18*	Public support agency	Generic	Generic	2017	1 – Manager	80

19*	Public support agency	Generic	Generic	2017	1 – Special advisor	80
20	Technology supplier	Generic	H2	2017	2 – CEO, CTO	90
21	Public authority	Generic	Generic	2017	2 – Senior advisor (x2)	60
22	Cluster organization	Generic	Generic	2017	2 – CEO, Advisor	75
23	Ship owner	Freight	Generic	2017	1 – CEO	65
24	Technology supplier	Generic	Generic/ BE	2017	1 – Managing Director	70
25	Technology supplier	Generic	Generic/ BE	2017	2 – CEO, Manager Sales and Business Development	75
26	Ship owner	Offshore supply	Generic	2017	1 – Senior Project Engineer	80
27	Public authority	Generic	Generic	2017	2 – Senior engineer (x2)	75
28*	Ship owner	Offshore supply	Generic	2017	1 – VP Technology & Development	85
29	Ship yard	Generic	Generic	2017	1 – CEO	70
30	Ship design	Generic	Generic	2017	1 – CEO	85
31	R&D	Generic	H2/BE	2017	1 – Research scientist	80
32*	Technology supplier	Generic	Generic/ BE	2017	1 – Director Engineering & Projects	80
33	Ship owner	Freight	Generic	2017	2 – CEO, Engineer	80
34	Technology supplier	Generic	BE	2017	1 – CEO	75
35	Ship owner	Freight	Generic	2017	1 - VP Newbuilding and Projects	35
36	Public authority	Coastal ferry	Generic	2017	2 – Managing Director, Special advisor	65
37	Fuel producer	Generic	H2	2017	2 – Analyst, Chief Project Officer	75
38	Industry association	Freight	Generic	2017	1 – CEO	80
39*	Ship owner	Coastal ferry	Generic	2017	1 – CTO	60
40	Ship owner	Fishing	Generic	2017	1 – General Manager	60
41	Ship owner	Aquaculture	Generic	2018	1 – CEO	45
42	R&D	Generic		2018	2 – Professor, Head of Department	100
43	Industry association	Fishing	Generic	2018	1 – CEO	60
44*	Ship owner	Offshore supply	Generic	2018	1 – HSEQ Environmental Engineer	60
45*	Ship design	Generic	Generic	2018	1 – Design Manager	85
46	Technology supplier	Generic	Generic/ BE	2018	2 – IP Manager, Business Development & Strategy Manager	80
47	Ship owner	Offshore supply	Generic	2018	1 – CĒO	60
48	Ship yard	Offshore supply, coastal ferry	Generic	2018	2 – Deputy Managing Director, Naval Architect	70
49	Techspecific interest group	Generic (BE)	BE	2018	1 – Managing Director	25

50	Ship design/yard	Generic	Generic	2018	2 – VP Conceptual Design, VP Technical	70
51	Ship yard	Generic/coa stal ferry	Generic	2018	2 – CEO, CTO	100
52	Technology supplier	Generic	BE	2018	2 – Sales manager, Business development manager	90
53	Public authority	Generic	Generic	2018	3 – Senior advisor, Technical Manager, Head of division	120
54*	Ship owner	Fishing	Generic	2018	1 – CEO	75
55	Ship owner	Offshore supply	Generic	2018	1 – Head of Operations	20
56*	Public authority	Coastal ferry	Generic	2018	1 – Senior advisor	80
57	Ship yard	Fishing, aquaculture	Generic/ BE	2018	1 – Managing Director	45
58	Ship owner	Fishing	Generic/ BE	2019	1 – CEO	60
59	Industry association	Generic	Generic	2019	1 – Director Environment	60
60	Techspecific interest group	Generic	H2	2019	1 – General secretary	65
61*	Industry association	Generic	LNG/bio/ H2	2019	1 – General Manager	55
62	Other	Generic	Generic	2019	1 – General Manager	30
63*	Fuel producer/	Generic	LNG/bio/ H2	2019	2 – Head of Business Development Clean Energy, Sales Manager	60
64*	Fuel producer	Generic	H2	2019	1 – Senior Advisor	50
65*	R&D	Generic	Biofuels	2019	1 – Research scientist	50
66	Techspecific interest group	Generic	BE	2018	1 – Project manager	70
67	Industry association	Generic	Generic	2018	2 – Policy advisor, Special advisor	65
68	Technology supplier	Generic	BE	2018	1 – VP Business development	60
69	Ship owner	Coastal ferry	Generic	2018	1 – CTO	55
70	Public authority	Coastal ferry	Generic	2018	1 – Senior advisor	80
71	Technology supplier	Generic	BE	2018	1 - GVP Sales & Marketing	90
72	Technology supplier	Generic	BE	2018	1 - Chairman & Co- Founder	80
73	R&D	Generic	Generic	2020	1 – Research Manager	90
74*	Technology supplier	Generic	Generic	2020	1 R&D – Senior Technical Officer	60

Exemplary interview guide

Purpose of interview

Short presentation round, project info and interview background

Clarification recording, anonymity, quote.

Short intro (informant)

Background: informant and business

What role in the business does the informant have, background?

Business brief: location, size, turnover, products / services, market.

Status of activities within the TIS

Search processes, motivation / incentive

Motivation for entering the field/domain/activity?

External factors, e.g.,

- Politically driven?
- External expectations?
- Customer demand?

Internal factors, e.g.,

- Advantages (competences)
- Economically motivated (winning tenders, savings etc)
- "Green" motives

How did you get into X?

- Via R&D, demo / pilot, or 'straight to' procurement?
- With others?
- When did you start considering the new technology, and when seriously?

Technology and knowledge

How do you assess which technologies / solutions you are investing in?

- Long term?
- Short term?

What knowledge is required for this?

Who do you work/collaborate with?

• If what, how / in what way?

How quickly does technology X develop in terms of price and performance?

What knowledge is needed to implement / apply new technology?

• How to develop /access knowledge/skills that are lacking?

What are your expectations for further technology development?

Low- and zero-emission technologies

How do you see the competition between different zero-/ low-emission solutions?

• Pros / cons of the different technologies?

Are they in competition or can they be complementary (incl. with conventional technology)?

Do you envision different solutions / technologies for different segments (within shipping)?

Have you used or tried to access support instruments for low- or zero-emission technology?

- Which?
- What / how do these contribute?

What is good / less good about instruments?

- What is missing and why?
- Do you have an overview of relevant support instruments?

What new products and services do you see emerging within this (technological) area?

In what areas do you see the potential for introducing new business models?

Legitimation

What laws / regulations affect the area?

- Are these adapted to uses, needs, requirements?
- Is the development/uptake hindered by legislation /regulations in any way?

Are there standards for the technology/ies, products?

• Are standards needed?

Do you do anything active to influence legislation / regulation / instruments and the like?

Do you attend workshops, seminars and the like?

• Any benefits?

Market formation

Who are your customers?

Do you have different customers in different segments?

- What are their buying incentives?
- Competition?

Who are your suppliers?

• Several?

What kinds of relationships do you have with your customers and suppliers?

• Cooperation? In what ways?

Describe the buying process

- Tender?
- Long processes?
- Complexity?

Use of new energy technology / fuel - does that change...

- Supplier Relationships?
- Business model?

What expectations do you have for future market developments?

Resource mobilization

How is development / implementation of new energy solutions financed?

• Challenges related to financing?

What infrastructure is needed for you to use new energy solutions (e.g., battery electric, hydrogen, biofuels)

- Demonstration or pilot plant?
- Production plants?
- Logistics system for distribution and filling / making available?

Is there anything that hinders infrastructure development?

• What drives / prevents it from being built?

New energy solutions - does it require new skills / knowledge, for example by hiring new employees with specialized expertise?

• Is this available?

Success criteria and barriers

What are the critical criteria for success?

• Technology, resources, policy support, market

Circumstances that make you consider abandoning X?

How about the sector /TIS as a whole?

What are the biggest uncertainties?

- Why and what are these?
- How do you handle these uncertainties?
- Technology, market, other?

Final questions (wrapping up)

How do you view the long-term development of shipping and what role will you have?

• What will be the role of technology X?

Norwegian maritime industry has ambition for significant emission cuts in the years to come - What do you think it will take to make this happen?

If you were to advise those who develop and implement regulations and legislation and (in part) can directly influence the framework conditions - what would your main message(s) be?

Is there something we haven't touched upon that you think is important for the success of green transformation in maritime transport?

Is it ok if we contact you later for a follow-up interview, workshop etc.?

Code book

Category 1 – Technology type

Here we would expect most codes to be quite long pieces of text – in some cases entire interviews.

- Biogas
- Biodiesel
- Bioethanol
- Electric
- Hydrogen
- LNG
- Conventional
- Other

In using these codes, we do not distinguish between single technology and hybrids. The only exemption from this is that we only code "conventional" when it is not a hybrid

This has the following implications:

- Text on battery electric / conventional hybrid = "battery electric"
- Text on battery electric / hydrogen hybrid = "battery electric" + "hydrogen"
- Text on conventional single technology = "conventional"

Category 2 – TIS structural components

This category might result in many, many coding stripes, if we code every actor mentioned, every relation between actors etc. One suggestion could be to only code when a structural component is – according to the interviewee – of considerable importance to the TIS, but as noted by Anna, if we want a complete structural map, all should probably be coded. So, perhaps we code everything in the first interviews and see if it is manageable?

ACTORS

- Ship-owners
- Yards
- Technology suppliers (for ships and vessels)
- Technology suppliers (for infrastructure)
- Ship/maritime designers
- System integrators (e.g., Siemens which is also a technology supplier for both ships/vessels and infrastructure)
- R&D
- Public support agencies (e.g., Enova, Innovasjon Norge, NO_x-fondet)
- Public authorities (e.g Kystverket, Sjøfartsdirektoratet, Statens Vegvesen, Direktoratet for samfunnsikkerhet og beredskap, Samferdselsdepartementet)
- NGOs (e.g. Bellona, ZERO)
- Local and regional government
- Logistic operators
- Ports/harbours

NETWORKS BETWEEN ACTORS

- Cluster organisations (e.g., NCE Maritime Cleantech, GCE Maritime Cleantech)
- Research, innovation and demonstration projects (e.g., Pilot-e projects)
- Industry associations or coalitions (e.g., Norsk Industri maritime bransjeforening, Maritimt forum (Trøndelag, Nordvest etc.))
- Other partnership programs (e.g., Grønt Kystfartsprogram)

RULES, REGULATIONS AND OTHER FORMAL INSTITUTIONS

• The interviewee mentions particular formal institutions that impact a TIS, e.g., safety regulations for batteries on ships

NORMS, VALUES AND OTHER INFORMAL INSTITUTIONS

• The interviewee mentions particular informal institutions that impact a TIS, e.g., new technology that doesn't fit with institutionalised practice

Category 3 – TIS functions

Below, so-called rules for inclusion are provided for each of the codes to ensure a joint understanding of what the code signifies.

- Knowledge development and diffusion
 - The interviewee talks about development of knowledge of importance for the TIS or diffusion of knowledge in the TIS.

Knowledge can be of different types, including scientific knowledge, market knowledge, and knowledge about production, natural resources or logistics

- Direction of search
 - The interviewee talks about how drivers and incentives influence the development of the TIS. Examples of drivers and incentives are interest of key (potential) customers, interest of key (potential) suppliers of technologies, components and services, interest of key policymakers, and the suitability of current policy instruments. It is particularly important to capture reasons for actors to deploy their resources in a particular direction, as we are covering several competing/complementary technologies. What are the arguments for focusing on a given technology?
 - Note that direction of search refers to both directions to enter the TIS, but also direction within the TIS
- Entrepreneurial experimentation
 - The interviewee talks about experimenting with different solutions to practical challenges, or the sources of uncertainty that these experiments are meant to reduce. This may for example be concerned with testing new technologies, applications, or business models
- Market formation
 - The interviewee talks about aspects related to market development. Examples of such aspects are market size, pricing systems, primary demand vs derived demand, articulation of demand (including customer preferences), and other drivers of market formation such as standards and procurement practices
- Legitimation
 - The interviewee talks about social acceptance and alignment of the TIS/industry with formal (e.g., certifications, rules and regulations) and informal (e.g., reputation, norms and values) institutions.
 - The interviewee talks about acceptability of the technology itself, for instance in relation to performance assessments, actual or perceived problems with the technology etc.
- Resource mobilization
 - The interviewee talks about mobilisation of financial capital, human capital (including training, education etc.) or infrastructure (e.g., demonstration facilities) of importance for development of the TIS
- Development of positive externalities
 - The interviewee talks about the development of positive external economies in the TIS in the form of e.g., specialised suppliers, intermediaries, complementary technologies (e.g. infrastructure) or
a pool of shared labour. In other words, freeriding is possible – actors may benefit without investing

Category 4 – Magnitude codes

Magnitude coding is a coding technique where the codes "can consist of words or numbers that suggest evaluative content" (Saldaña, 2009, p. 59). In this project, the suggestion is to use magnitude codes in relation to at least the TIS functions codes (category 3) and the TIS context codes (category 6) in order to facilitate the analysis. Consequently, when a piece of text is coded with a TIS function or TIS context code, it should also be coded with a magnitude code.

- Positive
 - The interviewee talks about a strength of a TIS function (in relation to Category 3) or a positive contextual interaction (in relation to Category 6), e.g., beneficial sectoral regulations/institutions, ("lead") users, diversifying companies or supporting industry associations
- Negative
 - The interviewee talks about a weakness of a TIS function (in relation to Category 3) or a negative contextual interaction (in relation to Category 6), e.g., barriers and resistance to change, including actors that are not part of the TIS, e.g. ship companies who are not engaged in any of the TIS
- Neutral
 - The interviewee talks about a TIS function (in relation to Category 3) or a contextual interaction (in relation to Category 6) in a neutral manner
- Mixed
 - The interviewee talks about a strength and a weakness of a TIS function (in relation to Category 3) or a mixed contextual interaction (in relation to Category 6) at the same time

Category 5 – Market segments

- Passenger market segment:
 - Near shore (domestic market) passenger market segment: ferries (bil- og passasjerferger), high-speed ferry (hurtigbåt), coastal express (hurtigruta). Specify if case vessels operate in the tourist market segment (e.g., Vision of the Fjords, Hurtigruta Expedition ships)
 - International passenger market segment: ferries between e.g. Norway and Denmark, Sweden, cruise ships
- Offshore supply segment: vessels serving offshore oil and gas or wind operations

- Aquaculture market segment: e.g., work boats, live-haul boats (brønnbåt, for transporting fish from pens to processing site)
- Fishing market segment: ranges from small fishing boats that operate nearshore to large seagoing 'fish factories'. Should distinguish between sub-market segments
- Freight market segment: vessels transporting bulk, dry and liquid goods
- Other

Category 6 – TIS context

Here we are interested in inducement and blocking mechanisms in the context of the TIS, and how they contribute to the TIS functions. We use magnitude codes (category 4) to indicate the type of interaction between TIS and context, and contribution to TIS functions. Context dimensions include:

- TIS-TIS interaction
 - The interviewee talks about interaction between the focal TIS (e.g., hydrogen) and other TIS (e.g., battery-electric)
 - Biogas
 - Biodiesel
 - Bioethanol
 - Electric
 - Hydrogen
 - LNG
 - Conventional
- TIS-sector interaction
 - The interviewee talks about interaction between the TIS (in the scope of maritime transport) and key sectors
 - Maritime shipping
 - Onshore transport
 - Power sector
 - Agriculture/forestry
 - Oil & gas
- TIS and geographical scale:
 - The interviewee talks about geographical scale:
 - Local
 - Regional
 - National
 - International
- TIS interaction with political context:
 - The interviewee talks about political processes and attempts/actions (lobbying) to influence policymaking or regulations

LNG		Implemented	<10 years	<20 years	>20 years	Never
Reduction	Not a priority	0	0	0	0	18
of CO ₂	Low/medium priority	1	23	9	14	56
	High/very high priority	17	32	7	6	41
Reduction	Not a priority	1	1	1	2	19
of PM	Low/medium priority	5	19	7	13	64
	High/very high priority	12	31	8	4	33

Survey data used in Paper III

Appendix B: Supplementary materials for Study 2

List of attendance at conferences and webinars

* Events that were used for triangulation and validation of findings from document analysis and interviews conducted for Paper I

Date	Event: title	Organiser
2020		
May 29 th	Industry conference: The Future of Ocean Energy and Shipping	Blue Forum, industry association
- June 1 st		
June 17 th	Webinar: The role of biofuels in maritime operations	NCE Maritime CleanTech, industry association
June 19 th	Webinar: Wärtsila Zero Emissions webinar	Wärtsila, technology supplier
June 23 rd	Webinar: First results from the Swedish Transport Administration's industry research program 'Sustainable Shipping'	Lighthouse – Swedish Maritime Competence Centre, research institute
June 23 rd	Webinar: Ensuring efficiency in electric vessels	NCE Maritime CleanTech, industry association
August 31 st	Webinar - Blue Growth's shipping policy webinar – how do we create a sustainable restart?	Swedish Shipowners' Association
October 6 th	Webinar: New results from the Swedish Transport Administration's industry research program 'Sustainable Shipping'	Lighthouse – Swedish Maritime Competence Centre, research institute
October 13 th	Webinar: Fairway Forward Sustainability webinar	Swedish Shipowners' Association & Finnish Shipowners' Association
October 28 th	*Webinar: Where does shipping's decarbonisation agenda sit in a post-Covid-19 world?	International Chamber of Shipping, Shipowners' Association
October 28 th	*Industry conference: Danish Maritime Day 2020 – The maritime climate agenda post Covid-19	Danish Shipowners' Association
November 5 th	Webinar: LTH Methanol webinar day	Lund University, research institute
November 6 th	Webinar: What are the plans for the shipping sector?	Swedish Shipowners' Association
November 18 th	Webinar: Focus area shipping, maritime technology & marine energy	Swedish Institute for the Marine Environment, research institute
November 19 th	*Webinar: Swedish Shipowners' Association's autumn meeting 2020 – Shipping's role in a green restart	Swedish Shipowners' Association
November 26 th	*Webinar: Insights from MEPC 75	DNV, classification society
December 15 th	*Industry conference: Decarbonising Shipping – Virtual Forum	ALJ Group, interest organisation
2021		
January 15 th	Webinar - Blue Growth's shipping policy webinar – Which financial policy measures are needed for a sustainable restart?	Swedish Shipowners' Association
January 20 th	*Webinar: EEXI – what do you need to know?	DNV, classification society
January 27 th	Webinar: EU ETS	European Community Shipowners' Association

February 9 th	Webinar: Managing Shipping 1 – creating sustainability through management	Gothenburg Research Institute
February 11 th	*Webinar: The Swedish Transport Agency's Maritime Shipping Seminar	The Swedish Transport Agency
March 2-3 rd	*Industry conference: 3 rd Greentech in Shipping Virtual Forum	ALJ Group, interest organisation
March 10 th	*Webinar: Legal, stakeholder and commercial forces of change – lessons for the maritime sector	International Chamber of Shipping, Shipowners' Association
March 17 th	Webinar: New results from the Swedish Transport Administration's industry research program 'Sustainable Shipping'	Lighthouse – Swedish Maritime Competence Centre, research institute
April 6 th	Webinar: Managing Shipping 2 - Research at sea – challenges and possibilities	Gothenburg Research Institute
April 14 th	Webinar: NRIA Shipping 2021 – presentation of the national maritime shipping agenda	Lighthouse – Swedish Maritime Competence Centre, research institute
April 27-28 th	*Industry conference: 2nd Decarbonizing Shipping - Virtual Forum	ALJ Group, interest organisation
May 4 th	Webinar: Managing Shipping 3 - Reasons for why we should target big shipping firms for climate change mitigation	Gothenburg Research Institute
May 11 th	*Webinar: LNG as a ship fuel – where are we and what comes next?	DNV, classification society
May 12 th	*Webinar: How to decarbonise shipping	Lloyd's Register, classification society
May 18 th	Webinar: A green maritime shift - Lessons from the electrification of ferries in Norway	Team Society, Norwegian University of Science and Technology
May 21 st	Webinar: The Swedish Shipowners' Associations webinar series on the green transition 1: The EU taxonomy and its impact on shipping	Swedish Shipowners' Association
May 26 th	Webinar: Maritime shipping in the EU ETS	Lighthouse – Swedish Maritime Competence Centre, research institute
May 27 th	*Webinar: Danish Shipowners' Association's annual meeting: First Movers on Climate - Perspectives and demands from customers	Danish Shipowners' Association
May 28 th	*Webinar: The Swedish Shipowners' Associations webinar series on the green transition 2: What is happening with development of future ship fuels at the global level?	Swedish Shipowners' Association
June 1 st	Webinar: Managing Shipping 4 - Refrigerated goods at sea	Gothenburg Research Institute
June 4 th	Webinar: The Swedish Shipowners' Associations webinar series on the green transition 3: Climate, environment and politics	Swedish Shipowners' Association
June 8 th	Webinar: Finance, Innovation, Transition 1 – Finance in focus	European Community Shipowners' Association
June 11 th	Webinar: The Swedish Shipowners' Associations webinar series on the green transition 4: Green financial support	Swedish Shipowners' Association
June 15 th	Webinar: Finance, Innovation, Transition 2 – Innovation in focus	European Community Shipowners' Association
June 23 rd	*Webinar: MEPC76 in focus – CO ₂ emissions regulations adopted	DNV, classification society

July 6 th	*Webinar: How to decarbonise shipping by 2050?	The European Federation for Transport and Environment, NGO
July 7 th	*Webinar: EEXI and CII calculations – DNV's way forward	DNV, classification society
September 7 th -8 th	Webinar: Ship.Energy Summit 2021	Ship.Energy, maritime industry journal
September 9 th	Webinar: Finance, Innovation, Transition 3 – Transition in focus	European Community Shipowners' Association
September 16 th	*Webinar: Carbon Intensity Indicator (CII) – a closer look	DNV, classification society
September 16 th	Webinar: Freight at sea – current affairs	The Swedish Transport Administration
October 13 th	*Webinar: How to decarbonise international shipping and aviation	The European Federation for Transport and Environment, NGO
October 13 th	Webinar: Decarbonising maritime transport	One Ocean Summit, interest organisation
October 19 th	*4 th Greentech in Shipping – Virtual Forum	ALJ Group, interest organisation
October 19 th	*Webinar: The 4 th Propulsion Revolution – Commitment and Challenge	International Chamber of Shipping, Shipowners' Association
November	Webinar: The Swedish Shipowners'	Swedish Shipowners'
18"	Association's autumn meeting seminar – Regulation and financing of the green transition	Association
November 18 th	*Webinar: COP26 – take aways and a feasible pathway to net zero	DNV, classification society
December 14 th	Webinar: Methanol powered pilot boat launch event	FASTWATER Research project, Lund University
December 17 th	Webinar: Sustainable ship fuels – current debates	Lighthouse – Swedish Maritime Competence Centre, research institute
2022		
January 11 th	Industry conference: The fuel of the future	DNV, classification society
January 13 th	Webinar: Hydrogen: Green or greenwashing?	The European Federation for Transport and Environment, NGO
March 1 st	Webinar: Acting now for the zero-emission planes and ships of tomorrow	The European Federation for Transport and Environment, NGO
March 15 th	Webinar: Insights after COP26	DNV, classification society
March 17 th	*Webinar: Green shipping – Nordic actions to foster European and global zero emission	The European Federation for Transport and Environment, NGO
April 6 th	*Webinar: CII Shipping Efficiency Game 2023- 2030	Lloyd's Register, classification society
April 6 th	Webinar: LBG at land and at sea	Biogas West, interest organisation
April 26- 28th	Industry conference: World Maritime Technology Conference 2022 – Help set the green agenda for the years to come (Copenhagen)	World Maritime Technology Congress & Maritime Development Centre, interest organisations
June 16 th	*Webinar: MEPC 78 in focus	DNV, classification society
November 22 nd	*Webinar: How will COP27 shape MEPC79 for shipping and beyond?	Lloyd's Register, classification society

December	Webinar: MEPC 79 in focus
20 th	

Type of Document	Year
Strategic Plan for the Organization for the Six Year Period XX	2000-2006
	2006-2011
	2012-2017
	2018-2023
High-Level Action Plan of the Organization and Priorities for the XX	2004-2005
Biennium (published every two years)	2006-2007
	2008-2009
	2010-2011
	2012-2013
	2014-2015
	2016-2017 ⁷
List of Outputs for the years XX-YY Biennium (published every two years)	2018-2019
	2020-2021
Resolution A.963(23) IMO Policies and Practice Related to the Reduction of	2004
Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Ships	
Initial IMO Strategy on Reduction of Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Ships	2018
MEPC73/19 Annex 9 Programme of Follow-up Actions of the Initial IMO	2019
Strategy on Reduction of GHG Emissions from Ships up to 2023	

Materials provided to respondents before interviews

"Dear interview respondent,

In preparation for our interview, we kindly ask you to take a look at the two figures in this document. Part of our project is based on a content analysis of IMO strategies and policy instruments, to map the global level policies for international shipping, and we would very much appreciate your input on if we have identified all relevant instruments or if there is something missing. These figures will also provide a starting point for some other questions during the interview.

The first figure represents a timeline of the thematic focus of the High Level Action Plans for 2004-2017, the Strategic Plan for the Organization 2018-2023, and the IMO GHG strategy. The second figure is a detailed timeline of the identified policy measures collected from MARPOL Annex VI (and the IMO GHG studies) since its implementation in 2005 until today.

Thank you in advance!"

⁷ In 2018 the High-Level Action Plans was replaced by the "List of Outputs for the XX Biennial".



Interview guide

Introduction

Introduction of research project and setting for the interview

What are your responsibilities within your division?

Development of regulation over time

Can you tell us a little bit about the background of the implementation of MARPOL Annex VI?

How do you interpret that IMO regulation for air emissions have developed over time (since the implementation of MARPOL Annex VI in 2005)?

How do you perceive the balance between regulation aimed at air pollution vs. GHG has developed over time since the implementation of MARPOL Annex VI?

Connections between implemented measures

We sent you a timeline over identified measures that has been implemented within Annex VI:

- Do you see any particular turning points in the development of regulation?
- Is there any regulation that is not included in the timeline?
- When looking at the timeline, were you surprised by the division between air polluters and GHG?

How extensive do you think the current measures within Annex VI are when it comes to covering all types of air emissions from ships?

Do you see it as possible for a certain ship to comply with all regulation simultaneously?

- Do you see any particular differences regarding the ability to comply with regulation between different segments?
- Do you see that the possibility to comply with all regulation simultaneously has changed over time? More difficult? Why?
- Are there any potential trade-offs associated with complying with the complete regulation?
- Do you see any contradictions between individual policy measures?
- Can you identify any policies that in combination with each other clarify what the regulation is aiming to achieve? For example, when it comes to what technology choices to make in order to comply with the rules?
- (Can you give examples of instruments reinforcing or contradicting each other?)

We have also looked at the strategic directions of IMO in the past 20 years (show timeline over strategies), and have identified themes within the High Level Action Plans, Strategic Plans of the Organisation and also the IMO GHG study.

- Do you agree or disagree with the development of thematic focus that is showed in this figure?
- Do you have any additional insights in the development of strategic focus for IMO?
- What do you think about the relation between the thematic focus of the IMO strategies, and the division between policy measures focusing on air pollution vs. GHG?

Effects from current regulation

The industry continuously asks for a levelled playing field, do you think it is possible to achieve that?

In relation to the overarching targets within the Strategic Plan for the Organisation (give example) - do you see that the current policy instruments are sufficient to reach these targets?

• Do you think the current global regulation regarding air emissions from ships is sufficient to reach the targets stated in the IMO GHG Strategy? If not, what is missing?

IMO regulation aims to be technology neutral, do you agree that it is in fact technology neutral?

As the IMO regulation is designed today, do you see any propulsion technology or fuel being favoured?

What do you think are the major challenges ship-owners face regarding technology choices for new builds?

• How are these challenges related to that the global order book is currently at a record low?

Do you see a risk for technological lock-in on a certain propulsion technology based on how regulation looks like today?

Future regulation and policy processes

What is your impression of the policy development processes within IMO?

- What do you think are the advantages and disadvantages with the routines of the IMO negotiations?
- Do you think the process allow for implementation of coherent policy instruments?

What do you think are the biggest challenges for stricter global regulation of GHG?

What do you think about the recent MEPC76 negotiations? Were they successful in your opinion?

How do you perceive the current speed of developments of IMO regulation, specifically in relation to the GHG strategy?

• Compared to previous years?

How do you see the relationship between global and regional regulation?

- Positive or negative with stricter regulations on regional/national level than IMO regulation?
- Do you see regional measures as a potential driver or hinder for development of global regulation?

Currently, all global regulation from the IMO is aimed at restrictions, stating what ships are allowed and not allowed to do – but there is no global policy to promote sustainable propulsion. Do you know anything about the reasons for IMO regulation only being restrictive and not proactive?

- What do you think about that? Is it problematic?
- What type of policy to promote sustainable technologies would you like to see?
- What do you think would speed up implementation of alternative solutions the most?

• Are there any types of policy measures you see would be ineffective for the shipping sector?

How is the discussion around regulation of methane emissions proceeding?

- The implementation of LNG ships has increased drastically in the last decade, and especially in the last years and the latest GHG study showed that the methane emissions from shipping has increased with around 150 % since the last study.
- The industry claims that the methane slip from LNG engines will decrease with technology improvement, do you think this technology improvements will happen without regulation of methane emissions/slip?

Do you have any recommendations of others that we should talk to as well?

Code book

- Policy element
 - Policy Instrument Instrument mix
 - Policy Objective Policy Strategy
- Policy Topic
 - Air Pollution
 - NMVOCs
 - NO_x
 - Ozone Depleting Substances
 - PM
 - SO_x
 - VOC
 - o Climate Change
 - BC
 - CO
 - CO₂
 - Energy Efficiency
 - GHG
 - HFCs
 - Methane
 - N₂O
 - PECs
 - SF6
 - Sustainability and environment
 - Fuel oil quality
 - Marine environment
- Synergies with other instruments or objectives
- Trade-offs with other instruments or objectives
- Timeline

- o Coming
- o Discontinued
- o Addition
- o Replacement
- Year
 - **2000**
 - **2**003
 - **2005**
 - **2006**
 - **2007**
 - **2008**
 - **2009**
 - **2010**
 - **2**011
 - **2012**
 - **2013**
 - **2014**
 - **2015**
 - **2016**
 - **2017**
 - **2018**
 - **2019**
 - **2**020
 - **2021**
 - **2023**
- Type of policy instrument
 - o Economic
 - Regulatory
 - o Soft
 - Instrument targeting creative processes
 - C1 Knowledge creation, development and diffusion
 - C2 Establishing market niches/Market formation
 - C3 Price performance improvements
 - C4 Entrepreneurial experimentation
 - C5 Resource mobilisation
 - C6 Support from powerful groups/legitimation
 - C7 Influence on the direction of search
 - Instrument targeting destructive processes
 - D1 Control policies
 - D2 Significant changes in regime rules
 - D3 Reduced support for dominant regime technologies
 - D4 Changes in social networks, replacement of key actors

Appendix C: Supplementary materials for Study 3

Exemplary interview questions

Interviews with sail cargo initiatives DRIVERS

What do you see as the main drivers for sail cargo operations?

Where does the demand for sail cargo come from? Would you say that it is costumer driven, or driven by you that are operating the sail cargo ships?

HINDERS

What are the main hinders for doing sail cargo operations? Daily operations/costs/access to trained crew/port infrastructure?

What challenges have you encountered since starting your company?

What do you think are the main hinders for someone who wants to start a sail cargo company?

BUSINESS MODEL

What does your business model look like? Has it changed since the company started?

How dependent are you on paying guests who sail along to make the business model viable?

Would you be willing to share your cargo rates? How much more expensive is it to ship cargo with you compared to conventional shipping? Have you increased prices after the pandemic, war in Ukraine, current economic state?

Cargo going westerly over the Atlantic?

COOPERATION

Who are your partners? Cargo owners, ship agents, brokers? How did/do you find cargo to be shipped by your ship(s)?

When we met in August you said that there is no cooperation between your company and other sail cargo initiatives, but I saw that you now have taken some cargo for Fairtransport? How did that collaboration come about?

Do you think the sail cargo community would benefit from working more together? In what way?

How would you like to see collaborations happen in the future?

FUTURE

Do you want to add additional ships to your fleet?

What do you see as the potential for sail cargo in the future? Should it be upscaled?

What do you think is needed to upscale sail cargo?

SKILLS

How difficult is it to find crew for all journeys? How often does crew come back?

Do you have any intentional plan for training new crew?

Do you think there is enough competence and human resources available for you to continue doing this? To upscale sail cargo?

REGULATION

Are you anticipating that sail cargo ships will be subject to increasing regulation? What do you think about that? Do you think that would be beneficial or a hinder for scaling up sail cargo operations?

RELATION TO CONVENTIONAL SHIPPING

How do you see sail cargo's relation to conventional shipping?

Do you feel like sail cargo is making a difference in the shift to sustainable shipping? Are there other (better) ways to make an impact?

Relation between traditional designs and modern wind-assisted ships?

Interviews with cargo owners

INTRODUCTION

Can you tell me a bit about your company, what was the motivation for starting it and how does it look like today?

(What does your business model look like? Has it changed since the company started?)

MOTIVATION

How did you first come in contact with Fairtransport? Can you tell me about the decision to start transporting cacao with sail cargo ships?

What motivates you to work with sail cargo? Has this motivation changed over the years?

IMPORTING WITH SAIL CARGO SHIP

How much of your cacao is imported by sail ship?

How much more does it cost? What makes the price worth it? How do you make it work?

How does the costumers react to the sail cargo wrapping? Has there been an increased interest in the chocolate bars produced from sail shipped cacao?

Are you looking to increase the volumes shipped by sail? Why/why not? Are you transporting cacao with other sail cargo companies? Are looking to transport cargo with additional sail cargo companies?

Is there anything that would make you stop importing cacao with sail cargo?

Would you recommend someone else looking to transport their cargo in a sustainable way to make use of sail cargo ships?

Would you be interested in a Fair trade lable for the transport part?

FUTURE

How do you see the future of sail cargo? In 5 years? In 50 years?

Do you think sail cargo should be upscaled?

How do you see your role as a costumer or cargo owner in the future/upscaling of sail cargo?

What role do you see sail cargo playing in the overall transition to a sustainable society?

Outside of your company, what hinders do you see for sail cargo?

Code book

Coding structure: enabler/hinder + factor for development + stage of development + scale

Enabler: Coded for development factors mentioned as drivers or enabling sail cargo operations. Includes factors that could be enabling if implemented.

Hinder: Coded for development factors mentioned as challenges or hinders for sail cargo operations. Includes factors that could be hinders if implemented.

Factors for development

Institutions

- Classification society
- Education institute
- Flag state
- Insurance company

- Port authority
- Regulatory institution

Markets

- Demand
- Supply

Networks

- Cargo costumers
- Cargo producers
- Crew
- Education
- Intermediaries
- Investors
- Formal networks
- Informal networks

Resources

- Financial
- Human
- Infrastructure

Stage of development

- All stages
- Initiation
- Operations
- Upscaling or diversification

Scale

- Global
- EU
- National
- Home locality or region
- Host locality or region

MEDDELANDEN FRÅN LUNDS UNIVERSITETS GEOGRAFISKA INSTITUTION. AVHANDLINGAR

1.	<i>Herman Richter:</i> Skånes karta från mitten av 1500-talet till omkring 1700: bidrag till en historisk-kartografisk undersökning. (1929)
II.	Josef Westin: Kulturgeografiska studier inom Nätra-, Näske- och Utbyåarnas flodområden samt angränsande kusttrakter. (1930)
III.	<i>Herman Richter</i> och <i>Wilhelm Norlind:</i> Orbis Arctoi Nova et Accurata Delineatio Auctore Andrea Bureo Sueco 1626. (1936)
IV.	Sven Björnsson: Sommen-Åsundenområdet: en geomorfologisk studie. (1937)
V.	Arne Sandell: Tektonik och morfologi inom dalformationen med omgivande urbergsterräng. (1941)
VI.	Sven Dahl: Torna och Bara: studier i Skånes bebyggelse- och näringsgeografi före 1860. (1942)
VII.	Karl Erik Bergsten: Isälvsfält kring norra Vättern: fysisk- geografiska studier. (1943)
VIII.	<i>Carl Erik Nordenskjöld:</i> Morfologiska studier inom övergångsområdet mellan Kalmarslätten och Tjust. (1944)
IX.	Sven Björnsson: Blekinge: en studie av det blekingska kulturlandskapet. (1946)
Х.	<i>Karl Erik Bergsten:</i> Östergötlands bergslag: en geografisk studie. (1946)
XI.	Tor Holmquist: Den halländska vinterfiskehamnsfrågan. (1947)
XII.	<i>Olof Ängeby:</i> Landformerna i nordvästra Jämtland och angränsande delar av Nord-Tröndelag. (1947)
XIII.	Axel Wennberg: Lantbebyggelsen i nordöstra Östergötland 1600– 1875. (1947)
XIV.	<i>Lars Bjerning:</i> Skånes jord- och stenindustri: dess utveckling, lokalisering och betydelse ur näringsgeografisk synvinkel. (1947)

XV.	<i>Allan Weinhagen:</i> Norbergs bergslag samt Gunnilbo och Ramnäs till omkring 1820: studier i områdets närings- och bebyggelsegeografi. (1947)
XVI.	<i>Helge Stålberg:</i> Smålands skogs- och träförädlingsindustrier: en närings-geografisk studie. (1947)
XVII.	Folke Lägnert: Veteodlingen i södra och mellersta Sverige. (1949)
XVIII.	<i>Yngve Nilsson:</i> Bygd och näringsliv i norra Värmland: en kulturgeografisk studie. (1950)
XIX.	Olof Ängeby: Evorsionen i recenta vattenfall. (1951)
XX.	Karl Erik Bergsten: Sydsvenska födelseortsfält. (1951)
XXI.	<i>Folke Lägnert:</i> Valmanskåren på Skånes landsbygd 1911–1948. (1952)
XXII.	<i>Olof Nordström:</i> Relationer mellan bruk och omland i östra Småland 1750–1900. (1952)
XXIII.	Arvid Bergdahl: Israndsbildningar i östra Syd- och Mellansverige med särskild hänsyn till åsarna. (1953)
XXIV.	Sven E Behrens: Morfometriska, morfogenetiska och tektoniska studier av de nordvästskånska urbergsåsarna, särskilt Kullaberg. (1953)
XXV.	Torsten Hägerstrand: Innovationsförloppet ur korologisk synpunkt. (1953)
XXVI.	<i>Gunhild Weimarck:</i> Studier över landskapets förändring inom Lönsboda, Örkeneds socken, nordöstra Skåne. (1953)
XXVII.	Ingemar Larsson: Structure and landscape in western Blekinge, southeast Sweden. (1954)
XXVIII.	Sven Godlund: Busstrafikens framväxt och funktion i de urbana influensfälten. (1954)
XXIX.	<i>Folke Lägnert:</i> Syd- och mellansvenska växtföljder. Del I : de äldre bruknings-systemens upplösning under 1800-talet. (1955)
XXX.	<i>Olof Ängeby:</i> Toppkonstans, erosionsytor och passdalar i Jämtland och Tröndelag. (1955)
XXXI.	Gunnar Johnsson: Glacialmorfologiska studier i södra Sverige. (1956)
XXXII.	<i>Folke Lägnert:</i> Syd- och mellansvenska växtföljder. Del II: 1900-talet. (1956)

XXXIII.	<i>Olof Nordström:</i> Befolkningsutveckling och arbetskraftsproblem i östra Småland 1800–1955. (1957)
XXXIV.	Sven Godlund: Befolkning - regionsjukhus - resmöjligheter - regioner. (1958)
XXXV.	Elis Pålsson: Gymnasiers rekrytering och lokalisering. (1958)
XXXVI.	<i>Harald Svensson:</i> Glaciation och morfologi: en glacialgeografisk studie i ett tvärsnitt genom Skanderna mellan södra Helgelandskusten och Kultsjödalen. (1959)
XXXVII.	<i>Erik Ljungner:</i> Nahuel Huapi: ein geographischer Querschnitt durch die Anden in Patagonien. (1959)
XXXVIII.	<i>Nils Lewan:</i> Om pendling mellan bostad och arbetsplats: en undersökning med material från sydvästra Skåne. (1960)
XXXIX.	<i>Åke Mattsson:</i> Morphologische Studien in Südschweden und auf Bornholm über die nichtglaziale Formenwelt der Felsenskulptur. (1962)
XL.	<i>Stig Nordbeck:</i> Framställning av kartor med hjälp av siffermaskiner. (1964)
XLI.	Olof Nordström: Svensk glasindustri 1550-1960. (1962)
XLII.	Jan Davidsson: Littoral processes and morphology on scandian flatcoasts. (1963)
XLIII.	<i>Martin Markgren:</i> Detaljmorfologiska studier i fast berg och blockmaterial: geomorfologisk studie inom Fennoskandia med Skåne. (1962-1963)
XLIV.	<i>Martin Markgren:</i> Geomorphological studies in Fennoscandia. II: chute slopes in northern Fennoscandia. A: regional studies. (1964)
XLV.	<i>Martin Markgren:</i> Geomorphological studies in Fennoscandia. II: chute slopes in northern Fennoscandia. B: systematic studies. (1964)
XLVI.	Lennart Améen: Stadsbebyggelse och domänstruktur. (1964)
XLVII.	Arvid Bergdahl: Det glaciala landskapet. (1961)
XLVIII.	Olof Nordström - Solveig Mårtensson: Turism på Öland (1966)
XLIX.	Jan O Mattsson: The temperature climate of potato crops. (1966)
L.	Nils Lewan: Landsbebyggelse i förvandling. (1967)
LI.	Gösta Nordholm: Skånes äldre ekonomiska geografi. (1967)

LII.	Sven Godlund - Torsten Hägerstrand - Bengt Svanström: Samhälls-utvecklingen och samhällsplaneringen. (1967)
LIII.	Tor Fr Rasmussen: Storbyutvikling og arbeidsreiser. (1966)
LIV.	<i>Erik Fagerlund - Harald Svensson - Sven Lindqvist m fl:</i> Infrarödtermografi: principer och naturgeografiska tillämpningar. (1967)
LV.	<i>Lars Eldblom:</i> Structure foncière, organisation et structure sociale. (1968)
LVI.	Knut Norborg: Jordbruksbefolkningen i Sverige. (1968)
LVII.	Gunhild Weimarck: Ulfshult (1968)
LVIII.	<i>Rune Järvenstedt - Sven Lindqvist - Jan O Mattsson m fl:</i> Televisionssystem i naturgeografisk forskning. (1968)
LIX.	Arne Jakobsson: Omflyttningen i Sverige 1950–1960. (1969)
LX.	Åke Hillefors: Västsveriges glaciala historia och morfologi. (1969)
LXI.	Sven Lindqvist: Bebyggelseklimatiska studier. (1970)
LXII.	Torsten Hägerstrand, Gunnar Törnqvist m fl: Urbaniseringen i Sverige. (SOU 1970:14)
LXIII.	Bengt Sahlberg: Interregionala kontaktmönster: personkontakter inom svenskt näringsliv – en flygpassagerarstudie. (1970)
LXIV.	<i>Björn Hedberg:</i> Kontaktsystem inom svenskt näringsliv: en studie av organisationers externa personkontakter. (1970)
LXV.	<i>Mats G Engström:</i> Regional arbetsfördelning: nya drag i förvärvsarbetets geografiska organisation i Sverige. (1970)
LXVI.	<i>Torsten Persson:</i> Geomorphological studies in the south-Swedish highlands. (1972)
LXVII.	<i>Dewitt Davis Jr:</i> A factoral ecology of Malmö 1965: the social geography of a city. (1972)
LXVIII.	Zoltan Petery: Studier i svensk regionplanering: regionplanering enligt byggnadslagen i mindre regioner. (1972)
LXIX.	Tommy Book: Stadsplan och järnväg i Norden. (1974)
LXX.	Hans Abrahamson: Studier i jordbrukets omstrukturering. (1974)
LXXI.	<i>Christer Persson:</i> Kontaktarbete och framtida lokaliseringsförändringar. (1974)

LXXII.	<i>Ulf Helldén:</i> Karst: en studie av Artfjällets karstområde samt jämförande korrosionsanalyser från Västspetsbergen och Tjeckoslovakien. (1974)
LXXIII.	<i>Jànos Szegö:</i> Befolkningstäthet, markanvändning, planering (vol 1 o 2). (1974)
LXXIV.	<i>Raul Nino Guerrero:</i> Rural to urban drift of the unemployed in Colombia. (1975)
LXXV.	Ulf Erlandsson: Företagsutveckling och utrymmesbehov. (1975)
LXXVI.	<i>Sture Öberg:</i> Methods of describing physical access to supply points. (1976)
LXXVII.	<i>Bo Lenntorp:</i> Paths in space-time environments: a time- geographic study of movement possibilities of individuals. (1976)
LXXVIII.	<i>Richard Åhman:</i> Palsar i Nordnorge: en studie av palsars morfologi, utbredning och klimatiska förutsättningar i Finnmarks och Troms fylke. (1977)
LXXIX.	<i>Björn Gyllström:</i> The organization of production as a space- modelling mechanism in underdeveloped countries. (1977)
LXXX.	Anders Järnegren - Fosco Ventura: Tre samhällens förändringshistoria: exploateringen av den fysiska miljön i historisk belysning. (1977)
LXXXI.	<i>Tommy Book:</i> Stadsplan och järnväg i Storbritannien och Tyskland. (1978)
LXXXII.	<i>Jan O Mattsson - Leif Börjesson:</i> Lokalklimatiska temperaturstudier inom ett skånskt fruktodlingsdistrikt med särskilt beaktande av frostläntheten. (1978)
LXXXIII.	Bjørn Terje Asheim: Regionale ulikheter i levekår. (1979)
LXXXIV.	<i>Solveig Mårtensson:</i> On the formation of biographies in space- time environments. (1979)
LXXXV.	<i>Erik Wallin:</i> Vardagslivets generativa grammatik - vid gränsen mellan natur och kultur. (1980)
LXXXVI.	<i>Reinhold Castensson:</i> Välja för framtid - om markanvändningsval och förtroendemannainflytande i kommunal planering. (1980)
LXXXVII.	Kerstin Montal: Industri och vatten: den vattenförorenande industrins lokaliseringsproblem i Malmöhus län. (1980)

LXXXVIII.	<i>Tommy Carlstein:</i> Time resources, society and ecology: on the capacity for human interaction in space and time in preindustrial societies. (1980)
LXXXIX.	Jonas Åkerman: Studies on periglacial geomorphology in west Spitsbergen. (1980)
XC.	<i>Leif Engh:</i> Karstområdet vid Lummelunds bruk, Gotland, med speciell hänsyn till Lummelundagrottan. (1980)
XCI.	Karna Lidmar-Bergström: Pre-quaternary geomorphological evolution in southern Fennoscandia. (1982)
XCII.	<i>Lars-Olof Olander:</i> Staten, kommunerna och servicen: tiden kring kommun-reformen i ett ekonomiskt – geografiskt perspektiv. (1984)
XCIII.	<i>Bo Malmström</i> och <i>Owe Palmér:</i> Glacial och peri glacial geomorfologi på Varangerhalvön, Nordnorge: geomorfologisk kartering med analys av glaciala former och blockhav. (1984)
XCIV.	<i>Franz-Michael Rundquist:</i> Hybrid maize diffusion in Kenya: policies, diffusion patterns and consequences. (1984)
XCV.	<i>Girma Yadeta:</i> Dynamic processes of development in marginal areas: a case study from the pokot of north west Kenya. (1985)
XCVI.	Anders Sporrek: Food marketing and urban growth in Dar Es Salaam. (1985)
XCVII.	<i>Rolf Nyberg:</i> Debris flows and slush avalanches in northern Swedish Lappland: distribution and geomorphological significance. (1985)
XCVIII.	<i>Lennart Olsson:</i> An integrated study of desertification - applications of remote sensing, GIS and spatial models in semi-arid Sudan. (1985)
XCIX.	<i>Mikael Stern:</i> Census from heaven?: population estimates with remote sensing techniques. (1985)
C.	Katarina Olsson: Remote sensing for fuelwood resources and land degradation studies in Kordofan, the Sudan. (1985)
CI.	<i>Göran Loman:</i> The climate of a sugar beet stand - dynamics, impact on the crop and possibilities of improvement. (1986)
CI.	<i>Eric Clark:</i> The rent gap and urban change: case studies in Malmö 1860-1985. (1987)

CII.	<i>Karin Hall-Könyves:</i> Remote sensing of cultivated lands in the south of Sweden. (1988)
CIII.	<i>Eva Ahlcrona:</i> The impact of climate and man on land transformation in central Sudan: applications of remote sensing. (1988)
CIV.	Kerstin Cederlund: Offentlig verksamhet: sysselsättning territoriellt och funktionellt. (1988)
CV.	<i>Per Olof Hallin:</i> Tid för omställning: om hushålls anpassningsstrategier vid en förändrad energisituation. (1989)
CVI.	<i>Jens Möller:</i> Godsen och den agrara revolutionen: arbetsorganisation, domän-struktur och kulturlandskap på skånska gods under 1800-talet. (1989)
CVII.	<i>Juha Uitto:</i> The Kenyan conundrum: a regional analysis of population growth and primary education in Kenya. (1989)
CVIII.	<i>Ola Jonsson:</i> Informationsteknologi och arbete: fallstudier inom svensk sjukvård. (1989)
CIX.	<i>Tora Friberg:</i> Kvinnors vardag. Kvinnors arbete och liv: anpassnings-strategier i tid och rum. (1990)
CX.	<i>Tomas Nihlén:</i> Eolian processes in southern Scandinavia and the Mediterra-nean area. (1990)
CXI.	Anders Löfgren: Att flytta hemifrån: boendets roll i ungdomars vuxenblivande ur ett situationsanalytiskt perspektiv. (1990)
CXII.	<i>Irma Guillén:</i> Cuidad Guayana – en stad, två världar: en studie av ett regionalt utvecklingsprojekts lokala effekter. (1991)
CXIII.	Hans Holmén: Building organizations for rural development: state and cooperatives in Egypt. (1991)
CXIV.	<i>Petter Pilesjö:</i> GIS and remote sensing for soil erosion studies in semi-arid environments: estimation of soil erosion parameters at different scales. (1992)
CXV.	Ann-Cathrine Åquist: Tidsgeografi i samspel med samhällsteori. (1992)
CXVI.	<i>José da Cruz:</i> Disaster and society: the 1985 Mexican earthquakes. (1993)
CXVII.	<i>Tomas Germundsson:</i> Landsbygdens egnahem: egnahemsrörelsen, småbruket och landskapet i sydsvenskt perspektiv. (1993)

CXVIII.	<i>Ann-Katrin Bäcklund:</i> JUST-IN-TIME: hur industriella rationaliseringsstrategier formar arbetsdelning och kompetens. (1994)
CXIX.	<i>Jon Knudsen:</i> Kulturspredning i et strukturelt perspektiv: eksemplifisert ved politisk og religiøs endring under moderniseringen av det norske samfunn. (1994)
CXX.	<i>Tone Haraldsen:</i> Teknologi, økonomi og rom: en teoretisk analyse av relasjoner mellom industrielle og territorielle endringsprosesser. (1994)
CXXI.	<i>Peter Jönsson:</i> Wind climate during the instumental period and recent wind erosion in southern Scandinavia. (1994)
CXXII.	<i>Peter Schlyter</i> . Palaeo-wind abrasion in southern Scandinavia: field and laboratory studies. (1995)
CXXIII.	<i>Jun Yamashita:</i> Spatial interaction and spatial structure: a study of public facility location. (1995)
CXXIV.	<i>Mats Riddersporre:</i> Bymarker i backspegel: odlingslandskapet före kartornas tid. (1995)
CXXV.	Anders Schærström: Pathogenic paths?: a time geographical approach in medical geography. (1996)
CXXVI.	<i>Lars Eklundh:</i> AVHRR NDVI for monitoring and mapping of vegetation and drought in east African environments. (1996)
CXXVII.	<i>Magnus Jirström:</i> In the wake of the green revolution: environmental and socio-economic consequences of intensive rice agriculture – the problem of weeds in Muda, Malaysia. (1996)
CXXVIII.	<i>Stefan Anderberg:</i> Flödesanalys i den hållbara utvecklingens tjänst: reflektioner kring en "metabolism" – studie av Rhenområdets utveckling. (1996)
CXXIX.	<i>Karl-Johan Lundquist:</i> Företag, regioner och internationell konkurrens: om regionala resursers betydelse. (1996)
CXXX.	<i>Badr-Eldin Taha Osman:</i> GIS-hydrological modelling in aridlands: a geographical synthesis of surface waters for the African Red Sea region in the Sudan. (1996)
CXXXI.	<i>Marie Stenseke:</i> Bonden och landskapet: ägares och brukares relationer till markerna och förutsättningarna för en uthållig markanvänding. (1997)

CXXXII.	<i>Kristina Blennow:</i> Spatial variation in near-ground radiation and low temperature – interactions with forest vegetation. (1997)
CXXXIII.	<i>Lennart Runesson:</i> Tomträtt: ett markpolitiskt instrument i upplösning. (1997)
CXXXIV.	<i>Johan Hultman:</i> The eco-ghost in the machine: reflexions on space, place and time in environmental geography. (1998)
CXXXV.	Jonas Ardö: Remote sensing of forest decline in the Czech Republic. (1998)
CXXXVI.	<i>Per Hillbur:</i> The knowledge arena: approaching agroforestry and competing knowledge systems – a challenge for agricultural extensionl (1998)
CXXXVII.	<i>Tom Mels:</i> Wild landscapes: the cultural nature of Swedish national parks. (1999)
CXXXVIII.	<i>Carolyn Hannan-Andersson:</i> Promoting equality between women and men in bilateral development cooperation: concepts, goals, rationales and institutional arrangements. (2000)
CXXXIX.	Nikolaus Solakius: The Parnassus zone, central Greece. (2000)
CXL.	Jonathan Seaquist: Mapping primary production for the west African Sahel using satellite data. (2001)
CXLI.	<i>Karin Book och Lena Eskilsson:</i> Stadens struktur: varför och hur? (2001)
CXLII.	<i>Maria Wikhall</i> : Universiteten och kompetenslandskapet: effekter av den högre utbildningens tillväxt och regionala spridning i Sverige. (2001)
CXLIII.	<i>Rannveig Olafsdottir</i> : Land degradation and climate in Iceland: a spatial and temporal assessment. (2002)
CXLIV.	<i>Marie Ekström</i> : Relationships between atmospheric circulation and wind erosion in southern Sweden and Australia. (2002)
CXLV.	<i>Maj-Lena Finnander Linderson</i> : The spatial distribution of precipitation in Scania, southern Sweden: observations, model simulations and statistical downscaling. (2002)
CXLVI.	<i>Richard Ek:</i> Öresundsregion - bli till!: de geografiska visionernas diskursiva rytm. (2003)
CXLVII.	<i>Olivia Louw:</i> Exploring the culture of non-payment in the post- apartheid South Africa. (2003)

CXLVIII.	<i>Cecilia Kjellman:</i> Ta plats eller få plats?: studier av marginaliserade människors förändrade vardagsliv (2003)
CXLIX.	<i>Christina Scholten:</i> Kvinnors försörjningsrum: hegemonins förvaltare och murbräckor (2003)
CL.	<i>Micael Runnström:</i> Land degradation and mitigation in northern China: evaluated from the biological production (2003)
CLI.	Sara Brogaard: Recent changes in land use and productivity in agro-pastoral Inner Mongolia, China (2003)
CLII.	Jan-Henrik Nilsson: Östersjöområdet: studier av interaktion och barriärer (2003)
CLIII.	<i>Thomas Hickler:</i> Towards an integrated ecology through mechanistic modelling of ecosystem structure and functioning (2004)
CLIV.	Andreas Persson: Hydrological modelling, topographical influence and yield mapping in precision agriculture (2004)
CLV.	<i>Maria Olsrud:</i> Mechanisms of below-ground carbon cycling in subarctic ecosystems (2004)
CLVI.	<i>Sandra C. Fernández:</i> Farewell to the peasantry?: (Post)modernising rural Mexico : the case of the ejido peasants in the Isthmus of Tehuantepec (2004)
CLVII.	<i>Andrés P. Leskó</i> : To own the phone: spatial diffusion, ownership and regulation of telephone service in Argentina, 1878-1990 (2004)
CLVIII.	<i>Henrik Svensson</i> : Öppna och slutna rum: enskiftet och de utsattas geografi: husmän, bönder och gods på den skånska landsbygden under 1800-talets första hälft (2005)
CLIX.	<i>Pablo Morales</i> : Modeling carbon and water fluxes in European terrestrial ecosystems (2006)
CLX.	<i>Emmanuel S. Gritti</i> : Global changes and European terrestrial ecosystems (2006)
CLXI.	<i>Ola Thufvesson</i> : Kreativitetens yttre villkor: miljöer, rörlighet och nobelpristagare (2006)
CLXII.	<i>Deniz Koca</i> : Impacts of regional climate change on Swedish forests: an evaluation using process-based regional ecosystem modelling approach (2006)

CLXIII.	<i>Bodil Elmqvist</i> : Livelihood diversification and land use change in the Sahel: an interdisciplinary analysis of gum arabic in Sudan (2006)
CLXIV.	Jan Vang-Lauridsen: Industrial dynamics and the spatial organization of industries (2006)
CLXV.	Heidi Wiig Aslesen: Innovation in an urban context (2006)
CLXVI.	<i>Torbjörn Johansson</i> : Temporal and spatial variability of carbon cycling in a subarctic landscape (2006)
CLXVII.	Anders Lund Hansen: Space wars and the new urban imperialism (2006)
CLXVIII.	<i>Lars Coenen</i> : Faraway, so close!: the changing geographies of regional innovation (2006)
CLXIX.	<i>Pontus Olofsson</i> : Remote sensing of carbon balance across Scandinavian forests (2007)
CLXX.	<i>Margareta Rämgård</i> : The power of place: existential crises and place security in the context of pregnancy (2006)
CLXXI.	<i>Helena Eriksson</i> : Leaf area index of Scandinavian forests: methods using in situ and remotely sensed data (2007)
CLXXII.	<i>Ransom Lekunze</i> : Corporate social responsibility and development: the case of the Chad Cameroon Oil Pipeline Project (2007)
CLXXIII.	<i>Alla Yurova</i> : Hydrological aspects of the carbon balance in a boreal catchment: a model study (2007)
CLXXIV.	<i>Jerker Moodysson</i> : Sites and modes of knowledge creation: on the spatial organization of biotechnology innovation (2007)
CLXXV.	<i>Yahia Mohamed-Mahmood</i> : Chinese development assistance and West African agriculture: a shifting approach to foreign aid? (2007)
CLXXVI.	<i>Høgni Kalsø Hansen:</i> The urban turn and the location of economic activities (2008)
CLXXVII.	<i>Helene Bogren:</i> Flytta eller stanna?: betydelsen av plats och platsförankring för den kvalificerade arbetskraftens internationella migration (2008)
CLXXVIII.	<i>Lotten Jönsson Johansson:</i> Semi-natural grasslands: landscape, history and plant species diversity: a spatio-temporal study of an agricultural landscape on Öland, Sweden (2008)

CLXXIX.	<i>Carin Nilsson:</i> Windstorms in Sweden: variations and impacts (2008)
CLXXX.	<i>Margareta Johansson:</i> Changing lowland permafrost in northern Sweden: multiple drivers of past and future trends (2008)
CLXXXI.	<i>Martin Svensson Henning:</i> Industrial dynamics and regional structural change: geographical perspectives on economic evolution (2009)
CLXXXII.	<i>Brynhildur Bjarnadóttir:</i> Carbon stocks and fluxes in a young Siberian larch (Larix sibirica) plantation in Iceland (2009)
CLXXXIII.	<i>Magnus Lund:</i> Peatlands at a threshold: greenhouse gas dynamics in a changing climate (2009)
CLXXXIV.	<i>Marcin Jackowicz-Korczyński:</i> Land-atmosphere interactions of a subarctic palsa mire (2009)
CLXXXV.	<i>Nicklas Guldåker:</i> Krishantering, hushåll och stormen Gudrun: att analysera hushålls krishanteringsförmåga och sårbarheter (2009)
CLXXXVI.	<i>Nicodemus Mandere:</i> Alternative agriculture and rural development: a case study of sugar beet cultivation in Kenya (2009)
CLXXXVII.	Anna Wramneby: The role of vegetation-climate feedbacks in regional earth system dynamics (2010)
CLXXXVIII.	<i>Mikhail Mastepanov:</i> Towards a changed view on greenhouse gas exchange in the Arctic: new findings and improved techniques (2010)
CLXXXIX.	<i>Evelin Urbel-Piirsalu:</i> The Estonian forest sector in transition to sustainability?: capturing sustainability with the help of integrated assessment (2010)
CXC.	<i>Marie Vandewalle:</i> Effects of past and current land use on biodiversity: from a semi-natural grassland on Öland (Sweden) to a European perspective (2010)
CXCI.	<i>Maria Andrea Nardi:</i> Rural development and territorial dynamics in the province of Misiones, Argentina (2011)
CXCII.	<i>Torbern Tagesson:</i> Land-atmosphere exchange of carbon in a high-Arctic wet tundra ecosystem (2011)
CXCIII.	<i>Per Schubert:</i> Model development for estimating carbon dioxide exchange in Nordic forests and peatlands with MODIS time series data (2011)

CXCIV.	Mabel Ndakaripa Munyuki-Hungwe: In search of 'community' in Zimbabwe's fast track resettlement area of Mazowe district (2011)
CXCV.	<i>Oliver Purschke:</i> Plant community assembly and biodiversity: a spatio-temporal perspective (2011)

MEDDELANDEN FRÅN INSTITUTIONEN FÖR KULTURGEOGRAFI OCH EKONOMISK GEOGRAFI. AVHANDLINGAR

I.	<i>Johanna Bergman Lodin:</i> Engendered promises, gendered challenges. Changing patterns of labor, control and benefits among smallholder households growing NERICA in Uganda (2012)
II.	<i>Dobloug Tore Anstein</i> : Høyvekstbedrifter og regionale finansieringssystemer (2012)
III.	<i>Patrik Olsson:</i> Ömse sidor om vägen; Allén och landskapet i Skåne 1700–1900 (2012)
IV.	<i>Ingrid Helene Garmann Johnsen:</i> Social Capital and Regional Innovation Systems – Bridging approaches and broadening understanding of knowledge sharing and innovation (2012)
V.	<i>Roman Martin:</i> Knowledge Bases and the Geography of Innovation (2012)
VI.	<i>Monica Plechero:</i> The changing geography of innovation – Chinese and Indian regions and the global flows of innovation (2012)
VII.	<i>Erik Jönsson:</i> Fields of Green and Gold: Territorial hunger, rural planning, and the political ecologies of high-end golf (2013)
VIII.	<i>Elena Zukauskaite:</i> Institutions and the Geography of Innovation: A Regional Perspective (2013)
IX.	<i>Carl-Johan Sanglert:</i> Att skapa plats och göra rum – Landskapsperspektiv på det historiska värdets betydelse och funktion i svensk planering och miljövård (2013)
Х.	<i>Tiina Lovisa Solbär:</i> Anthropogenic Open Land in Boreal Landscapes – Investigations into the Creation and Maintenance of Arable Fields on Swedish Farms (2014)
XI.	<i>Ståle Holgersen:</i> The rise (and fall?) of post-industrial Malmö – Investigations of city-crisis dialectics (2014)
XII.	<i>Wim Carton</i> : Fictitious Carbon, Fictitious Change? Environmental Implications of the Commodification of Carbon (2016)

XIII.	<i>Hanna Martin:</i> Innovation for tackling grand challenges: Cleantech industry dynamics and regional context (2016)
XIV.	<i>Srilata Sircar:</i> Between the highway and the red dirt track: Subaltern Urbanization and Census Towns in India (2016)
XV.	<i>Mikhail Martynovich:</i> General purpose technology diffusion and labour market dynamics: A spatio-temporal perspective (2016)
XVI.	Hayford Mensah Ayerakwa: Planting to Feed the City? Agricultural Production, Food Security and Multi-Spatial Livelihoods among Urban Households in Ghana (2017)
XVII.	<i>Niclas Lavesson</i> : Rural-urban Interdependencies – the role of cities in rural growth (2017)
XVIII.	<i>Noura Alkhalili:</i> Between <i>Sumud</i> and Submission: Palestinian Popular Practices on the Land in the Edge Areas of Jerusalem (2017)
XIX.	<i>Sarah Harriet Alobo Loison</i> : Survival Options, Processes of Change and Structural Transformation: Livelihood diversification among smallholder households in rural Sub-Saharan Africa (2017)
XX.	Salvatore Paolo De Rosa: Reclaiming Territory from Below: Grassroots Environmentalism and Waste Conflicts in Campania, Italy (2017)
XXI.	<i>Joakim Wernberg</i> : The Inherent Complexity of Agglomeration – Essays on the self-organization of urban economies (2017)
XXII.	<i>Karin Lindsjö</i> : " <i>Everybody knows every child should be educated</i> " – The Strive Towards Universal Primary Education in Tanzania (2017)
XXIII.	<i>Samuel Omondi</i> : Urban-based Agriculture and Poultry Production. The case of Kisumu and Thika in Kenya (2018)
XXIV.	<i>Chia-Sui Hsu</i> : Rural Gentrification in <i>Desakota</i> – Farmland Politics, Alternative Food Networks, and the Emergence of New Farmers in Taiwan (2019)
XXV.	<i>Mads Barbesgaard</i> : Landscapes of Dispossession: Multiscalar production of space in Northern Tanintharyi, Myanmar (2019)
XXVI.	<i>Johan Miörner</i> : (Re-)shaping regional economies – Regional innovation system dynamics and new industrial path development (2019)

XXVII.	<i>Katherine Burlingame</i> : Dead Landscapes – and how to make them live (2020)
XXVIII.	<i>Ibrahim Wahab</i> : A Bird's-Eye View of Smallholder Productivity. Current measurement shortfalls, farmer perceptions and rationality on rainfed farms in Ghana (2020)
XXIX.	<i>Hjalti Nielsen</i> : Knowledge intensive business services in non-core areas. Preconditions and strategies for value creation and competitiveness (2021)
XXX.	<i>Kadri Kuusk:</i> On inter-industry relatedness and regional economic development (2021)
XXXI.	<i>Ilia Farahani</i> : Land rent, capital, rate of profit: a critique of Harvey's model of urban land rent (2021)
XXXII.	Lucinda David: A Time and Place for Agency (2022)
XXXIII.	<i>Selorm Kugbega:</i> From Subsistence to Commercial Producers. Processes of state-led agrarian change, land tenure dynamics and social differentiation among smallholders in Ghana (2022)
XXXIV.	<i>Stine Hach Juul Madsen</i> : Pursuing a Circular Economy in the Danish Waste Sector. Scale and Transition Dynamics in Transformative Innovation Policy (2023)
XXXV.	<i>Linda Stihl</i> : Change agency in (old) industrial regions. Shaping new futures (2023)
XXXVI.	<i>Kristin Smette Gulbrandsen</i> : Political geographies of region work (2024)
XXXVII.	<i>Mathilde Martin:</i> Mattering at the periphery: Geographies of peri- urban life and its discontents (2024)
XXXVIII	<i>Hanna Bach:</i> Navigating Sustainable Shipping: Multi-scalar transition dynamics in the maritime shipping sector (2025)